

University of the Aegean School of the Environment Department of Food Science and Nutrition

Recovery of antioxidant polyphenols from olive leaves (*Olea europaea* spp.) using a novel deep eutectic solvent made of bioorganic molecules

DOCTORAL THESIS

by VASSILIS ATHANASIADIS

Food Technologist, MSc

Submitted for a Doctorate Degree in Food Science and Nutrition

Myrina, Lemnos 2018



Πανεπιστήμιο Αιγαίου Σχολή Περιβάλλοντος Τμήμα Επιστήμης Τροφίμων και Διατροφής

Ανάκτηση αντιοξειδωτικών πολυφαινολών από φύλλα ελιάς (*Olea europaea* spp.) με χρήση καινοφανούς βαθέως εύτηκτου διαλύτη βασισμένου σε βιομόρια

ΔΙΔΑΚΤΟΡΙΚΗ ΔΙΑΤΡΙΒΗ

του ΒΑΣΙΛΕΙΟΥ ΑΘΑΝΑΣΙΑΔΗ

Τεχνολόγου Τροφίμων, MSc

Υποβάλλεται για την απόκτηση Διδακτορικού Διπλώματος στην Επιστήμη Τροφίμων και Διατροφή

Μύρινα, Λήμνος 2018

Advisory Committee Members:

Dr. Dimitris P. Makris, Assistant Professor, Department of Food Science and Nutrition, University of the Aegean (*supervisor*).

Dr. Stavros Lalas, Professor, Department of Food Technology, University of Applied Sciences (T.E.I.) of Thessaly.

Dr. Charalampos C. Karantonis, Associate Professor, Department of Food Science and Nutrition, University of the Aegean.

Other Members:

	Signature
Dr. Paraskevi Mitlianga, Professor, Department of Agricultural Technology, University of Applied Sciences (T.E.I.) of Western Macedonia.	
Dr. Seraphim Papanikolaou, Associate Professor, Department of Food Science & Human Nutrition, Agricultural University of Athens.	
Dr. Eugenios Katsanidis, Assistant Professor, Department of Food Science and Technology, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki.	
Dr. Ioannis Mourtzinos, Assistant Professor, Department of Food Science and Technology, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki.	

<u>Signature</u>

.....

.....

.....

Copyright © Vassilis Athanasiadis, 2018. All rights reserved.

Copyright is owned by the Author of the thesis. Permission is given for a copy to be downloaded by an individual for the purpose of research and private study only. The thesis may not be reproduced elsewhere without the permission of the Author.

Contents

Acknowledgments	i
Abstracti	i
Περίληψηii	i
List of tables iv	V
List of figures	i
Nomenclatureix	K
Abbreviations	K
Chapter 1: Literature review	l
1.1. Olive tree products	L
1.1.1. Olive fruit	2
1.1.2. Olive oil	2
1.1.3. Olive leaves	3
1.2. Olive leaf polyphenolic compounds	1
1.2.1. Phenols	5
1.2.2. Phenolic acids	5
1.2.3. Flavonoids	5
1.2.4. Lignans	8
1.2.5. Secoiridoids	8
1.3. Olive leaf bioactivities and health benefits11	L
1.4. Extraction of polyphenolic compounds from olive leaves	3
1.4.1. Sample preparation techniques12	3
1.4.2. Conventional solvent extraction13	3
1.4.3. Deep eutectic solvent extraction15	5
1.4.4. Effect of extraction conditions10	5
1.4.5. Extraction techniques10	5
1.5. Applications of olive leaves in agro-food industries18	3
1.5.1. Animal feeding and dietary supplementation with olive leaves	8
1.5.2. Enrichment of table olives with polyphenols18	8
1.5.3. Enrichment of oils with olive leaves19	9
1.5.4. Encapsulation of olive leaf extracts)
1.6. Aims and objectives21	L
References22	2

Chapter 2: Highly efficient extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from	n Olea europaea
leaves using an eco-friendly glycerol/glycine deep eutectic solvent	35
Abstract	
2.1. Introduction	
2.2. Materials and methods	
2.2.1. Chemicals	
2.2.2. Preparation of the DES	
2.2.3. Plant material	
2.2.4. Experimental design	
2.2.5. Kinetics and temperature assay	
2.2.6. Determinations	
2.2.6.1. Total polyphenol yield (Y _{TP})	
2.2.6.2. Total flavonoid yield (Y _{TFn})	
2.2.6.3. Reducing power (P _R)	
2.2.6.4. Antiradical activity (A _{AR})	
2.2.7. Qualitative liquid chromatography-diode array-mass spectro	metry (LC-DAD-
MS)	
2.2.8. Statistics	41
2.3. Results and discussion	41
2.3.1. DES synthesis and optimisation of solvent composition	41
2.3.2. Extraction kinetics - Effect of temperature	
2.3.3. Comparison with conventional eco-friendly solvents	
2.3.4. Characterisation of principal polyphenols	
2.4. Conclusions	
References	49
Chapter 3: Methyl- β -cyclodextrin as a booster for the extraction for Old	e <i>a europaea</i> leaf
polyphenols with a bio-based deep eutectic solvent	53
Abstract	53
3.1. Introduction	54
3.2. Materials and methods	55
3.2.1. Chemicals and reagents	55
3.2.2. Plant material and DES synthesis	55
3.2.3. Batch extraction process	
3.2.4. Experimental design	
3.2.5. Kinetic and diffusivity (D_e) determination	

3.2.6. Determinations	58
3.2.7. Qualitative liquid chromatography-diode array-mass spectrometry	(LC-DAD-
MS)	58
3.2.8. Statistical analyses	58
3.3. Results and discussion	
3.3.1. Extraction optimisation	58
3.3.2. Extraction kinetics	62
3.3.3. Model evaluation and efficiency testing	63
3.3.4. Extract characterisation	66
3.4. Conclusions	67
References	68
Chapter 4: Stability effects of methyl-β-cyclodextrin on Olea europaea leaf	extracts in
a natural deep eutectic solvent	72
Abstract	
4.1. Introduction	
4.2. Materials and methods	74
4.2.1. Chemicals	74
4.2.2. Preparation of the DES	74
4.2.3. Plant material	74
4.2.4. Batch extraction procedure and sample handling	74
4.2.5. Stability test and determinations	74
4.2.6. Qualitative liquid chromatography-diode array-mass spectrometry	(LC-DAD-
<i>MS</i>)	75
4.2.7. Statistics	75
4.3. Results and discussion	75
4.3.1. Kinetics of P_R evolution and the effect of m- β -CD	75
4.3.2. Modifications in the polyphenolic profile	78
4.4. Conclusions	
References	
Chapter 5: Effect of methyl-β-cyclodextrin on radical scavenging kinetics of	f olive leaf
extracts and interactions with ascorbic acid	87
Abstract	
5.1. Introduction	
5.2. Materials and methods	
5.2.1. Chemicals	

5.2.2. Preparation of the DES	
5.2.3. Plant material	
5.2.4. Batch extraction procedure and sample handling	
5.2.5. Total polyphenol determination	
5.2.6. Kinetic assay	
5.2.7. Interaction with ascorbic acid	
5.2.8. Statistics	
5.3. Results and discussion	
5.3.1. Reaction stoichiometries and the effect of m- β -CD	
5.3.2. Interactions with ascorbic acid	
5.4. Conclusions	
References	
Chapter 6: General conclusions	101
Appendices	103
A. Curriculum vitae	
B. Doctoral thesis projects	
i. Published work in international scientific journals with referees	
ii. Work presentations in conferences	

Acknowledgments

First, I would like gratefully and sincerely thank my supervisor Dr. Dimitris P. Makris, Assistant Professor in Food Biochemistry, Department of Food Science and Nutrition, School of Environment, University of the Aegean, for his continuous support and guidance during my research work.

Deepest gratitude also goes to my advisor Dr. Stavros Lalas, Professor in Food Technology, Department of Food Technology, University of Applied Sciences (T.E.I.) of Thessaly, who besides his scientific guidance, was and still is a beacon of inspiration.

Special thanks to my advisor Dr. Charalampos C. Karantonis, Associate Professor, Department of Food Science and Nutrition, University of the Aegean, who participated in the consultative committee.

Thanks go to the International Centre of Advanced Mediterranean Agronomic Studies (CHIEAM) and the Researcher of the Mediterranean Agronomic Institute of Chania (M.A.I.Ch.), Mr. Spyros Grigorakis, for his cooperation and study of extracts by liquid chromatography-diode array-mass spectrometry (LC-DAD-MS).

In addition, I would like to thank the Department of Food Technology, University of Applied Sciences (T.E.I.) of Thessaly and the Food InnovaLab research laboratory for the support and cooperation of the entire effort of the PhD Thesis.

Finally but also importantly, I would like to thank friends and colleagues, who supported me during the whole process with their advice, humor and patience.

Vassilis Athanasiadis, MSc Food Technologist Myrina, Lemnos January 15, 2018

Abstract

In this study, the extraction of polyphenols from *Olea europaea* leaves was investigated, using a biomolecule-based deep eutectic solvent (DES), composed of glycerol and the amino acid glycine. The study, which is presented here, describes for the first time the use of an eco-friendly DES as a highly effective solvent for the extraction of polyphenols from olive tree leaves.

The first part was to optimise DES concentration (C_{DES}) and the liquid-to-solid ratio ($R_{L/S}$), by employing a Box-Behnken experimental design. Following this, a kinetic assay was undertaken to assess the effect of temperature. Comparative evaluation using 60% ethanol, 60% methanol and water showed that the DES used was significantly more efficient in extracting polyphenols and flavonoids, yielding extracts with higher antiradical activity and reducing power. Liquid chromatography-photodiode array-mass spectrometry (LC-PDA-MS) examination of the DES extract showed that the major polyphenols were luteolin and apigenin glycosides, as well as the secoiridoid derivative oleuropein.

In the second part, it was evaluated the effect of methyl- β -cyclodextrin (m- β -CD) on the efficiency of polyphenol extraction from *O. europaea* leaves. The process developed was based on a Box-Behnken experimental design and response surface methodology, to assess the simultaneous effect of m- β -CD concentration ($C_{m-\beta-CD}$), liquid-to-solid ratio ($R_{L/S}$) and temperature (*T*). The extraction kinetics also showed that the extraction rate was slowed down in the presence of m- β -CD, yet the higher extraction capacity of the DES/m- β -CD medium was confirmed. Characterization of the extracts obtained with DES/m- β -CD and DES by means of LC-PDA-MS demonstrated that there was no selective extraction of any particular polyphenol, suggesting that m- β -CD acted merely as an extraction booster.

In the third part, the stability of the extracts was checked. In particular, the extracts (DES/m- β -CD, DES, 60% ethanol and water) were allowed to stand at 4 °C (cooling temperature), 22 °C (room temperature) and 50 °C (water bath) for 20 days. After this period, the reducing power (P_R) was monitored to trace changes in the antioxidant potency of the extracts. Examination of the polyphenolic profiles using LC-PDA-MS showed that after storage for 20 days at 50 °C, some major polyphenols occurring in olive leaves (OLL) suffered extended degradation.

In the fourth and final part, the use of a novel natural DES was studied that enabled the effective extraction of OLL polyphenols and their testing as radical scavengers, in the presence or absence of m- β -CD, using descriptive kinetics. Testing extended to include interactions with ascorbic acid, a natural powerful antioxidant, by implementing response surface methodology. The kinetic study showed that m- β -CD may hinder the radical scavenging effect of OLL extracts, yielding lower stoichiometry upon reaction with the radical probe DPPH.

Περίληψη

Σε αυτή τη μελέτη διερευνήθηκε η εκχύλιση αντιοξειδωτικών πολυφαινολών από τα φύλλα ελιάς (Olea europaea), με τη χρήση ενός καινοφανούς βαθέως εύτηκτου διαλύτη (DES), βασισμένου σε βιομόρια, που αποτελείται από γλυκερόλη και γλυκίνη. Η μελέτη που παρουσιάζεται εδώ περιγράφει για πρώτη φορά τη χρήση ενός φιλικού προς το περιβάλλον βαθέως εύτηκτο διαλύτη ως εξαιρετικά αποτελεσματικού διαλύτη για την εκχύλιση πολυφαινολών από φύλλα ελιάς.

Στο πρώτο μέρος βελτιστοποιήθηκε η συγκέντρωση του DES (CDES) και η αναλογία υγρού προς στερεό (RLS), χρησιμοποιώντας ένα πειραματικό σχέδιο Box-Behnken. Εν συνεχεία, για να εκτιμηθεί η επίδραση της θερμοκρασίας στην απόδοση της εκχύλισης πραγματοποιήθηκε μια κινητική δοκιμασία. Συγκριτική αξιολόγηση με χρήση 60% αιθανόλης, 60% μεθανόλης και νερού έδειξε ότι το DES που χρησιμοποιήθηκε ήταν σημαντικά πιο αποτελεσματικό στην εκχύλιση πολυφαινολών και φλαβονοειδών, αποδίδοντας εκχυλίσματα με μεγαλύτερη ικανότητα απόσβεσης ελευθέρων ριζών (AAR) και αναγωγική ισχύ (PR). Τέλος, πραγματοποιήθηκε ανάλυση με υγρή χρωματογραφία-φασματοσκοπία συστοιχίας-φασματομετρία μάζας (LC-PDA-MS) του εκχυλίσματος DES, η οποία έδειξε ότι οι κύριες πολυφαινόλες ήταν οι γλυκοζίτες της λουτεολίνης και της απιγενίνης, καθώς και η ελευρωπαΐνη.

Στο δεύτερο μέρος αξιολογήθηκε η επίδραση της μεθυλ-β-κυκλοδεξτρίνης (m-β-CD) στην αποτελεσματικότητα της εκχύλισης πολυφαινολών από φύλλα *O. europaea*. Η διαδικασία που αναπτύχθηκε βασίστηκε σε μια μεθοδολογία επιφανειακού σχεδιασμού και σε ένα πειραματικό σχέδιο Box-Behnken, για να εκτιμηθεί η ταυτόχρονη επίδραση της συγκέντρωσης της m-β-CD ($C_{m-\beta-CD}$), του λόγου υγρού προς στερεό ($R_{L/S}$) και της θερμοκρασίας (T). Η κινητική της εκχύλισης έδειξε επίσης ότι ο ρυθμός εκχύλισης επιβραδύνθηκε παρουσία m-β-CD, αλλά επιβεβαιώθηκε η υψηλότερη ικανότητα εκχύλισης του μέσου DES/m-β-CD. Τέλος, πραγματοποιήθηκε ανάλυση με LC-PDA-MS του εκχυλίσματος με DES/m-β-CD και DES, όπου αποδείχτηκε ότι δεν υπήρχε επιλεκτική εκχύλιση οποιασδήποτε συγκεκριμένης πολυφαινόλης, υποδηλώνοντας ότι η m-β-CD ενήργησε απλώς ως ενισχυτικό εκχύλισης.

Στο τρίτο μέρος πραγματοποιήθηκε έλεγχος σταθερότητας των εκχυλισμάτων. Πιο συγκεκριμένα, τα εκχυλίσματα (με χρήση DES/m-β-CD ή DES ή 60% αιθανόλη ή νερό) μετά την παρασκευή τους αφέθηκαν σε διάφορες θερμοκρασίες, όπως ψύξης (4 °C), κανονικές συνθήκες (22 °C) και θέρμανσης (50 °C) για 20 μέρες. Μετά το πέρας του διαστήματος αυτού, η P_R παρακολουθήθηκε για την ανίχνευση αλλαγών στην αντιοξειδωτική ισχύ των εκχυλισμάτων. Η εξέταση του πολυφαινολικού προφίλ με τη χρήση LC-PDA-MS έδειξε ότι μετά από αποθήκευση επί 20 ημέρες στους 50 °C, ορισμένες πολυφαινόλες που υπάρχουν στα φύλλα της ελιάς (OLL) υπέστησαν εκτεταμένη αποικοδόμηση.

Στο τέταρτο και τελευταίο μέρος μελετήθηκε η χρήση ενός νέου φυσικού DES που επέτρεψε την αποτελεσματική εκχύλιση των πολυφαινολών από OLL και τη δοκιμή τους ως δεσμευτές ελευθέρων ριζών, παρουσία ή απουσία m-β-CD, χρησιμοποιώντας περιγραφική κινητική. Οι δοκιμές επεκτάθηκαν για να συμπεριλάβουν αλληλεπιδράσεις με το ασκορβικό οξύ, ένα φυσικό ισχυρό αντιοξειδωτικό, εφαρμόζοντας την μεθοδολογία επιφάνειας απόκρισης. Η κινητική μελέτη έδειξε ότι η m-β-CD μπορεί να παρεμποδίσει τη δέσμευση ελευθέρων ριζών των εκχυλισμάτων από OLL, αποδίδοντας χαμηλότερη στοιχειομετρία κατά την αντίδραση με την ελεύθερη ρίζα DPPH.

List of tables

Table 1 : Examples of phenols on differences in their chemical structure.
Table 2: Classification and examples of phenolic acids on differences in their chemical structure. 6
Table 3: Classification and examples of flavonoids on differences in their chemical structure. 7
Table 4: Examples of lignans on differences in their chemical structure 8
Table 5: Examples of secoiridoids on differences in their chemical structure 10
Tuble 5 . Examples of secondolus on afferences in men chemical structure
Table 6: Coded and actual levels of the independent variables used for the central composite design.
Table 7: Measured and predicted responses for all design points considered for the experimental design
Table 8 : Parameters of second-order kinetics, determined for the extraction of TP from OLL,using 80% (w/v) aqueous DES. Extractions were performed under continuous stirringat 600 rpm and $R_{L/S} = 32 \text{ mL g}^{-1}$.45
<i>Table 9</i> : UV-Vis and mass spectrometric data of the major polyphenols detected in the OLL extracts, obtained with 80% (w/v) DES, at 70 °C
Table 10 : Actual values and coded levels of the independent variables used for the Box-Behnkenexperimental design
<i>Table 11</i> : Measured and predicted value of Y_{TP} , determined for individual design points 57
Table 12 : Parameters of second-order kinetics, determined for the extraction of TP from OLL,under optimised conditions.63
Table 13: UV-vis and mass spectral data for the major polyphenolic phytochemicals tentativelyidentified in OLL extracts obtained under optimal conditions, using DES/m-β-CD andDES
Table 14: Zero-order constant determined for PR decay during storage of OLL extracts in the solvents tested
Table 15: Mass spectral data for the major polyphenolic phytochemicals tentatively identified

in OLL extracts obtained under optimal conditions, using DES/m- β -CD and DES...78

- Table 16: Actual values and coded levels of the independent variables used for the experimental design.
 90
- Table 17: Measured and predicted A_{AR} values of OLL extract and AA mixtures, determined for

 individual design points.
 91

List of figures

Fig. 1: Distribution map of O. europaea L
Fig. 2: Olive leaf polyphenols analysis and examples of bioactive substances
Fig. 3: Overall structure of flavonoids
Fig. 4: Structure of oleuropein
Fig. 5: Enzymatic hydrolysis of oleuropein and its products9
Fig. 6: Benefits of olive leaves on human health
Fig. 7. Objectives of the study
Fig. 8 : 3D plot displaying the effect of simultaneous variation of C _{DES} and R _{L/S} on Y _{TP} . OLL Extractions were carried out at 50 °C, under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, for 120 min
Fig. 9 : The use of desirability function to predict the optimal combination of C _{DES} and R _{L/S} to achieve maximum Y _{TP} , under the conditions employed. The inse table illustrates the significance of each C _{DES} and R _{L/S} , as well as their quadratic and cross terms, to the model
Fig. 10 : Time course of Y_{TP} (upper plot) during extraction of OLL with the DES, under optimal conditions [$C_{DES} = 80\%$ (w/v) and $R_{L/S} = 32$ mL g ⁻¹]. The lower plot shows the second-order kinetics
Fig. 11 : Comparative diagram for Y_{TP} (upper plot) and Y_{TFn} (lower plot), obtained using 80% (w/v) DES, 60% aqueous methanol (AM), 60% aqueous ethanol (AE) and distilled water (W). Extractions were carried out at 70 °C, at $R_{L/S} = 32 \text{ mL g}^{-1}$, under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, for 280 min
Fig. 12 : Comparative diagram for A_{AR} (upper plot) and P_R (lower plot), determined for OLL extracts obtained using 80% (w/v) DES, 60% aqueous methanol (AM), 60% aqueous ethanol (AE) and distilled water (W). Extractions were carried out at 70 °C, at $R_{LS} = 32 \text{ mL g}^{-1}$, under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, for 280 min
Fig. 13 : 3D plots showing the effect of simultaneous variation of $C_{m-\beta-CD}$, $R_{L/S}$ & T on the Y_{TP} .

- Fig. 14: Prediction profiler displaying the overall desirability of the model, along with the optimal C_{m-β-CD}, R_{L/S} and T values. Extractions were carried out under stirring (600 rpm), at 50 °C, for 180 min......60
- Fig. 15: Second-order kinetic models for the extraction of TP from OLL with the DES + m-β-CD, DES and 60% (v/v) aqueous ethanol. Extractions were carried out under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, at optimal C_{m-β-CD}, R_{L/S} and T, for 180 min......62

Fig.	26 :	Extended	reaction	kinetics	recorded	upon	mixing	OLL	extract	with	DPPH.	Стр и	vas
	Ċ	adjusted to	$0.1 \ g \ L^{-1}$	l. co was	100 µmol	$L L^{-1} \dots$			•••••	•••••			. 94

Fig. 28: 3D plots illustrating th	e effect of simultaneous	variation of CTP and	CAA on the AAR in
the absence (left plot) of	nd presence (right plot)) of m-β-CD	

Nomenclature

 A_0 , Initial absorbance at 515 nm A_{AR} , Antiradical activity (µmoL DPPH g⁻¹) A_t , Absorbance at 515 nm at any time t c, Initial DPPH concentration (moL L^{-1}) c_1 , Initial antioxidant concentration (moL L⁻¹) C_{AA} , Ascorbic acid concentration (mg L⁻¹) C_{DES} , DES concentration (%, w/v) C_{DPPH} , DPPH concentration (µmoL L⁻¹, µM) C_{TFn} , Total flavonoid concentration (mg RtE L⁻¹) C_{TP} , Total polyphenol concentration (mg GAE L⁻¹) $D_{\rm e}$, Diffusivity (m s⁻¹) E_{a} , Activation energy (kJ moL⁻¹) **h**, Initial extraction rate (mg g^{-1} min⁻¹) k, Pseudo zero-order decay constant (days⁻¹) k, Second-order extraction rate constant (g mg⁻¹ min⁻¹ or M⁻¹ s⁻¹) k_1 , Second-order rate constant of the first abstracted H-atom (M⁻¹ s⁻¹) $n_{\rm t}$, Total stoichiometry (dimensionless) $P_{\mathbf{R}(0)}$, Initial reducing power (µmoL AAE g⁻¹ dw) $P_{\mathbf{R}}$, Reducing power (µmoL AAE g⁻¹) R_0 , Initial reaction rate (M⁻¹ s⁻¹) $R_{L/S}$, Liquid-to-solid ratio (mL g⁻¹) *T*, Temperature (°C or K) *t*, Time (min or days) Y_{TFn} , Yield in total flavonoids (mg RtE g⁻¹) $Y_{TP(s)}$, Yield in total polyphenols at saturation (mg GAE g⁻¹) Y_{TP} , Yield in total polyphenols (mg GAE g⁻¹) ε , Molar absorptivity (M⁻¹ cm⁻¹)

Abbreviations

AA, Ascorbic acid AAE, Ascorbic acid equivalents **DES**, Deep eutectic solvents DPPH, 2,2-Diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl radical DW, Dry weight GAE, Gallic acid equivalents HBA, Hydrogen bond acceptor HBD, Hydrogen bond donor LC-DAD-MS, Liquid chromatography-diode array-mass spectrometry LTTM, Low-transition temperature mixture MAE, microwave assisted extraction MW, Molecular weight **M-β-CD**, Methyl-β-cyclodextrin OLL, Olive tree (Olea europaea) leaves PLE, Pressurized liquid extraction **RtE**, Rutin equivalents SFE, Supercritical fluid extraction SLE, Solid-liquid extraction **TPTZ**, 2,4,6-Tripyridyl-s-triazine **UAE**, Ultrasonic assisted extraction



Chapter 1: Literature review

1.1. Olive tree products

The olive tree, *Olea europaea* L., is the best known and most widely spread species of the Oleaceae family, its cultivation extending mainly to countries in the Mediterranean area (**Fig.** 1) (Roca *et al.*, 2007). It is a traditional symbol of abundance, glory, and peace, and its leafy branches were historically used to crown the victorious in friendly games and bloody war (El and Karakaya, 2009). Extended periods of sunlight irradiation, as well as pathogen and insect attack, require plants to synthesise high levels of polyphenols for environmental defence (Lockyer *et al.*, 2012).



O. europaea L. is widely studied for its alimentary use, the fruits and the oil are important components in the daily diet of a large part of the world's population. Both the cultivation of olive trees and olive oil extraction generate every year substantial quantities of products generally known as "olive by-products" and having no practical applications (Abaza *et al.*, 2015).

The olive tree has a long history of medicinal and nutritional values. Over the centuries, extracts from olive leaf have been used for promoting health and preservation. Economically, the fruit of olive is an important commodity as it yields nutritious edible oil with potential medicinal functions (Ghanbari *et al.*, 2012).

1.1.1. Olive fruit

Table olives are a highly functional food with a balanced content of fats made up mainly of monounsaturated oleic acid. Eating olives also provides energy, fiber, vitamins, and minerals and contributes to the daily intake of nutritional antioxidants (Boskou *et al.*, 2015).

Olives contain high concentrations of phenolic compounds ranging between 1-3% of the fresh pulp weight (Silva *et al.*, 2006). The major compounds present in olive fruits are anthocyanins (cyanidin and delphinidin glucosides), flavonols (mainly quercetin-3-rutinoside), flavones (luteolin and apigenin glucosides), phenolic acids (hydroxybenzoic, hydroxycinnamic, others), phenolic alcohols (tyrosol and hydroxytyrosol), secoiridoids (oleuropein, dimethyloleuropein, ligstroside, nuzhenide), and verbascoside, a hydroxycinnamic acid derivative (Boskou *et al.*, 2015). Oleuropein, hydroxytyrosol and tyrosol are the most abundant polyphenols in olive fruits (Silva *et al.*, 2006).

The concentration of phenols and related compounds are dependent on the maturity of the fruit. Oleuropein is present in high amounts and responsible for the bitter taste of immature and unprocessed olive fruits; hydroxytyrosol is more abundant in the processed fruit and olive oil (Zoidou *et al.*, 2010; Bianchi, 2003; Soler-Rivas *et al.*, 2000). In early growth, oleuropein is most abundant, and it reaches 14% of the dry matter of young fruit. In green picked cultivars, the oleuropein level may still be high even at harvest time, albeit lower than 14%. However, in some varieties the level can fall to zero when the olives are completely black (Zoidou *et al.*, 2010; Bianchi, 2003).

1.1.2. Olive oil

The composition of olive oil is primarily triacylglycerols (~99%) and secondarily free fatty acids (oleic, linoleic, palmitic, others), mono- and diacylglycerols, and an array of lipids such as hydrocarbons (squalene), sterols, aliphatic alcohols, tocopherols (mainly α -tocopherol), pigments (chlorophylls and carotenoids), phenolic, volatile and aroma compounds. Some of these compounds contribute to the unique character of the oil (Boskou *et al.*, 2006a).

The phenolic content of olive oils is also very much influenced by the manufacturing process. The type of mill used for pressing and the centrifugation procedure seemed to have an important impact. The "extra-virgin" olive oil is obtained by the first physical, cold pressing of the olive paste and is rich in phenolic components. The phenolic concentration in these oils is

the result of a complex interaction between several factors, including cultivar, degree of maturation and climate (Soler-Rivas *et al.*, 2000).

The phenolic compounds of olive oil belong to different classes (Bendini *et al.*, 2007; Boskou *et al.*, 2006b): phenolic acids (such as gallic, protocatechuic, *p*-hydroxybenzoic, vanillic, caffeic, syringic, *p*- and *o*-coumaric, ferulic, cinnamic, others), phenyl ethyl alcohols or simple phenols (hydroxytyrosol and tyrosol), flavonoids (apigenin, luteolin, others), lignans (pinoresinol, acetoxypinoresinol, others) and secoiridoids (oleuropein, ligstroside, others). The major phenolic compounds in olive oil are oleuropein, hydroxytyrosol and tyrosol (Tuck and Hayball, 2002).

The phenolic compounds present in olive oil are strong antioxidants and radical scavengers (Tuck and Hayball, 2002); and have anti-inflammatory and antimicrobial activity (Tripoli *et al.,* 2005). Subsequent studies (human, animal, *in vivo* and *in vitro*) have demonstrated that olive oil phenolics reduce the risk of chronic disease development, such as atherosclerosis, cardiovascular disease, and certain types of cancer (Tasioula-Margari and Tsabolatidou, 2015).

1.1.3. Olive leaves

O. europaea leaves are a significant by-product in olive-oil production (Apostolakis *et al.*, 2014) and several potential antioxidant molecules, essentially belonging to the phenolic family. The secoiridoid oleuropein is the main compound reported in olive leaf extracts together with other secoiridoids derived from tyrosol structure, such as ligstroside or oleuroside, as well as verbascoside (Quirantes-Piné *et al.*, 2013) and several flavonoids (apigenin, kaempferol, luteolin) as well as simple phenolic compounds such as caffeic acid, tyrosol, hydroxytytrosol (Talhaoui *et al.*, 2014).

However, the phenolic composition of olive leaves varies according to plant variety, harvesting season, the cultivation zone, agronomical practices, leaf age, leaf maturity and storage conditions, and the detection of these phenolics is dependent on the extraction method, in terms of both the compounds identified and their quantities (Lockyer *et al.*, 2012; Petridis *et al.*, 2012).

Olive leaves are considered as a cheap raw material (Salah *et al.*, 2012), which can be used as a useful source of high-added value products (polyphenolic compounds) with superb biological properties (El and Karakaya, 2009). Chemical, agronomical and medicinal researches have contributed together to highlight the interest in the use of olive leaves as a potential source of phenolic compounds for the production of functional food and nutraceuticals (Talhaoui *et al.*, 2015).

1.2. Olive leaf polyphenolic compounds

Polyphenolic compounds are a large class of secondary plant metabolites possessing an aromatic ring bearing one or more hydroxyl groups, including their functional derivatives (Lockyer *et al.*, 2012). An initial classification of phenolic compounds could be based on the number of phenol units in the molecule dividing them into simple phenols and polyphenols. Thus, these compounds may be classified into different groups depending upon the number of phenol rings that they bear and on the structural elements that bind these rings to one.

Olive leaf extracts have attracted the interest of researchers from different scientific disciplines mainly due to the distinctive phenolic composition allegedly related to potent biological activities (Kontogianni and Gerothanassis, 2012).

Polyphenolic compounds in olive leaves are numerous and of diverse nature (Abaza *et al.*, 2015). They are grouped with regard to major molecular characteristics as phenols, phenolic acids, flavonoids, lignans, and secoiridoids. In **Fig. 2** are presented the main classes of some polyphenolic compounds in olive leaves.



Fig. 2: Olive leaf polyphenols analysis and examples of bioactive substances.

The total polyphenol content and the total flavonoid content of olive tree leaves were determined to be 2,058 mg GAE (gallic acid equivalent) per 100 g and 858 mg CTE (catechin equivalent) per 100 g, respectively, reflecting values similar to that of red-grape peel (El and Karakaya, 2009).

1.2.1. Phenols

Hydroxytyrosol, or 3,4-dihydroxyphenylethanol, is one of the hydroxyaromatic components of secoiridoids. It is a very bioactive alcoholic *ortho*-diphenol (De Leonardis *et al.*, 2008). In addition, hydroxytyrosol in turn consists of two bounded molecular structures, such as catechol and ethanol (**Table 1**) (Ranalli *et al.*, 2006). Considerable differences in the content of tyrosol and hydroxytyrosol have also been found in the fruits during growth and ripening of the drupe the increase in their levels consistently correlates with hydrolysis of the components with higher molecular weights (Omar, 2010). Native hydroxytyrosol is rarely in the free form in nature with the exception of ripened olives where it occurs through the hydrolysis of oleuropein (De Leonardis *et al.*, 2008). Hydroxytyrosol has been widely described as one of the main components of simple phenols in olive leaves (Talhaoui *et al.*, 2015). Tyrosol is another simple phenol derived from oleuropein, but is found in low concentrations in the olive leaf (Boss *et al.*, 2016).

Table 1:	Examples	of phenols of	n differences i	n their	chemical	structure.

Examples of phenols	Chemical structure
Tyrosol	ОН
R ₁ :-OH, R ₂ :-H	
Hydroxytyrosol	R ₁
R ₁ :-OH, R ₂ :-OH	Ř ₂

1.2.2. Phenolic acids

Phenolic acids are one such group of aromatic secondary plant metabolites widely spread throughout the plant kingdom (Robbins, 2003). The name "phenolic acids", in general, describes phenols that possess one carboxylic acid functionality. However, when describing plant metabolites, it refers to a distinct group of organic acids. These naturally occurring phenolic acids contain two distinguishing constitutive carbon frameworks: the hydroxybenzoic and hydroxycinnamic structures (Bendini *et al.*, 2007). Although the basic skeleton remains the same, the numbers and positions of the hydroxyl groups on the aromatic ring create the variety.

A variety of classes can be found in olive leaves (**Table 2**) such as hydroxybenzoic (e.g., gallic, syringic, vanillic, vanillin, *p*-hydroxybenzoic, others) and hydroxycinnamic (e.g., caffeic, sinapic, ferulic, *p*-coumaric, verbascoside, others) acids (Abaza *et al.*, 2015; Khaliq *et al.*, 2015; Bendini *et al.*, 2007; Robbins, 2003).

Phenolic acids	Examples of phenolic acids	Chemical structure
	Gallic acid	
	R ₁ :-OH, R ₂ :-OH, R ₃ :-OH	
	Syringic acid	R ₁ COOH
Hydroxybenzoic	R ₁ :-OCH ₃ , R ₂ :-OH, R ₃ :-OCH ₃	
acids	Vanillic acid	R ₂
	R1:-H, R2:-OH, R3:-OCH3	\mathbf{k}_3
	p-Hydroxybenzoic acid	
	R ₁ :-H, R ₂ :-OH, R ₃ :-H	
	Caffeic acid	
	R ₁ :-OH, R ₂ :-OH, R ₃ :-H	
	Sinapic acid	R ₁ СООН
Hydroxycinnamic	R ₁ :-OCH ₃ , R ₂ :-OH, R ₃ :-OCH ₃	
acids	Ferulic acid	R ₂
	R1:-OCH3, R2:-OH, R3:-H	k_3
	<i>p</i> -Coumaric acid	
	R1:-H, R2:-OH, R3:-H	

Table 2: Classification and examples of phenolic acids on differences in their chemical structure.

1.2.3. Flavonoids

Flavonoids have the general structure of a 15-carbon skeleton (**Fig. 3**), which consists of two phenyl rings (A and B) and heterocyclic ring (C). This carbon structure can be abbreviated C₆-C₃-C₆ (Kumar and Pandey, 2013; Iwashina, 2000).



Flavonoids are widespread secondary plant metabolites, largely planar molecules and their structural variation comes in part from the pattern of modification by hydroxylation, methoxylation, prenylation, or glycosylation (Bendini *et al.*, 2007). Over four thousand (> 4,000) flavonoids, based on the C₆-C₃-C₆ skeleton, have been found in plants, and are divided

into several classes (Iwashina, 2000), i.e., anthocyanins, flavones, flavonols, flavanones, dihydroflavonols, chalcones, aurones, flavan and proanthocyanidins, isoflavonoids, biflavonoids, etc. A variety of classes can be found in olive leaves (**Table 3**) such as flavonols (e.g., quercetin, kaempferol, rutin, others), flavones (e.g., apigenin, luteolin, others), flavanones (e.g., hesperetin, others), and flavanols (e.g., catechin, gallocatechin, others) (Khaliq *et al.*, 2015; Kumar and Pandey, 2013; Bendini *et al.*, 2007).



Table 3: Classification and examples of flavonoids on differences in their chemical structure.

1.2.4. Lignans

Lignans are naturally occurring phenylpropanoid dimers (C₆-C₃ unit; e.g., coniferyl alcohol), in which the central carbons of the side chains link the phenylpropane units (Satake *et al.*, 2015). In addition, lignans are considered important phytonutrients for robust health. Recently published research indicates that olive oil lignans may have an active role in protecting against breast cancer and contribute to the beneficial nutritional profile of this functional food (Boskou, 2015). Lignans such as pinoresinol and its derivatives (acetoxypinoresinol, hydroxypinoresinol) and the syringaresinol are among the constituents of the olive leaves phenol fraction (Kalogeropoulos and Tsimidou, 2014; Taamalli *et al.*, 2012a; Bendini *et al.*, 2007) and these substances are shown in the **Table 4**.

Examples of lignans	Chemical structure
Pinoresinol	OCH ₃
R1:-H, R2:-H, R3:-H	ОН
Acetoxypinoresinol R ₁ :-H, R ₂ :-OCOCH ₃ , R ₃ :-H	R_{3}
Syringaresinol R1:-OCH3, R2:-H, R3:- OCH3	HO OCH ₃

1.2.5. Secoiridoids

Secoiridoids are a group of coumarin-like compounds that are produced from the secondary metabolism of terpenes as precursors of various indole alkaloids, and are only present in plants of the *Oleaceae* family, which includes *O. europaea* (Silva *et al.*, 2006; Soler-Rivas *et al.*, 2000). Oleuropein (**Fig. 4**) is an ester of hydroxytyrosol and elenolic acid glucoside, whilst verbascoside is a conjugated glucoside of hydroxytyrosol and caffeic acid (Lockyer *et al.*, 2012).

The natural mechanism that occurs when the olive tree forms free hydroxytyrosol is enzymatic hydrolysis, and specific native β -glucosidase and esterase are implicated (De Leonardis and Macciola, 2010). As shown in the **Fig. 5**, during processing part of the oleuropein is hydrolysed and thus some compounds (hydroxytyrosol and elenolic acid) are produced which impart the excellent organoleptic properties and especially its bitter taste (Yuan *et al.*, 2015; Menendez *et al.*, 2007; Soler-Rivas *et al.*, 2000). Enzymatic hydrolysis not only involves mild

conditions and simple operation methods, but also can obtain high purity product (Yuan *et al.*, 2015).





The glucosidases catalyze the hydrolysis of the glucosidic bonds and are an important group of enzymes for many biochemicals, biomedical and industrial applications. β -Glucosidases of microbial origin were investigated for substituting NaOH treatment in olive processing (Ozdemir *et al.*, 2014).

Various substances belong to the group phenol secoiridoids can be found in olive leaves (**Table 5**) and they form through opening of the five-membered ring of iridoids (Ranalli *et al.*, 2006). The main secoiridoid components determined in the olive tree leaf extracts for the cultivars Koroneiki and Kalamon were: secologanoside, dimethyloleuropein, oleuropein diglucoside, oleuropein, oleuroside, and ligstroside (Kiritsakis *et al.*, 2010).

Examples of secoiridoids	Chemical structure
Oleuropein	
R ₁ :-OH, R ₂ :-CH ₃	R_1 O O $COOR_2$
Dimethyloleuropein	ОН
R ₁ :-OH, R ₂ :-H	
Ligstroside	O-Glc
R ₁ :-H, R ₂ :-CH ₃	
Elenolic acid	HO COOR
R ₁ :-CH ₃ , R ₂ :-H	
Oleoside	
R1:-H, R2:-Glc	OR ₂
	HO $COOR_1$
Secologanoside	
R ₁ :-H, R ₂ :-Glc	OR ₂

Table 5: Examples of secoiridoids on differences in their chemical structure.

1.3. Olive leaf bioactivities and health benefits

Olive leaf polyphenols have many reported pharmacological activities (**Fig. 6**) based on preclinical (*in vitro*, *ex vivo*, and *in vivo*) studies in addition to few clinical studies. These activities suggest high potential for the prevention and treatment of diseases and the promotion of human health. Although many review articles and book chapters have been dedicated for appraising the biological activities of olive leaf polyphenols, Obied *et al.* (2012) had noticed that a systematic pharmacological review of those activities has not yet been attempted. However, one of the most attractive ways for cancer prevention and therapy today is induction of tumor cell death and/or stimulation of a host immune response by certain phytochemicals derived from medicinal herbs and dietary plants (Mijatovic *et al.*, 2011).

Olive leaves used in the human diet as an extract, an herbal tea, and a powder, and they contain many potentially bioactive compounds that may have antioxidant, antihypertensive, antiatherogenic, anti-inflammatory, hypoglycemic, and hypocholesterolemic properties (El and Karakaya, 2009). Olive leafs traditionally used for centuries to prevent and treat different diseases. They have used to enhance the immune system, in heart disease, and as an antimicrobial agent (Al-Attar and Abu Zeid, 2013).



Several reports demonstrated that olive leaves could decrease blood pressure (antihypertensive effect) (Romero *et al.*, 2016; Wong *et al.*, 2014; Nekooeian *et al.*, 2011; Susalit *et al.*, 2011; Khayyal *et al.*, 2002), improvement of vascular function and reduced pro-oxidative and pro-inflammatory status (Romero *et al.*, 2016). Moreover, they have antiplatelet effects and may offer a degree of protection from thrombosis and other cardiovascular diseases (Singh *et al.*, 2008). Olive leaves extracts as a source of antioxidants (oleuropein and hydroxytyrosol) are able to reduce the frequency of oxidative stress-related metabolic diseases such as diabetes (Jemai *et al.*, 2009). Wainstein *et al.* (2012) suggested one treatment with olive leaf extract is associated with a beneficial hypoglycemic effect in patients with diabetes.

The leaves also possess antioxidant and antimicrobial properties against some microorganisms such as bacteria, fungi, and mycoplasma (Abaza *et al.*, 2011; Bulotta *et al.*, 2011; Lee and Lee, 2010; Jemai *et al.*, 2008; Pereira *et al.*, 2007; Škerget *et al.*, 2005; Markin *et al.*, 2003; Furneri *et al.*, 2002; Benavente-García *et al.*, 2000). In addition, they have anti-HIV properties (Lee-Huang *et al.*, 2003), anti-proliferative and apoptotic effects (Han *et al.*, 2009), protective effect against human leukemia (Abaza *et al.*, 2007), lipid-lowering activity (Jemai *et al.*, 2008), and others. Olive leaf polyphenols found active against different strains of *Helicobacter pylori* (Sudjana *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, Dekanski *et al.* (2009) indicated that the gastroprotective potential of olive leaves extracts is probably related to its ability to maintain the cell membrane integrity, by its antilipid eroxidative activity that protects the gastric mucosa against oxidative damage and by its ability to strengthen the mucosal barrier, the first line of defence against exogenous damaging agents.

The leaves claimed to play an important protective role in cancer and other inflammationrelated diseases. Both inflammatory and cancer cell models have shown that olive leaf polyphenols are anti-inflammatory and protect against DNA damage initiated by free radicals. The various bioactive properties of olive leaf polyphenols are a plausible explanation for the inhibition of progression and development of cancers (Boss *et al.*, 2016). Goulas *et al.* (2009) evidenced that olive leaves extracts have health protecting biological activity as antioxidants and as potent inhibitors of cancer and endothelial cells proliferation at low micromolar concentrations. Furthermore, olive leaves extracts protect central nervous system from the destruction brought on by age-related degenerative conditions such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases (Sabry *et al.*, 2014).

1.4. Extraction of polyphenolic compounds from olive leaves

The use of bioactive compounds in different commercial sectors such as pharmaceutical, food and chemical industries signifies the need of the most appropriate and standard method to extract these active components from plant materials (Azmir *et al.*, 2013). However, Abaza *et al.* (2015) mentioned that several factors might influence the qualitative and quantitative phenolic composition of olive leaves among which we can cite date of collection, drying conditions, cultivation zone, extraction procedure and conditions (pH, solvent, temperature and time), and cultivar.

1.4.1. Sample preparation techniques

After collection, fresh olive leaves are washed with distilled water to eliminate any traces of dust (Abaza *et al.*, 2015). Olive leaves have to be dried for utilizing as a food additive or before extracting the bioactive compounds or for storage (Erbay and Icier, 2010). They are often dried before extraction to reduce their moisture content and to avoid the interference of water on the process (Bahloul *et al.*, 2009). The immediate drying of these products is the most important operation in post-harvest processing to avoid quality losses and to prevent possible degradation due to microbiological or biochemical reactions (Abaza *et al.*, 2015; Ahmad-Qasem *et al.*, 2013b).

Traditional methods of drying, such as shade or sun drying, are still practiced for drying. However, the high temperatures or long drying times in conventional air-drying, may cause serious damage to the quality attributes of the dried product such as flavour, colour, nutrients and stability of bioactive substances (Bahloul *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, the selection of proper drying conditions is of prime importance for decreasing thermal stress and maintaining the quality of the dried product. On the other hand, vacuum freeze-drying has been considered the best method for water removal, giving rise to dried products of the highest quality (Ratti, 2001). Nevertheless, despite many advantages, freeze-drying has always been recognized as the most expensive process for manufacturing a dehydrated product and it requires a previous freezing that, in certain ways, could also affect quality (Ahmad-Qasem *et al.*, 2013b; Ratti, 2001). Consequently, the choice of the most adequate method with which to obtain a quality product, minimizing operational costs and time consumption, is the key to a successful procedure.

1.4.2. Conventional solvent extraction

Solvent extraction is the main method adopted by most researchers to extract phenolics from olive leaves. Many factors may affect the efficiency of solvent extraction: solvent type, pH, temperature, number of extraction steps, time of extraction, liquid-to-solid ratio, and particle size of the solid matrix (Souilem *et al.*, 2016; Dent *et al.*, 2013).

The ideal solvent should have a low toxicity, a low flammability, a low risk of explosion, and a low potential for artifact formation. It should also be safe, economical and environmental-friendly. In the ideal case, the extraction method selected should be exhaustive, i.e., to yield as much of the desired metabolites or as many compounds as possible (Bogdanov, 2014; Seidel, 2012). A solvent of an appropriate polarity is used to extract metabolites following the principle of "like dissolves like" (Seidel, 2012). In replacing toxic reagents, conventional organic solvents commonly employed during the extraction procedure are gradually substituted by newly designed solvents (An *et al.*, 2017). These non-conventional solvents include ionic liquids and their derivatives (Ratti, 2014; Suresh and Sandhu, 2011) and deep eutectic solvents (DES) (Hayyan *et al.*, 2016; Li and Row, 2016).

The polarities of the polyphenols range from polar to non-polar, thus a wide range of conventional solvents (water, acetone, methanol, ethanol, or their mixtures with water) for their extraction has been studied (Dent *et al.*, 2013). In the case of olive leaf extracts, because of the nature of the phenolic compounds (polar), the solvent of choice is most of the times alcoholic mixtures with water (Zeitoun *et al.*, 2016; Talhaoui *et al.*, 2014; Taamalli *et al.*, 2012a; Altrok *et al.*, 2008). Wissam *et al.* (2016) showed that 80% acetone, 40% methanol and 40% ethanol are more efficient in the extraction of polyphenolic compounds. Although, high yield was achieved using methanol and acetone for the extraction of phenols from olive leaves, both are not a food grade solvent due to their high toxicity (Dasgupta and Wahed, 2014; Kavet and Nauss, 1990). Therefore, ethanol was selected as the most appropriate solvent for the extraction of phenolic compounds from olive leaves for production of extracts with high phenol content and high antioxidant activity (Lafka *et al.*, 2013).

Glycerol is a conventional solvent that is defined simply as a polyol (sugar alcohol), and it is used extensively in many industrial applications, especially in the food and pharmaceutical industries (AlOmar *et al.*, 2016). However, the fact that glycerol is poorly combustible means that it cannot even be used as a fuel and it is regarded by many to be a waste product (Abbott *et al.*, 2011). In addition, glycerol use is still limited in organic transformations, mainly for two reasons: (i) the intrinsic reactivity of the polyol backbone leading to the formation of side products and (ii) the very poor solubility of the vast majority of organic compounds (Hamel *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, to overcome these disadvantages, researchers have been working to enhance the physicochemical properties of glycerol by different methods (Hamel *et al.*, 2014; Smarrito-Menozzi *et al.*, 2013). One of these methods is preparing of deep eutectic solvents (DES) containing glycerol as hydrogen bond donor (HBD). A recent review has assessed the use of glycerol as a green solvent (Gu and Jérôme, 2010), due to its low cost, wide availability and biodegradability (Lupacchini *et al.*, 2017).

1.4.3. Deep eutectic solvent extraction

Deep eutectic solvents (DES) and low-transition temperature mixtures (LTTMs) are an innovative class of eco-friendly liquids comprised of bio-molecules, such as a polyol serving as the hydrogen bond donor (HBD), and an organic salt, which is the hydrogen bond acceptor (HBA) (Georgantzi *et al.*, 2017). DES are fully inclusive of LTTMs (Wagle *et al.*, 2014). DES display attractive attributes, like low vapour-pressure, high thermal stability, non-flammability, high solvability, chemical stability, low volatility, tunability, low cost, non-toxic, biodegradable and sustainable. These features make DES ideal extraction solvents, possessing unique characteristics, whereas limitations associated with similar materials, such as conventional organic solvents and ionic liquids, may be overcome (Lupacchini *et al.*, 2017; Mainberger *et al.*, 2017; Hayyan *et al.*, 2016; Wagle *et al.*, 2014).

In this regard, LTTMs are compatible with foods, pharmaceuticals and cosmetics, but also environmentally benign. The ability to tailor the physicochemical properties of LTTMs is central to customising their extraction behaviour, as a number of essential parameters (viscosity, polarity, surface tension, hydrogen bonding) that play significant roles in mass transport properties governing an extraction process, maybe effectively regulated (Dai *et al.*, 2015). A large number of different compounds have been used in the synthetic process of DES as HBD and HBA (Li and Row, 2016). The HBA is often a quaternary salt while HBD can include amines, carboxylic acids, alcohols or carbohydrates (An *et al.*, 2017). A few studies have been used glycerol, 2,3-butanediol, L-lactic acid, oxalic acid, ethylene glycol, others as HBD and choline chloride, glycine, L-alanine, L-glutamic acid, nicotinamide, sodium acetate trihydrate, ammonium acetate, sodium-potassium tartrate tetrahydrate, trisodium citrate dehydrate, others as HBA (An *et al.*, 2017; Dedousi *et al.*, 2017; Patsea *et al.*, 2017; Bakirtzi *et al.*, 2016; Li and Row, 2016; Manousaki *et al.*, 2016; Mouratoglou *et al.*, 2016).

Recent investigations with LTTMs composed of glycerol or L-lactic acid (HBD) and sodium acetate (HBA), two low-cost biomolecules, have shown that polyphenol extraction yields were much higher than those obtained with water and were comparable to those obtained with aqueous ethanol (Manousaki *et al.*, 2016; Mouratoglou *et al.*, 2016). In other study (Kottaras *et al.*, 2017) was carried out to screen combinations of L-lactic acid used as HBD, with the natural amino acids glycine and L-alanine, but also choline chloride, as HBAs in an effort to identify (i) pairs that provide stable LTTMs and (ii) LTTMs that can afford high extraction yields of antioxidant phenolics from industrial solid wastes.

1.4.4. Effect of extraction conditions

Extraction conditions (e.g., time, temperature, and liquid-to-solid ratio) must be optimized to efficiently extract olive leaf polyphenols without oxidative degradation (Jemai *et al.*, 2009). Several researchers focused on reducing the extraction time (it usually ranges from 5 to 24 h) for complete recovery of phenolic compounds in order to adopt extraction process to industrial scale (Stamatopoulos *et al.*, 2014). In addition, high temperature could promote oxidative degradation of polyphenols and lead to solvent loss by volatilization, higher energy costs and more extraction impurities (Ahmad-Qasem *et al.*, 2013a). Thus, the authors propose low extraction temperatures (e.g., 40 °C, it usually ranges from 28 to 60 °C) for high extraction times (Stamatopoulos *et al.*, 2014; Spigno *et al.*, 2007). Time and temperature of extraction are important parameter to be optimised even in order to minimize energy cost of the process (Spigno *et al.*, 2007). In the literature, the solvent-to-solid ratio for olive leave extract preparation varied from 20 to 50 mL g⁻¹ (Dedousi *et al.*, 2017; Mourtzinos *et al.*, 2016; Şahin and Şamlı, 2013; Pereira *et al.*, 2007). Increasing the solvent-to-solid ratio leads to better recovery yield of polyphenols in the obtained extract.

1.4.5. Extraction techniques

Conventional extraction techniques like solid-liquid extraction (SLE) and novel (nonconventional) extraction techniques like supercritical fluid extraction (SFE), pressurized liquid extraction (PLE), ultrasonic assisted extraction (UAE) and microwave assisted extraction (MAE), have been used to isolate phenolic compounds from *Olea europaea* leaves (Abaza *et al.*, 2015; Taamalli *et al.*, 2012a). However, in addition to selecting the appropriate method, the extraction yield depends on several parameters such as solvent type, pH, temperature, the duration of extraction, the particle size, and the solvent-to-solid ratio. Therefore, these parameters should be taken into consideration in order to attain optimal extraction yields (Sifaoui *et al.*, 2016; Lafka *et al.*, 2013; Taamalli *et al.*, 2012a).

The most commonly extraction system used has been the SLE by maceration of the olive leaves in a solvent (Talhaoui *et al.*, 2015). The selection of an appropriate solvent is of paramount importance and profoundly defines yield and composition of the extracts produced. Most common solvents to date are of petrochemical origin but they have several inherent disadvantages, being flammable and toxic, while their production is associated with fossil resources (Georgantzi *et al.*, 2017). However, the use of non-toxic solvents is preferable for natural extracts production since it leads to the development of functional foods with health-promoting properties (Stamatopoulos *et al.*, 2014).
The major challenges of conventional extraction are longer extraction time, requirement of costly and high purity solvent, evaporation of the huge amount of solvent, low extraction selectivity and thermal decomposition of thermo labile compounds (Azmir *et al.*, 2013). Thus, other modern extraction and isolation techniques have been used as alternative (Talhaoui *et al.*, 2015). These techniques are referred as non-conventional extraction techniques and some of the most promising techniques are UAE, MAE, SFE, and PLE. These modern techniques require considerably smaller amounts of solvents with much higher extraction efficiency and lower environmental impact (Souilem *et al.*, 2016). In addition, can be regarded as a possible tool not only from a laboratory point of view but also for the natural products and food industries (Taamalli *et al.*, 2012a). Therefore, compared with conventional techniques, UAE can be considered a more efficient procedure, being able to provide olive leaf extracts with a similar content of bioactive compounds, such as oleuropein, verbascoside and luteolin-7-*O*-glucoside, but markedly shortening the extraction time, from 24 h to 15 min (Ahmad-Qasem *et al.*, 2013a). This is because this method is a powerful aid in accelerating various steps of the analytical process (homogenization, extraction, and others) (Talhaoui *et al.*, 2015).

The SFE is more environmentally friendly, can be used to obtain various bioactive compounds without any solvent residue and safety hazard (Lafka *et al.*, 2013). SFE with carbon dioxide (SC-CO₂) is the most favored method for isolation of mainly non-polar or lipophilic natural compounds from spices and agricultural by-products (Xynos *et al.*, 2012). In addition, the absence of light and air during extraction reduces the degradation of analytes that occur in traditional extraction techniques (Taamalli *et al.*, 2012a).

The PLE is a technique which uses conventional solvents and performs a fully automated extraction under constant pressure and various controllable parameters like temperature, static extraction time, extraction cycles, and others (Abaza *et al.*, 2015). The PLE technique limits the use of organic solvents, hereby making possible the use of solvent allowed for alimentary uses such as water and ethanol, while obtaining higher extraction yields and faster extraction processes (Xynos *et al.*, 2014). It is characterized by reduced operational cost and controlled extraction conditions, which provides consistent qualitative and quantitative composition of the extract (Xynos *et al.*, 2012).

Compared with other techniques, MAE has several advantages (e.g., short-extraction time, low-energy requirement, reduced solvent consumption, high extraction efficiency, and minimum degradation of target components). Moreover, MAE offers the possibility of obtaining products labelled as "green" according to environmental standards, with high quality and lower cost (Şahin *et al.*, 2017; Taamalli *et al.*, 2012a; Taamalli *et al.*, 2012b; Rafiee *et al.*, 2011).

1.5. Applications of olive leaves in agro-food industries

Olive leave polyphenols can be formulated into dietary supplements, foods, beverages, cosmetics, pharmaceutical products, and health fortificant for feed. Olive leaves are a natural material having high nutritional value and many biological activities. Incorporation of olive leaf extract in numerous foods can increase biological activities of diet and can provide efficient animal and human nutrition (Souilem *et al.*, 2016). Olive leaves have to be dried for utilizing as a food additive or before extracting the valuable compounds or for storage (Erbay and Icier, 2010).

1.5.1. Animal feeding and dietary supplementation with olive leaves

Olive leaves contain a high level of non-digestible fiber (39.9 to 62.6% dw), lignin (16.3 to 30.5% dw) and the content of crude protein varies between 9.5 and 12.9% dw (Delgado-Pertíñez *et al.*, 2000). Botsoglou *et al.* (2013a; 2013b; 2012a; 2012b) studied was to evaluate the effect of supplementation of the layer hen diet with olive leaves (10 g/kg feed) on lipid oxidation and fatty acid profile of α -linolenic acid (or very-long-chain *n*-3 fatty acids) enriched hen eggs during refrigerated storage, and to compare this effect with α -tocopheryl acetate supplementation.

In other studies was to evaluate lipid and protein oxidation during frozen storage of n-3 enriched pork patties as affected by diet supplementation of olive leaf extracts and α -tocopherol (or α -tocopheryl acetate) (Botsoglou *et al.*, 2014; 2012c). Furthermore, in other study was to investigate the effect of olive leaf supplementation on diet digestibility, growth performance, tocopherol content of meat and therefore on its oxidative stability and intrinsic quality condition, in pigs (Paiva-Martins *et al.*, 2009). Parsaei *et al.* (2014) showed that dietary supplementation with olive leaves had positive effects on blood lipids profile, liver enzymes and immunity of broiler chickens, but Shafey *et al.* (2013) indicated that dietary supplementation reduced abdominal fat of chickens. Addition of *O. europaea* leaves in rabbit diet showed a small reduction of oxidative processes, particularly in stored raw rabbit meat (Trebušak *et al.*, 2014).

1.5.2. Enrichment of table olives with polyphenols

Lalas *et al.* (2011) investigated the enrichment of table olives of Kalamon cultivar with two polyphenols (oleuropein and hydroxytyrosol) from olive leaves. As indicated by their results, treated table olives showed an increase of 457% in the case of oleuropein and 109% in the case of hydroxytyrosol. Sensory evaluation of treated table olives displayed an increase in bitterness. However, treated and untreated table olives showed equal overall acceptability and preference.

1.5.3. Enrichment of oils with olive leaves

The oils with higher contents of unsaturated fatty acids, especially polyunsaturated fatty acids, are more susceptible to oxidation. In order to overcome the stability problems of oils and fats, synthetic antioxidants, such as butylated hydroxyanisole (BHA), butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT), ter-butyl hydroquinone (TBHQ) have been used as food additives (Jaber *et al.*, 2012; Bouaziz *et al.*, 2008). Their addition to oils has been decreased for their suspected action as promoters of carcinogenesis (Jaber *et al.*, 2012; Erbay and Icier, 2010). Therefore, there is a great interest in substituting these synthetic compounds with natural antioxidants. Because of the richness of antioxidant phenols in olive leaves are natural antioxidants.

Bouaziz *et al.* (2008) indicated the treatment with olive leaves extract hydrolysate (400 ppm) increases the total sterol concentration of the oils. Hydrolysate and leaves extracts are excellent antioxidants and can serve as substitutes for synthetic antioxidants. In addition, Bouaziz *et al.* (2010) studied to enrich refined olive and pomace oils with extracts and pure compounds from olive leaves and to report on the changes that occurred with regard to phenolic compounds during storage time. Jaber *et al.* (2012) showed that olive leave chlorophyll pigment extract (400 ppm) could stabilize refined olive oil. Olive leaf extracts were proven to be good protectors for olive and sunflower oils at levels of 150 ppm (Lafka *et al.*, 2013). Sonda *et al.* (2014) added olive leaves (3%) to olive fruits before the extraction process, and the taste panel found an improvement of the olive oil sensorial quality. In other similar study (Malheiro *et al.*, 2013), after the addition of different olive leaves percentages during extraction of olive oils, the preliminary sensorial evaluation indicated that the overall sensorial quality increases, and the positive attributes, like green fruity and bitter taste, increased.

Farag *et al.* (2007) suggested that crude olive leaf juice can be used in practical operation to extend the frying life of frying oils. Adding olive leaf juice to sunflower oil at 180 °C induced excellent antioxidant activity at 800 ppm and improved stability. Zribi *et al.* (2013) recently concluded that enrichment of refined soybean oil with olive leaf extract significantly decreased the hydrolysis of triglycerides and fatty acid oxidation and *trans*-fatty acid contents, increasing the oxidative stability of pan-frying. These positive effects are due to the hydroxytyrosol that is initially present in olive leaf extracts.

Chiou *et al.* (2007) studied the enrichment of French fries using olive leaf extracts with palm oil, olive oil, and sunflower oil. Olive leaf extracts were supplemented at levels of 120 and 240 mg total polyphenols per kg of oil, and potatoes were pan fried in both enriched and non-supplemented oils under domestic frying conditions. Oil supplementation with a polyphenol-rich olive leaf extract succeeded in producing French fries containing polyphenols like oleuropein, and fried oils containing a higher polyphenol content than the original ones

before supplementation. Moreover, polyphenols seemed to have survived the pan-frying procedure better when absorbed by the fried food than better when they remained in the frying oil. Consequently, Farag *et al.* (2006) suggested adding crude olive leaf juice to increase their shelf-life of oils without any deleterious effect on human health. In general, the data for histopathological examinations were in accordance with results of biochemical measurements of serum rat liver and kidney function tests.

1.5.4. Encapsulation of olive leaf extracts

Microencapsulation is defined as a technology of packaging solids, liquids, or gaseous materials in miniature, sealed capsules that can release their contents at controlled rates under specific conditions (Desai and Park, 2005).

In the food industry, the microencapsulation process can be applied for a variety of reasons, which have been summarized as follows (Fang and Bhandari, 2010):

- protection of the core material from degradation by reducing its reactivity to its outside environment;
- (ii) reduction of the evaporation or transfer rate of the core material to the outside environment;
- (iii) modification of the physical characteristics of the original material to allow easier handling;
- (iv) tailoring the release of the core material slowly over time, or at a particular time;
- (v) to mask an unwanted flavor or taste of the core material;
- (vi) dilution of the core material when only small amounts are required, while achieving uniform dispersion in the host material;
- (vii) to help separate the components of the mixture that would otherwise react with one another.

Food ingredients of acidulants, flavoring agents, sweeteners, colorants, lipids, vitamins and minerals, enzymes and microorganisms, are encapsulated using different technologies (Desai and Park, 2005).

For stabilizing the olive leaf extract and phenols in it, encapsulation studies were performed (Erbay and Icier, 2010). Kosaraju *et al.* (2006) carried out the encapsulation of olive leaf extract in chitosan microspheres by using a spray-drying process. They found retained activity of phenolic compounds in the chitosan matrix even after spray drying. Mourtzinos *et al.* (2007) encapsulated the olive leaf extract with β -cyclodextrin by mixing of components in the aqueous media and the subsequent freeze-drying process. They concluded that olive leaf extract encapsulated with β -cyclodextrin prevents phenolic oxidation at higher temperature. Moreover,

this encapsulation increased the aqueous solubility of phenolic residue by more than 150%. Therefore, the encapsulated olive leaf extract can be used as a food additive with the advantage of higher aqueous solubility (Mourtzinos *et al.*, 2007). Concluded, encapsulation preserves the antioxidant activity and the polyphenol concentration (Souilem *et al.*, 2016).

1.6. Aims and objectives

The current investigation had as a scope:

- The development of a novel natural deep eutectic solvent (DES), based on biomolecules, with optimised composition, which would enable a high recovery of olive tree leaves (OLL) polyphenols.
- 2. The optimisation of the extraction process with regard to basic parameters, including liquid-to-solid ratio ($R_{L/S}$), temperature (*T*) and % water content (WC), to ensure maximisation of the extraction yield.
- 3. The examination of the effect of methyl- β -cyclodextrin (m- β -CD) as an extraction additive on both the extraction yield and polyphenolic profile of the OLL extracts.
- 4. The stability of the extracts obtained, and the role exerted by m- β -CD.
- 5. The antioxidant behaviour of the extracts as affected by the presence of m- β -CD.

An overview of the studies carried out to achieve the above-mentioned goals may be seen below (**Fig. 7**):



References

- Abaza, L., Taamalli, A., Nsir, H., & Zarrouk, M. (2015). Olive tree (*Olea europeae* L.) leaves: Importance and advances in the analysis of phenolic compounds. *Antioxidants*, 4 (4), 682-698.
- Abaza, L., Talorete, T.P., Yamada, P., Kurita, Y., Zarrouk, M., & Isoda, H. (2007). Induction of growth inhibition and differentiation of human leukemia HL-60 cells by a Tunisian gerboui olive leaf extract. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, **71** (5), 1306-1312.
- Abaza, L., Youssef, N.B., Manai, H., Haddada, F.M., Methenni, K., & Zarrouk, M. (2011). Chétoui olive leaf extracts: influence of the solvent type on phenolics and antioxidant activities. *Grasas y Aceites*, **62** (1), 96-104.
- Abbott, A.P., Harris, R.C., Ryder, K.S., D'Agostino, C., Gladden, L.F., & Mantle, M.D. (2011).Glycerol eutectics as sustainable solvent systems. *Green Chemistry*, **13** (1), 82-90.
- Ahmad-Qasem, M.H., Barrajón-Catalán, E., Micol, V., Mulet, A., & García-Pérez, J.V. (2013b). Influence of freezing and dehydration of olive leaves (var. Serrana) on extract composition and antioxidant potential. *Food Research International*, **50** (1), 189-196.
- Ahmad-Qasem, M.H., Cánovas, J., Barrajón-Catalán, E., Micol, V., Cárcel, J.A., & García-Pérez, J.V. (2013a). Kinetic and compositional study of phenolic extraction from olive leaves (var. Serrana) by using power ultrasound. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 17, 120-129.
- Al-Attar, A.M., & Abu Zeid, I.M. (2013). Effect of tea (*Camellia sinensis*) and olive (*Olea europaea* L.) leaves extracts on male mice exposed to diazinon. *BioMed Research International*, 2013, 1-6.
- AlOmar, M.K., Hayyan, M., Alsaadi, M.A., Akib, S., Hayyan, A., & Hashim, M.A. (2016).
 Glycerol-based deep eutectic solvents: Physical properties. *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, 215, 98-103.
- Altıok, E., Bayçın, D., Bayraktar, O., & Ülkü, S. (2008). Isolation of polyphenols from the extracts of olive leaves (*Olea europaea* L.) by adsorption on silk fibroin. *Separation and Purification Technology*, **62** (2), 342-348.
- An, J., Trujillo-Rodríguez, M.J., Pino, V., & Anderson, J.L. (2017). Non-conventional solvents in liquid phase microextraction and aqueous biphasic systems. *Journal of Chromatography A*, **1500**, 1-23.
- Apostolakis, A., Grigorakis, S., & Makris, D.P. (2014). Optimisation and comparative kinetics study of polyphenol extraction from olive leaves (*Olea europaea*) using heated water/glycerol mixtures. *Separation and Purification Technology*, **128**, 89-95.

- Azmir, J., Zaidul, I.S.M., Rahman, M.M., Sharif, K.M., Mohamed, A., Sahena, F., Jahurul, M.H.A., Ghafoor, K., Norulaini, N.A.N., & Omar, A.K.M. (2013). Techniques for extraction of bioactive compounds from plant materials: A review. *Journal of Food Engineering*, **117** (4), 426-436.
- Bahloul, N., Boudhrioua, N., Kouhila, M., & Kechaou, N. (2009). Effect of convective solar drying on colour, total phenols and radical scavenging activity of olive leaves (*Olea europaea* L.). *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, **44** (12), 2561-2567.
- Bakirtzi, C., Triantafyllidou, K., & Makris, D.P. (2016). Novel lactic acid-based natural deep eutectic solvents: Efficiency in the ultrasound-assisted extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from common native Greek medicinal plants. *Journal of Applied Research on Medicinal and Aromatic Plants*, **3** (3), 120-127.
- Benavente-García, O., Castillo, J., Lorente, J., Ortuno, A., & Del Rio, J.A. (2000). Antioxidant activity of phenolics extracted from *Olea europaea* L. leaves. *Food Chemistry*, 68 (4), 457-462.
- Bendini, A., Cerretani, L., Carrasco-Pancorbo, A., Gómez-Caravaca, A.M., Segura-Carretero, A., Fernández-Gutiérrez, A., & Lercker, G. (2007). Phenolic molecules in virgin olive oils: a survey of their sensory properties, health effects, antioxidant activity and analytical methods. An overview of the last decade. *Molecules*, **12** (8), 1679-1719.
- Bianchi, G. (2003). Lipids and phenols in table olives. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, **105** (5), 229-242.
- Bogdanov, M.G. (2014). *Ionic liquids as alternative solvents for extraction of natural products*. In Alternative Solvents for Natural Products Extraction, Eds Chemat, F., & Vian, M.A., Springer, 7, 127-166.
- Boskou, D. (2015). Olive oil: Properties and processing for use in food. In Specialty Oils and Fats in Food and Nutrition: Properties, Processing and Applications, Eds Talbot, G., Woodhead Publishing Series, 1, 3-38.
- Boskou, D., Blekas, G., & Tsimidou, M. (2006a). *Olive oil composition*. In Olive oil: Chemistry and Technology, Eds Boskou, D., 2nd eds, AOCS Press, **4**, 41-72.
- Boskou, D., Camposeo, S., & Clodoveo, M.L. (2015). *Table olives as sources of bioactive compounds*. In Olive and Olive Oil Bioactive Constituents. Eds Boskou, D., AOCS Press, 8, 217-259.
- Boskou, D., Tsimidou, M., & Blekas, G. (2006b). *Polar phenolic compounds*. In Olive oil: Chemistry and Technology, Eds Boskou, D., 2nd eds, AOCS Press, **5**, 73-92.

- Boss, A., Bishop, K.S., Marlow, G., Barnett, M.P., & Ferguson, L.R. (2016). Evidence to support the Anti-Cancer effect of olive leaf extract and future Directions. *Nutrients*, 8 (8), 513.
- Botsoglou, E., Govaris, A., Ambrosiadis, I., & Fletouris, D. (2012c). Lipid and protein oxidation of α-linolenic acid-enriched pork during refrigerated storage as influenced by diet supplementation with olive leaves (*Olea europea* L.) or α-tocopheryl acetate. *Meat Science*, **92** (4), 525-532.
- Botsoglou, E., Govaris, A., Ambrosiadis, I., Fletouris, D., & Papageorgiou, G. (2014). Effect of olive leaf (*Olea europea* L.) extracts on protein and lipid oxidation in cooked pork meat patties enriched with n-3 fatty acids. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, **94** (2), 227-234.
- Botsoglou, E., Govaris, A., Fletouris, D., & Botsoglou, N. (2012a). Lipid oxidation of stored eggs enriched with very long chain n-3 fatty acids, as affected by dietary olive leaves (*Olea europea* L.) or α-tocopheryl acetate supplementation. *Food Chemistry*, **134** (2), 1059-1068.
- Botsoglou, E., Govaris, A., Fletouris, D., & Botsoglou, N. (2012b). Effect of supplementation of the laying hen diet with olive leaves (*Olea europea* L.) on lipid oxidation and fatty acid profile of α-linolenic acid enriched eggs during storage. *British Poultry Science*, **53** (4), 508-519.
- Botsoglou, E., Govaris, A., Fletouris, D., & Iliadis, S. (2013a). Olive leaves (*Olea europea* L.) and α-tocopheryl acetate as feed antioxidants for improving the oxidative stability of α-linolenic acid-enriched eggs. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition*, **97** (4), 740-753.
- Botsoglou, E.N., Govaris, A.K., Ambrosiadis, I.A., & Fletouris, D.J. (2013b). Olive leaves (*Olea europaea* L.) versus α-tocopheryl acetate as dietary supplements for enhancing the oxidative stability of eggs enriched with very-long-chain n-3 fatty acids. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, **93** (8), 2053-2060.
- Bouaziz, M., Feki, I., Ayadi, M., Jemai, H., & Sayadi, S. (2010). Stability of refined olive oil and olive-pomace oil added by phenolic compounds from olive leaves. *European Journal* of Lipid Science and Technology, **112** (8), 894-905.
- Bouaziz, M., Fki, I., Jemai, H., Ayadi, M., & Sayadi, S. (2008). Effect of storage on refined and husk olive oils composition: Stabilization by addition of natural antioxidants from Chemlali olive leaves. *Food Chemistry*, **108** (1), 253-262.
- Bulotta, S., Corradino, R., Celano, M., D'Agostino, M., Maiuolo, J., Oliverio, M., Procopio,A., Iannone, M., Rotiroti, D., & Russo, D. (2011). Antiproliferative and antioxidant effects

on breast cancer cells of oleuropein and its semisynthetic peracetylated derivatives. *Food Chemistry*, **127** (4), 1609-1614.

- Chiou, A., Salta, F.N., Kalogeropoulos, N., Mylona, A., Ntalla, I., & Andrikopoulos, N.K. (2007). Retention and Distribution of Polyphenols after Pan-Frying of French Fries in Oils Enriched with Olive Leaf Extract. *Journal of Food Science*, **72** (8), 574-584.
- Dai, Y., Witkamp, G.J., Verpoorte, R., & Choi, Y.H. (2015). Tailoring properties of natural deep eutectic solvents with water to facilitate their applications. *Food Chemistry*, **187**, 14-19.
- Dasgupta, A., & Wahed, A. (2014). Testing for Ethyl Alcohol (Alcohol) and Other Volatiles. In Clinical Chemistry, Immunology and Laboratory Quality Control: A Comprehensive Review for Board Preparation, Certification and Clinical Practice, Eds Dasgupta, A., & Wahed, A. Academic Press, 18, 317-335.
- De Leonardis, A., & Macciola, V. (2010). *Olive biophenols as food supplements and additives*.
 In Olives and Olive Oil in Health and Disease Prevention, Eds Preedy, V.R., & Watson, R.R., Academic Press, **30**, 283-289.
- De Leonardis, A., Aretini, A., Alfano, G., Macciola, V., & Ranalli, G. (2008). Isolation of a hydroxytyrosol-rich extract from olive leaves (*Olea Europaea* L.) and evaluation of its antioxidant properties and bioactivity. *European Food Research and Technology*, **226** (4), 653-659.
- Dedousi, M., Mamoudaki, V., Grigorakis, S., & Makris, D.P. (2017). Ultrasound-assisted extraction of polyphenolic antioxidants from olive (*Olea europaea*) leaves using a novel glycerol/sodium-potassium tartrate low-transition temperature mixture (LTTM). *Environments*, 4 (2), 31.
- Dekanski, D., Ristić, S., & Mitrović, D.M. (2009). Antioxidant effect of dry olive (Olea europaea L.) leaf extract on ethanol-induced gastric lesions in rats. Mediterranean Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism, 2 (3), 205-211.
- Delgado-Pertíñez, M., Gómez-Cabrera, A., & Garrido, A. (2000). Predicting the nutritive value of the olive leaf (*Olea europaea*): digestibility and chemical composition and in vitro studies. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, **87** (3), 187-201.
- Dent, M., Dragovic-Uzelac, V., Penic, M., Brncic, M., Bosiljkov, T., & Levaj, B. (2013). The effect of extraction solvents, temperature and time on the composition and mass fraction of polyphenols in Dalmatian wild sage (*Salvia officinalis* L.) extracts. *Food Technology and Biotechnology*, **51** (1), 84-91.
- Desai, K.G.H., & Park, H.J. (2005). Recent developments in microencapsulation of food ingredients. *Drying Technology*, **23** (7), 1361-1394.

- El, S. N., & Karakaya, S. (2009). Olive tree (*Olea europaea*) leaves: potential beneficial effects on human health. *Nutrition Reviews*, **67** (11), 632-638.
- Erbay, Z., & Icier, F. (2010). The importance and potential uses of olive leaves. *Food Reviews International*, **26** (4), 319-334.
- Fang, Z., & Bhandari, B. (2010). Encapsulation of polyphenols A review. Trends in Food Science & Technology, 21 (10), 510-523.
- Farag, R.S., Mahmoud, E.A., & Basuny, A.M. (2007). Use crude olive leaf juice as a natural antioxidant for the stability of sunflower oil during heating. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, **42** (1), 107-115.
- Farag, R.S., Mahmoud, E.A., Basuny, A.M., & Ali, R.F. (2006). Influence of crude olive leaf juice on rat liver and kidney functions. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, **41** (7), 790-798.
- Furneri, P.M., Marino, A., Saija, A., Uccella, N., & Bisignano, G. (2002). In vitro antimycoplasmal activity of oleuropein. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents, 20 (4), 293-296.
- Georgantzi, C., Lioliou, A.E., Paterakis, N., & Makris, D.P. (2017). Combination of Lactic Acid-Based Deep Eutectic Solvents (DES) with β-Cyclodextrin: Performance Screening Using Ultrasound-Assisted Extraction of Polyphenols from Selected Native Greek Medicinal Plants. *Agronomy*, **7** (3), 54.
- Ghanbari, R., Anwar, F., Alkharfy, K.M., Gilani, A.H., & Saari, N. (2012). Valuable nutrients and functional bioactives in different parts of olive (*Olea europaea* L.) - A review. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, **13** (3), 3291-3340.
- Goulas, V., Exarchou, V., Troganis, A.N., Psomiadou, E., Fotsis, T., Briasoulis, E., & Gerothanassis, I.P. (2009). Phytochemicals in olive-leaf extracts and their antiproliferative activity against cancer and endothelial cells. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, **53** (5), 600-608.
- Gu, Y., & Jérôme, F. (2010). Glycerol as a sustainable solvent for green chemistry. *Green Chemistry*, **12** (7), 1127-1138.
- Hamel, A., Sacco, M., Mnasri, N., Lamaty, F., Martinez, J., De Angelis, F., Colacino, E., & Charnay, C. (2014). Micelles into glycerol solvent: overcoming side reactions of glycerol. *ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering*, 2 (6), 1353-1358.
- Han, J., Talorete, T.P., Yamada, P., & Isoda, H. (2009). Anti-proliferative and apoptotic effects of oleuropein and hydroxytyrosol on human breast cancer MCF-7 cells. *Cytotechnology*, 59 (1), 45-53.

- Hayyan, M., Mbous, Y.P., Looi, C.Y., Wong, W.F., Hayyan, A., Salleh, Z., & Mohd-Ali, O. (2016). Natural deep eutectic solvents: cytotoxic profile. *SpringerPlus*, 5 (1), 913.
- Iwashina, T. (2000). The structure and distribution of the flavonoids in plants. *Journal of Plant Research*, **113** (3), 287-299.
- Jaber, H., Ayadi, M., Makni, J., Rigane, G., Sayadi, S., & Bouaziz, M. (2012). Stabilization of refined olive oil by enrichment with chlorophyll pigments extracted from Chemlali olive leaves. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, **114** (11), 1274-1283.
- Jancheva, M., Grigorakis, S., Loupassaki, S., & Makris, D.P. (2017). Optimised extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from *Satureja thymbra* using newly designed glycerol-based natural low-transition temperature mixtures (LTTMs). *Journal of Applied Research on Medicinal and Aromatic Plants*, doi: 10.1016/j.jarmap.2017.01.002.
- Jemai, H., El Feki, A., & Sayadi, S. (2009). Antidiabetic and antioxidant effects of hydroxytyrosol and oleuropein from olive leaves in alloxan-diabetic rats. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57 (19), 8798-8804.
- Jemai, H., Fki, I., Bouaziz, M., Bouallagui, Z., El Feki, A., Isoda, H., & Sayadi, S. (2008). Lipid-lowering and antioxidant effects of hydroxytyrosol and its triacetylated derivative recovered from olive tree leaves in cholesterol-fed rats. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **56** (8), 2630-2636.
- Kalogeropoulos, N., & Tsimidou, M.Z. (2014). Antioxidants in Greek virgin olive oils. Antioxidants, **3** (2), 387-413.
- Karageorgou, I., Grigorakis, S., Lalas, S., & Makris, D.P. (2017). Enhanced extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from *Moringa oleifera* Lam. leaves using a biomolecule-based low-transition temperature mixture. *European Food Research and Technology*, doi: 10.1007/s00217-017-2887-1.
- Kavet, R., & Nauss, K.M. (1990). The toxicity of inhaled methanol vapors. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*, **21** (1), 21-50.
- Khaliq, A., Sabir, S.M., Ahmed, S.D., Boligon, A.A., Athayde, M.L., Jabbar, A.J., Qamar, I., & Khan, A. (2015). Antioxidant activities and phenolic composition of olive (*Olea europaea*) leaves. *Journal of Applied Botany and Food Quality*, 88 (1), 16-21.
- Khayyal, M.T., El-Ghazaly, M.A., Abdallah, D.M., Nassar, N.N., Okpanyi, S.N., & Kreuter, M.H. (2002). Blood Pressure Lowering Effect of an Olive Leaf Extract (*Olea europaea*) in L-NAME Induced Hypertension in Rats. *Arzneimittelforschung*, 52 (11), 797-802.
- Kiritsakis, K., Kontominas, M.G., Kontogiorgis, C., Hadjipavlou-Litina, D., Moustakas, A., & Kiritsakis, A. (2010). Composition and antioxidant activity of olive leaf extracts from Greek olive cultivars. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 87 (4), 369-376.

- Kontogianni, V.G., & Gerothanassis, I.P. (2012). Phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity of olive leaf extracts. *Natural Product Research*, **26** (2), 186-189.
- Kosaraju, S.L., D'ath, L., & Lawrence, A. (2006). Preparation and characterisation of chitosan microspheres for antioxidant delivery. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, **64** (2), 163-167.
- Kottaras, P., Koulianos, M., & Makris, D.P. (2017). Low-transition temperature mixtures (LTTMs) made of bioorganic molecules: Enhanced extraction of antioxidant phenolics from industrial cereal solid wastes. *Recycling*, 2 (1), 3.
- Kumar, S., & Pandey, A.K. (2013). Chemistry and biological activities of flavonoids: An overview. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2013.
- Lafka, T.I., Lazou, A.E., Sinanoglou, V.J., & Lazos, E.S. (2013). Phenolic extracts from wild olive leaves and their potential as edible oils antioxidants. *Foods*, **2** (1), 18-31.
- Lalas, S., Athanasiadis, V., Gortzi, O., Bounitsi, M., Giovanoudis, I., Tsaknis, J., & Bogiatzis,
 F. (2011). Enrichment of table olives with polyphenols extracted from olive leaves. *Food Chemistry*, **127** (4), 1521-1525.
- Lee, O.H., & Lee, B.Y. (2010). Antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of individual and combined phenolics in *Olea europaea* leaf extract. *Bioresource Technology*, **101** (10), 3751-3754.
- Lee-Huang, S., Zhang, L., Huang, P.L., Chang, Y.T., & Huang, P.L. (2003). Anti-HIV activity of olive leaf extract (OLE) and modulation of host cell gene expression by HIV-1 infection and OLE treatment. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **307** (4), 1029-1037.
- Li, X., & Row, K.H. (2016). Development of deep eutectic solvents applied in extraction and separation. *Journal of Separation Science*, **39** (18), 3505-3520.
- Lockyer, S., Yaqoob, P., Spencer, J.P.E., & Rowland, I. (2012). Olive leaf phenolics and cardiovascular risk reduction: physiological effects and mechanisms of action. *Nutrition and Aging*, **1** (2), 125-140.
- Lupacchini, M., Mascitti, A., Giachi, G., Tonucci, L., d'Alessandro, N., Martinez, J., & Colacino, E. (2017). Sonochemistry in non-conventional, green solvents or solvent-free reactions. *Tetrahedron*, **73** (6), 609-653.
- Mainberger, S., Kindlein, M., Bezold, F., Elts, E., Minceva, M., & Briesen, H. (2017). Deep eutectic solvent formation: a structural view using molecular dynamics simulations with classical force fields. *Molecular Physics*, **115** (9-12), 1309-1321.
- Malheiro, R., Casal, S., Teixeira, H., Bento, A., & Pereira, J.A. (2013). Effect of olive leaves addition during the extraction process of overmature fruits on olive oil quality. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 6 (2), 509-521.

- Manousaki, A., Jancheva, M., Grigorakis, S., & Makris, D.P. (2016). Extraction of antioxidant phenolics from Agri-food waste biomass using a newly designed glycerol-based natural low-transition temperature mixture: A comparison with conventional eco-friendly solvents. *Recycling*, 1 (1), 194-204.
- Markin, D., Duek, L., & Berdicevsky, I. (2003). *In vitro* antimicrobial activity of olive leaves. *Mycoses*, **46** (3-4), 132-136.
- Menendez, J.A., Vazquez-Martin, A., Colomer, R., Brunet, J., Carrasco-Pancorbo, A., Garcia-Villalba, R., Fernandez-Gutierrez, A., & Segura-Carretero, A. (2007). Olive oil's bitter principle reverses acquired autoresistance to trastuzumab (Herceptin[™]) in HER2overexpressing breast cancer cells. *BMC Cancer*, **7** (1), 80.
- Mijatovic, S.A., Timotijevic, G.S., Miljkovic, D.M., Radovic, J.M., Maksimovic-Ivanic, D.D., Dekanski, D.P., & Stosic-Grujicic, S.D. (2011). Multiple antimelanoma potential of dry olive leaf extract. *International Journal of Cancer*, **128** (8), 1955-1965.
- Mouratoglou, E., Malliou, V., & Makris, D.P. (2016). Novel glycerol-based natural eutectic mixtures and their efficiency in the ultrasound-assisted extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from Agri-food waste biomass. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, 7 (6), 1377-1387.
- Mourtzinos, I., Anastasopoulou, E., Petrou, A., Grigorakis, S., Makris, D., & Biliaderis, C.G. (2016). Optimization of a green extraction method for the recovery of polyphenols from olive leaf using cyclodextrins and glycerin as co-solvents. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, **53** (11), 3939-3947.
- Mourtzinos, I., Salta, F., Yannakopoulou, K., Chiou, A., & Karathanos, V.T. (2007). Encapsulation of olive leaf extract in β-cyclodextrin. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **55** (20), 8088-8094.
- Nekooeian, A.A., Dehghani, G.A., Mostafavi, H., & Khalili, A. (2011). The effect of hydroalcoholic extract of olive leaves on blood pressure in rat model of two-kidney, oneclip goldblatt hypertension. *Iranian Cardiovascular Research Journal*, **5** (1), 1-6.
- Obied, H.K., Prenzler, P.D., Omar, S.H., Ismael, R., Servili, M., Esposto, S., Taticchi, A., Selvaggini, R., & Urbani, S. (2012). *Pharmacology of olive biophenols*. In Advances in Molecular Toxicology, Eds Fishbein, J.C., Vol. 6, 6, 195-242.
- Omar, S.H. (2010). Oleuropein in olive and its pharmacological effects. *Scientia Pharmaceutica*, **78** (2), 133-154.
- Ozdemir, Y., Guven, E., & Ozturk, A. (2014). Understanding the characteristics of oleuropein for table olive processing. *Journal of Food Processing & Technology*, **5** (5), 1-6.

- Paiva-Martins, F., Barbosa, S., Pinheiro, V., Mourão, J.L., & Outor-Monteiro, D. (2009). The effect of olive leaves supplementation on the feed digestibility, growth performances of pigs and quality of pork meat. *Meat Science*, **82** (4), 438-443.
- Parsaei, S., Amini, Z., & Houshmand, M. (2014). Effects of olive leaf on blood metabolites and humoral immunity response of broiler chickens. *International Journal of Advanced Biological and Biomedical Research*, 2 (3), 741-751.
- Patsea, M., Stefou, I., Grigorakis, S., & Makris, D.P. (2017). Screening of Natural Sodium Acetate-Based Low-Transition Temperature Mixtures (LTTMs) for Enhanced Extraction of Antioxidants and Pigments from Red Vinification Solid Wastes. *Environmental Processes*, 4 (1), 123-135.
- Pereira, A.P., Ferreira, I.C., Marcelino, F., Valentão, P., Andrade, P.B., Seabra, R., Estevinho, L., Bento, A., & Pereira, J.A. (2007). Phenolic compounds and antimicrobial activity of olive (*Olea europaea* L. Cv. Cobrançosa) leaves. *Molecules*, **12** (5), 1153-1162.
- Petridis, A., Therios, I., Samouris, G., & Tananaki, C. (2012). Salinity-induced changes in phenolic compounds in leaves and roots of four olive cultivars (*Olea europaea* L.) and their relationship to antioxidant activity. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, **79**, 37-43.
- Quirantes-Piné, R., Lozano-Sánchez, J., Herrero, M., Ibáñez, E., Segura-Carretero, A., & Fernández-Gutiérrez, A. (2013). HPLC-ESI-QTOF-MS as a powerful analytical tool for characterising phenolic compounds in olive-leaf extracts. *Phytochemical Analysis*, 24 (3), 213-223.
- Rafiee, Z., Jafari, S.M., Alami, M., & Khomeiri, M. (2011). Microwave-assisted extraction of phenolic compounds from olive leaves; a comparison with maceration. *The Journal of Animal & Plant Sciences*, **21** (4), 738-745.
- Ranalli, A., Contento, S., Lucera, L., Di Febo, M., Marchegiani, D., & Di Fonzo, V. (2006).
 Factors affecting the contents of iridoid oleuropein in olive leaves (*Olea europaea* L.). *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54 (2), 434-440.
- Ratti, C. (2001). Hot air and freeze-drying of high-value foods: A review. *Journal of Food Engineering*, **49** (4), 311-319.
- Ratti, R. (2014). Ionic Liquids: Synthesis and Applications in Catalysis. *Advances in Chemistry*, 2014, 1-16.
- Robbins, R.J. (2003). Phenolic acids in foods: An overview of analytical methodology. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **51** (10), 2866-2887.
- Roca, M., Gandul-Rojas, B., & Mínguez-Mosquera, M.I. (2007). *Influence of Processing on Virgin Olive Oil Quality*. In Handbook of Food Products Manufacturing, Eds Hui, Y.H., John Wiley & Sons, **33**, 751-770.

- Romero, M., Toral, M., Gómez-Guzmán, M., Jiménez, R., Galindo, P., Sánchez, M., Olivares, M., Gálvez, J., & Duarte, J. (2016). Antihypertensive effects of oleuropein-enriched olive leaf extract in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Food & Function*, 7 (1), 584-593.
- Sabry, O.M.M. (2014). Review: Beneficial health effects of olive leaves extracts. *Journal of Natural Sciences Research*, **4** (19), 1-9.
- Şahin, S., & Şamlı, R. (2013). Optimization of olive leaf extract obtained by ultrasound-assisted extraction with response surface methodology. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, **20** (1), 595-602.
- Şahin, S., Samli, R., Tan, A.S.B., Barba, F.J., Chemat, F., Cravotto, G., & Lorenzo, J.M. (2017). Solvent-free microwave-assisted extraction of polyphenols from olive tree leaves: antioxidant and antimicrobial properties. *Molecules*, **22** (7), 1056.
- Salah, M.B., Abdelmelek, H., & Abderraba, M. (2012). Study of phenolic composition and biological activities assessment of olive leaves from different varieties grown in Tunisia. *Medicinal Chemistry*, 2 (5), 107-111.
- Satake, H., Koyama, T., Bahabadi, S E., Matsumoto, E., Ono, E., & Murata, J. (2015). Essences in metabolic engineering of lignan biosynthesis. *Metabolites*, **5** (2), 270-290.
- Seidel, V. (2012). Initial and bulk extraction of natural products isolation. In Natural Products Isolation, Eds Sarker, S.D., & Nahar, L., 3rd eds, Springer, 2, 27-41.
- Shafey, T.M., Al-Ruqaei, I.M., & Almufarij, S.I. (2013). Effect of feeding olive leaves extract (oleuropein) on the performance, nutrient utilization, small intestine and carcass characteristics of broiler chickens. *Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances*, **12** (6), 740-746.
- Sifaoui, I., Chammem, N., Abderrabba, M., & Mejri, M. Optimization of Phenolic compounds Extraction from Olive Leaves using Experimental Design Methodology. *Journal of Materials and Environmental Science*, 7 (4), 1119-1127.
- Silva, S., Gomes, L., Leitao, F., Coelho, A.V., & Boas, L.V. (2006). Phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity of *Olea europaea* L. fruits and leaves. *Food Science and Technology International*, **12** (5), 385-395.
- Singh, I., Mok, M., Christensen, A.M., Turner, A.H., & Hawley, J.A. (2008). The effects of polyphenols in olive leaves on platelet function. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, **18** (2), 127-132.
- Škerget, M., Kotnik, P., Hadolin, M., Hraš, A.R., Simonič, M., & Knez, Ž. (2005). Phenols, proanthocyanidins, flavones and flavonols in some plant materials and their antioxidant activities. *Food Chemistry*, **89** (2), 191-198.

- Smarrito-Menozzi, C., Matthey-Doret, W., Devaud-Goumoens, S., & Viton, F. (2013). Glycerol, an underestimated flavor precursor in the Maillard reaction. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **61** (43), 10225-10230.
- Soler-Rivas, C., Espín, J.C., & Wichers, H.J. (2000). Oleuropein and related compounds. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, **80** (7), 1013-1023.
- Sonda, A., Akram, Z., Boutheina, G., Guido, F., & Mohamed, B. (2013). Effect of addition of olive leaves before fruits extraction process to some monovarietal Tunisian extra-virgin olive oils using chemometric analysis. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 62 (1), 251-263.
- Souilem, S., Fki, I., Kobayashi, I., Khalid, N., Neves, M.A., Isoda, H., Sayadi, S., & Nakajima, M. (2016). Emerging Technologies for Recovery of Value-Added Components from Olive Leaves and Their Applications in Food/Feed Industries. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 2 (10), 229-248.
- Spigno, G., Tramelli, L., & De Faveri, D.M. (2007). Effects of extraction time, temperature and solvent on concentration and antioxidant activity of grape marc phenolics. *Journal of Food Engineering*, **81** (1), 200-208.
- Stamatopoulos, K., Chatzilazarou, A., & Katsoyannos, E. (2013). Optimization of multistage extraction of olive leaves for recovery of phenolic compounds at moderated temperatures and short extraction times. *Foods*, **3** (1), 66-81.
- Sudjana, A.N., D'Orazio, C., Ryan, V., Rasool, N., Ng, J., Islam, N., Riley, T.V., & Hammer,
 K.A. (2009). Antimicrobial activity of commercial *Olea europaea* (olive) leaf extract. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 33 (5), 461-463.
- Suresh, & Sandhu, J.S. (2011). Recent advances in ionic liquids: green unconventional solvents of this century: Part I. *Green Chemistry Letters and Reviews*, **4** (4), 289-310.
- Susalit, E., Agus, N., Effendi, I., Tjandrawinata, R.R., Nofiarny, D., Perrinjaquet-Moccetti, T., & Verbruggen, M. (2011). Olive (*Olea europaea*) leaf extract effective in patients with stage-1 hypertension: comparison with Captopril. *Phytomedicine*, **18** (4), 251-258.
- Taamalli, A., Arráez-Román, D., Barrajón-Catalán, E., Ruiz-Torres, V., Pérez-Sánchez, A., Herrero, M., Ibañez, E., Micol, V., Zarrouk, M., Segura-Carretero, A., & Fernández-Gutiérrez, A. (2012a). Use of advanced techniques for the extraction of phenolic compounds from Tunisian olive leaves: Phenolic composition and cytotoxicity against human breast cancer cells. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, **50** (6), 1817-1825.
- Taamalli, A., Arráez-Román, D., Ibañez, E., Zarrouk, M., Segura-Carretero, A., & Fernández-Gutiérrez, A. (2012b). Optimization of microwave-assisted extraction for the

characterization of olive leaf phenolic compounds by using HPLC-ESI-TOF-MS/IT-MS². *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **60** (3), 791-798.

- Talhaoui, N., Gómez-Caravaca, A.M., León, L., De la Rosa, R., Segura-Carretero, A., & Fernández-Gutiérrez, A. (2014). Determination of phenolic compounds of 'Sikitita'olive leaves by HPLC-DAD-TOF-MS. Comparison with its parents 'Arbequina'and 'Picual'olive leaves. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 58 (1), 28-34.
- Talhaoui, N., Taamalli, A., Gómez-Caravaca, A.M., Fernández-Gutiérrez, A., & Segura-Carretero, A. (2015). Phenolic compounds in olive leaves: Analytical determination, biotic and abiotic influence, and health benefits. *Food Research International*, **77**, 92-108.
- Tasioula-Margari, M., & Tsabolatidou, E. (2015). Extraction, separation, and identification of phenolic compounds in virgin olive oil by HPLC-DAD and HPLC-MS. *Antioxidants*, 4 (3), 548-562.
- Trebušak, T., Levart, A., Salobir, J., & Pirman, T. (2014). Effect of *Ganoderma lucidum* (Reishi mushroom) or *Olea europaea* (olive) leaves on oxidative stability of rabbit meat fortified with n-3 fatty acids. *Meat Science*, **96** (3), 1275-1280.
- Tripoli, E., Giammanco, M., Tabacchi, G., Di Majo, D., Giammanco, S., & La Guardia, M. (2005). The phenolic compounds of olive oil: Structure, biological activity and beneficial effects on human health. *Nutrition Research Reviews*, **18** (1), 98-112.
- Tuck, K.L., & Hayball, P.J. (2002). Major phenolic compounds in olive oil: Metabolism and health effects. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, **13** (11), 636-644.
- Wagle, D.V., Zhao, H., & Baker, G.A. (2014). Deep eutectic solvents: sustainable media for nanoscale and functional materials. *Accounts of Chemical Research*, 47 (8), 2299-2308.
- Wainstein, J., Ganz, T., Boaz, M., Bar Dayan, Y., Dolev, E., Kerem, Z., & Madar, Z. (2012).
 Olive leaf extract as a hypoglycemic agent in both human diabetic subjects and in rats. *Journal of Medicinal Food*, 15 (7), 605-610.
- Wissam, Z., Ali, A., & Rama, H. (2016). Optimization of extraction conditions for the recovery of phenolic compounds and antioxidants from Syrian olive leaves. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 5 (5), 390-394.
- Wong, R.H., Garg, M.L., Wood, L.G., & Howe, P.R. (2014). Antihypertensive potential of combined extracts of olive leaf, green coffee bean and beetroot: a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled crossover trial. *Nutrients*, 6 (11), 4881-4894.
- Xynos, N., Papaefstathiou, G., Gikas, E., Argyropoulou, A., Aligiannis, N., & Skaltsounis, A.L. (2014). Design optimization study of the extraction of olive leaves performed with pressurized liquid extraction using response surface methodology. *Separation and Purification Technology*, **122**, 323-330.

- Xynos, N., Papaefstathiou, G., Psychis, M., Argyropoulou, A., Aligiannis, N., & Skaltsounis, A.L. (2012). Development of a green extraction procedure with super/subcritical fluids to produce extracts enriched in oleuropein from olive leaves. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 67, 89-93.
- Yuan, J.J., Wang, C.Z., Ye, J.Z., Tao, R., & Zhang, Y.S. (2015). Enzymatic hydrolysis of oleuropein from *Olea europea* (olive) leaf extract and antioxidant activities. *Molecules*, 20 (2), 2903-2921.
- Zeitoun, M.A.M., Mansour, H.M.M., Ezzat S., & El Sohaimy, S.A. (2017). Effect of pretreatment of olive leaves on phenolic content and antioxidant activity. *American Journal of Food Technology*, **12**, 132-139.
- Zoidou, E., Melliou, E., Gikas, E., Tsarbopoulos, A., Magiatis, P., & Skaltsounis, A-L. (2010).
 Identification of Throuba Thassos, a traditional Greek table olive variety, as a nutritional rich source of oleuropein. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58 (1), 46-50.
- Zribi, A., Gargouri, B., Jabeur, H., Rebaï, A., Abdelhedi, R., & Bouaziz, M. (2013). Enrichment of pan-frying refined oils with olive leaf phenolic-rich extract to extend the usage life. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, **115** (12), 1443-1453.



Chapter 2:

Highly efficient extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from *Olea europaea* leaves using an eco-friendly glycerol/glycine deep eutectic solvent

Abstract

A number of biological activities have been attributed to polyphenolic substances occurring in the leaves of the olive tree (*O. europaea*), an olive oil industry waste material, and for this reason several extraction processes have been developed for the efficient recovery of these phytochemicals. The study presented herein describes for the first time the use of an ecofriendly deep eutectic solvent (DES) as a highly effective solvent for the extraction of polyphenols from olive tree leaves. Initially, a central composite design was implemented to optimise solvent composition and liquid-to-solid ratio and then a kinetic assay was performed to investigate diffusivity (D_e) and temperature effects. The maximum total polyphenol yield was 106.25 mg gallic acid equivalents per g dry weight, achieved at 70 °C. This value was by 18% higher than that achieved with 60% aqueous methanol. Furthermore, the DES extract exhibited significantly higher antiradical activity and reducing power. Temperature increase up to 70 °C was shown to boost D_e and the activation energy determined for the process was 29.55 kJ moL⁻¹. Characterisation of the extract by means of liquid chromatography-diode array-mass spectrometry showed oleuropein and certain flavone glycosides to be the major polyphenolic constituents.

Keywords: Antioxidants; Deep eutectic solvents; Olea europaea; Polyphenols

2.1. Introduction

The generation of food waste biomass encompasses a spectrum of activities, such as agricultural practices, industrial manufacturing and household consumption and contemporary environmental concepts, such as the circular economy, are regarded as the driving force for the implementation of "zero waste policies". The high volume of waste deriving from the food industry raises serious concerns, pertaining to both economic and environmental aspects, but a large amount of this residual biomass has a significant potential used as raw material for the production of novel commodities and specialty feedstock through biorefining procedures (Mirabella *et al.*, 2014).

The recovery of precious secondary metabolites from waste plant tissues is an attractive prospect in this regard, since many parts of plant material rejected during fruit and vegetable processing, such as peels, stems, seeds and leaves, bear a considerable load of such phytochemicals, including polyphenols. This particular class of compounds embraces numerous chemical structures of variable biological properties and functionalities, which are related with antioxidant and antimicrobial activity, as well as chemoprotective activity against cancer and other degenerative diseases (Li *et al.*, 2014). Olive leaves (OLL) are a waste material of the olive oil industry and they are rejected during olive fruit cleaning. OLL contain relatively high amounts of polyphenols compared with other food wastes (Mouratoglou *et al.*, 2016) and possess a peculiar polyphenolic profile, composed mainly of oleuropein, a major bioactive phenolic, but also several flavone glycosides (Rosello-Soto *et al.*, 2015; Talhaoui *et al.*, 2015). OLL polyphenols have been a subject of extensive and thorough studies, owed to their pharmacological potency (Obied *et al.*, 2012) and for this reason OLL polyphenol recovery has been a primal research field (Abaza *et al.*, 2015).

A crucial step in the recovery process is the molecule extraction, and conventional solvent extraction is the tool of preference, implemented on industrial scale to extract bioactive compounds from plant matrices (Barba *et al.*, 2016). However, food industries are facing the challenge to move towards sustainable process strategies, to maximize valorization of wastes for higher profitability and reduced environmental aggravation (Misra *et al.*, 2015). In this direction, emerging technologies are increasingly adopted by food industries, on the recognition of their potential to recover high-added value compounds effectively and in a sustainable framework. With regard to extraction on industrial scale, conventional methodologies have some major drawbacks, such as low extract recovery and long extraction duration and intensive heating, resulting in high energy consumption. Additionally, due to toxicity and the increasing prices of fossil resources, replacement of traditional solvents is a primary objective. Thus green

extraction processes are being oriented toward extraction intensification, increased mass and heat transfer, reduced equipment size, and reduction of processing steps (Rombaut *et al.*, 2014).

Deep eutectic solvents (DES) are novel liquids, composed of inexpensive, recyclable and non-toxic materials, which can be natural substances (e.g. sugars, organic acids and salts, etc.) (Paiva *et al.*, 2014). DES synthesis is eco-friendly, facile and straightforward and properties such as low vapour pressure, absence of flammability and water miscibility make DES ideal solvents for a range of sustainable and environmentally benign applications. Recently, the use of such solvents for the extraction of natural products has been attracting interest, because of their unique potency that allows for extraction yields higher than those achieved with conventional solvents (Mouratoglou *et al.*, 2016). Considering the above concepts and perspectives, the present examination was carried out to test a newly synthesized, eco-compatible DES, with regard to its potential in recovering bioactive polyphenolic phytochemicals from OLL. The approach employed included first optimization of basic extraction process. The results were evaluated by comparison with other environmentally benign solvents, and characterization of the antioxidant activity and polyphenolic profile of the extracts.

2.2. Materials and methods

2.2.1. Chemicals

Solvents used for liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry were HPLC grade. Glycerol and aluminium chloride were from Fisher Scientific (New Jersey, U.S.A.). Ferric chloride hexahydrate was from Acros Organics (Geel, Belgium). Gallic acid, glycine, Folin-Ciocalteu reagent, 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), ascorbic acid, rutin (quercetin 3-*O*-rutinoside) and 2,4,6-tripyridyl-*s*-triazine (TPTZ) were from Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany). Sodium acetate trihydrate was from Penta (Prague, Czeck Republic).

2.2.2. Preparation of the DES

DES preparation was carried out according to a previously reported methodology (Mouratoglou *et al.*, 2016). Briefly, glycerol (HBD) was mixed with glycine (HBA) and water at a molar ratio 7:1:3. The mixture was heated in a stoppered glass vial at 80-90 °C for approximately 90 min, under stirring, until a perfectly transparent liquid was formed. The DES was stored in screw-cap glass vial, in the dark, at room temperature. The DES was periodically inspected for the appearance of crystals, within a period of several weeks.

2.2.3. Plant material

Olive leaves (OLL) were from the *O. europaea* variety Agrielia Kalamon, collected from an olive tree plantation located at Avlida (Evia, Central Greece). Sampling and OLL handling was performed as described in an earlier study (Mylonaki *et al.*, 2008). More specifically, in order to obtain a uniform amount of leaves, the leaves were collected from several vicinal trees and from different parts of each tree, so as to minimise the effect of sun exposure and differences related to different maturation stages. After collection, the leaves were immediately transferred to the laboratory, randomly pooled and air-dried in-house.

2.2.4. Experimental design

A central composite design with one central point was deployed (Tzima *et al.*, 2015) to test the effect of concentration of the DES (C_{DES}) and the liquid-to-solid ratio ($R_{L/S}$) on the total polyphenol yield (Y_{TP}). For this scope, appropriate amounts of dry OLL powder were mixed with 25 mL of aqueous DES and stirred at 600 rpm for 120 min, at 50 °C. C_{DES} and $R_{L/S}$ used were predetermined by the experimental design (**Table 6**). The response (Y_{TP}) at each design point was measured and recorded (**Table 7**).

Table 6: Coded and actual levels of the independent variables used for the central composite design.

Independent variables	Code units		Coded variable level		ole level
		_	-1	0	1
C_{DES} (w/v, %)	\mathbf{X}_1		50	65	80
R _{L/S}	X_2		20	35	50

Design point	Independent variables		Response (Y _{TP} , mg GAE g ⁻¹ dw)		
	$C_{\text{DES}}(\mathbf{X}_1)$	R _{moL} (X ₂)	Measured	Predicted	
1	-1	-1	82.33	81.23	
2	-1	1	80.86	80.13	
3	1	-1	91.29	91.67	
4	1	1	89.45	90.21	
5	-1	0	80.78	82.61	
6	1	0	94.01	92.87	
7	0	-1	78.02	78.74	
8	0	1	77.49	77.46	
9	0	0	79.36	80.02	

 Table 7: Measured and predicted responses for all design points considered for the experimental design.

2.2.5. Kinetics and temperature assay

Amount of 1.56 g of dry OLL powder was mixed with 50 mL of solvent, $[C_{\text{DES}} = 80\% \text{ (w/v)},$ $R_{\text{L/S}} = 32 \text{ mL g}^{-1}]$ and extractions were performed as described above, within a temperature range of 40-70 °C. Sampling was accomplished at regular intervals (5-280 min) to measure Y_{TP}. The second-order model, as previously described (Cavdarova and Makris, 2014), was obtained by plotting *t*/Y_{TP} as a function of *t* (**Fig. 10**). Then kinetic parameters including second-order extraction rate constant (*k*), initial extraction rate (*h*) and extraction yield at saturation (Y_{TP(s)}) were determined. Likewise, the effect of temperature was estimated by calculating the activation energy (*E*_a), according to a previous study (Makris, 2016). Diffusivity was estimated as described in details elsewhere (Blidi *et al.*, 2015).

2.2.6. Determinations

2.2.6.1. Total polyphenol yield (YTP)

A well-established protocol was used (Blidi *et al.*, 2015). Briefly, 0.78 mL of distilled water, 0.02 mL of sample extract and 0.05 mL of Folin-Ciocalteu reagent (2 M) were added in a 1.5-mL Eppendorf tube. After exactly 1 min, 0.15 mL of aqueous sodium carbonate 20% (w/v) was added, and the mixture was allowed to stand at room temperature in the dark, for 60 min. The absorbance was read at 750 nm (A₇₅₀) in a Shimadzu UV-1700 UV-Vis Spectrophotometer (Tokyo, Japan), and the total polyphenol concentration (C_{TP}), expressed in mg L⁻¹, was calculated from a calibration curve, using gallic acid as a standard. Yield in total polyphenols (Y_{TP}) was determined as mg gallic acid equivalents (GAE) per g of dry weight (dw), using the following equation:

$$Y_{\rm TP} \,({\rm mg \ GAE \ g^{-1} \ dw}) = \frac{C_{\rm TP} \times V}{m} \tag{1}$$

where, *V* is the volume of the extraction medium (in L) and *m* the dry weight of OLL (in g).

2.2.6.2. Total flavonoid yield (Y_{TFn})

A previously published protocol was used (Makris, 2016). An aliquot of 0.25 mL sample extract was mixed with 0.75 mL AlCl₃ reagent (0.16% (w/v) AlCl₃ in 5% (v/v) acetic acid in methanol) and allowed to stand for 30 min, at room temperature. The absorbance was obtained at 415 nm (A₄₁₅) and the total flavonoid concentration (C_{TFn}), expressed in mg L⁻¹, was calculated from a calibration curve, constructed with rutin (quercetin 3-*O*-rutinoside) as the calibration standard. Yield in total flavonoids (Y_{TFn}), expressed as mg rutin equivalents (RtE) per g of dw OLL, was determined using the following equation:

$$Y_{\text{TFn}} (\text{mg RtE g}^{-1} \text{ dw}) = \frac{C_{\text{TFn}} \times V}{m}$$
(2)

where, V is the volume of the extraction medium (in L) and m the dry weight of OLL (in g).

2.2.6.3. Reducing power (P_R)

A previously reported methodology was employed (Blidi *et al.*, 2015). Sample extract (0.05 mL) was mixed thoroughly with 0.05 mL FeCl₃ solution (4 mM in 0.05 M HCl), and incubated for 30 min in a water bath at 37 °C. Following this, 0.90 mL TPTZ solution (1 mM in 0.05 M HCl) were added, and the absorbance was recorded at 620 nm after exactly 5 min. P_R was determined as µmoL ascorbic acid equivalents (µmoL AAE) per g of dw OLL, was determined using the following equation:

$$Y_{P_{R}} (\mu moL AAE g^{-1} dw) = \frac{C_{P_{R}} \times V}{m}$$
(3)

where, V is the volume of the extraction medium (in L) and m the dry weight of OLL (in g).

2.2.6.4. Antiradical activity (AAR)

The assay was performed using a well-established methodology (Shehata *et al.*, 2015). A volume of 0.025 mL sample extract was mixed with 0.975 mL DPPH solution (80 μ M in methanol) and the absorbance at 515 nm was read immediately after mixing (A_{515(i)}) and after exactly 30 min (A_{515(f)}). The A_{AR} was determined as μ moL DPPH per g of dw OLL, using the following equation:

$$A_{AR} (\mu \text{moL DPPH } g^{-1} \text{ dw}) = \frac{C_{DPPH}}{C_{TP}} \times \left(1 - \frac{A_{515(f)}}{A_{515(i)}}\right) \times Y_{TP}$$
(4)

where, C_{DPPH} is the initial molar concentration of DPPH (µmoL L⁻¹); C_{TP} is the total polyphenol concentration of the extract, expressed as mg GAE L⁻¹ and Y_{TP} is the total polyphenol yield of the extract, expressed as mg GAE g⁻¹ dw.

2.2.7. Qualitative liquid chromatography-diode array-mass spectrometry (LC-DAD-MS)

A previously described methodology (Blidi *et al.*, 2015) was employed to tentatively characterise the principal polyphenolic metabolites, with some modifications. Briefly, the equipment used was a Finnigan MAT Spectra System P4000 pump, coupled with a UV6000LP diode array detector and a Finnigan AQA mass spectrometer. A Fortis RP-18 column, $150 \times 2.1 \text{ mm}$, 3 µm, was used, at 40 °C. Analyses were performed with electrospray ionization (ESI) in positive ion mode, with acquisition set at 5 and 50 eV, capillary voltage 4 kV, source voltage 25 V, detector voltage 650 V and probe temperature 350 °C. Eluent (A) and eluent (B) were 1%

acetic acid and methanol, respectively. The flow rate was 0.2 mL min⁻¹, and the elution programme used was as follows: 0-2 min, 10% B; 2-40 min, 100% B; 45 min, 100% B.

2.2.8. Statistics

Extractions were repeated at least twice and all determinations at least in triplicate. Values reported are averages and standard deviations. Linear and non-linear regressions were performed with SigmaPlot[®] 12.0. Central composite experimental design and all associated statistics were performed with JMP[®] 10.

2.3. Results and discussion

2.3.1. DES synthesis and optimisation of solvent composition

In an earlier investigation (Bakirtzi *et al.*, 2016), DES composed of L-lactic acid and glycine at a molar ratio 3:1 was shown to be unstable, yielding a plastic solid. This mixture was successfully tailored by adding 3 moles of water, to give a stable DES, which was found to be a very efficient solvent for the extraction of polyphenolic antioxidants from various medicinal herbs, compared with a few other L-lactic acid-based DES that contained organic salts as HBAs. This finding evidenced that glycine might be a HBA with a high potency in forming DES with enhanced extraction efficiency. In this context, attempts were undertaken to combine glycerol (HBD) with glycine, in the view of synthesising an efficient and more cost-effective solvent, which could have an important prospect for polyphenol recovery. To this purpose, glycerol was combined with glycine starting from a molar ratio 1:1, but up to ratio 6:1 all mixtures were unstable, giving crystallisation. A ratio of 7:1 was of improved stability as the crystallisation observed was limited, but stability was assured through tailoring with 3 moles of water. Thus the final composition of the DES was glycerol:glycine:water (7:1:3). This DES was used for further examination.

The next step was the optimisation of the extraction process with respect to DES concentration (C_{DES}) and the liquid-to-solid ratio ($R_{\text{L/S}}$), two critical parameters that largely define extraction yield (Blidi *et al.*, 2015). For this scope, a central composite design with one central point was used and the extraction efficiency was estimated by determining the total polyphenol yield (Y_{TP}). The effect of the simultaneous variation of the independent variables (C_{DES} and $R_{\text{L/S}}$) was illustrated in the form of a 3D plot (**Fig. 8**). Variations in $R_{\text{L/S}}$ provoked rather weak changes in Y_{TP} , but switching of C_{DES} had a pronounced impact in this regard. This is in line with the outcome of recent studies, which demonstrated that water content between 10 and 50% may greatly enhance the extraction performance of various DES (Dai *et al.*, 2013a). This is because mixing the DES with water regulates properties such as polarity and viscosity,

which are directly related with the extraction capacity of a solvent (Dai *et al.*, 2013b). Depending on the polyphenols to be extracted, the ideal water content may vary up to approximately 64% (v/v) (Jancheva *et al.*, 2017).



Fig. 8: 3D plot displaying the effect of simultaneous variation of C_{DES} and $R_{\text{L/S}}$ on Y_{TP} . OLL Extractions were carried out at 50 °C, under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, for 120 min.

To assess quantitatively the combined effect of both independent variables, the desirability function was used (**Fig. 9**). It was found that only C_{DES} and its quadratic term were significant (p < 0.005) and therefore removal of the non-significant terms gave the following model (mathematical equation):

$$Y_{\text{TP}} (\text{mg GAE } \text{g}^{-1} \text{dw}) = 80.02 + 5.26X_1 + 7.71X_1^2$$

$$(R^2 = 0.97, p = 0.0043)$$
(5)



Fig. 9: The use of desirability function to predict the optimal combination of C_{DES} and $R_{\text{L/S}}$ to achieve maximum Y_{TP} , under the conditions employed. The inse table illustrates the significance of each C_{DES} and $R_{\text{L/S}}$, as well as their quadratic and cross terms, to the model.

Using the fitted model, the optimal condition was found to be $C_{\text{DES}} = 80\%$ (w/v). Although R_{L/S} exerted a non-significant effect on the model, the optimal value determined (32 mL g⁻¹) was adopted, because it was within the range reported for polyphenol extraction with DES (Jancheva *et al.*, 2017). Under these conditions, the estimated maximum Y_{TP} was 92.94±3.15 mg GAE g⁻¹ dw.

2.3.2. Extraction kinetics - Effect of temperature

In order to further evaluate the extraction capacity of the solvent, the optimal conditions (C_{DES} = 80% (w/v), $R_{\text{L/S}}$ = 32 mL g⁻¹) were used to trace extraction kinetics, with the aim to estimating some basic kinetic parameters and the effect of temperature. The model best fitted to the data generated was second-order kinetics (**Fig. 10**), as previously shown for OLL extraction with aqueous glycerol and aqueous ethanol (Apostolakis *et al.*, 2014), but also with various glycerol-based DES for polyphenol extraction from *Satureja thymbra* (Jancheva *et al.*, 2017). It can be seen in **Table 8** that an increase in *T* from 40 to 70 °C revealed kinetics obeying the Arrhenius model, giving $E_a = 29.55$ kJ moL⁻¹. This value was higher than that determined for polyphenol

extraction from red grape pomace with aqueous glycerol (13.94 kJ moL⁻¹) (Trasanidou *et al.*, 2016), but lower than those reported for polyphenol extraction with aqueous glycerol from onion solid wastes (31.52 kJ moL⁻¹) (Katsampa *et al.*, 2015) and *Artemisia* (37.64 kJ moL⁻¹) (Shehata *et al.*, 2015). However, similar data for polyphenol extraction with DES are not available in the literature.



Fig. 10: Time course of Y_{TP} (upper plot) during extraction of OLL with the DES, under optimal conditions [$C_{DES} = 80\%$ (w/v) and $R_{L/S} = 32$ mL g⁻¹]. The lower plot shows the second-order kinetics.

T (°C)	Kinetic parameters					
	<i>k</i> (× 10 ⁻³)	h	Y _{TP(s)}	De	Ea	
	$(g mg^{-1} min^{-1})$	$(mg g^{-1} min^{-1})$	(mg GAE g^{-1})	$(m s^{-1}) \times 10^{-12}$	(kJ moL ⁻¹)	
40	0.750	6.63	94.04	0.127		
50	1.157	12.12	102.36	0.138	20.55	
60	1.240	14.16	106.87	0.205	29.33	
70	1.864	23.10	111.33	1.041		

Table 8: Parameters of second-order kinetics, determined for the extraction of TP from OLL, using 80% (w/v) aqueous DES. Extractions were performed under continuous stirring at 600 rpm and $R_{L/S} = 32 \text{ mL g}^{-1}$.

The effect of temperature on diffusivity (D_e) followed a similar trend, but a significant increase, approximately by 5-fold, was recorded when the temperature was raised from 60 to 70 °C. Such a steep change might be associated with a sharp decrease in viscosity, since according to Stokes-Einstein equation, diffusion (D) is reciprocally related with viscosity (Karakashov *et al.*, 2015). It has been proposed that aqueous DES solutions could be disintegrated through hydrogen bond rupture, by the energy provided through temperature increase, hence abolishing their unique properties (Jancheva *et al.*, 2017). Such a theory could explain this unusual behaviour, yet it is to be proven. It should be emphasised that such a phenomenon has not been described in studies on polyphenol extraction with conventional solvents, where diffusivity increases in response to raising the temperature were much smoother (Trasanidou *et al.*, 2016; Katsampa *et al.*, 2015; Shehata *et al.*, 2015). On the other hand, if DES disintegration occurred, then a drop in its extraction capacity would have been observed, leading to lower YTP and YTFn, but this was not the case. Therefore, the steep increase in D_e recorded at 70 °C might be attributed to a weakening of hydrogen bonds between the HBD and HBA, and not complete rupture.

2.3.3. Comparison with conventional eco-friendly solvents

To bring out the extraction capacity of the DES used, extraction of OLL was carried out under optimised conditions, at 70 °C, and the results were compared with those obtained using distilled water and 60% ethanol (AE), but also 60% methanol (AM), which was used as a positive control. The results showed that extraction with the DES afforded almost 18% higher Y_{TP} than AE, over than 24% higher than AM and approximately 29% higher than water (**Fig. 11**, upper plot). To further illustrate the higher capacity of the DES, Y_{TFn} was also determined. In the same fashion, extraction with the DES gave 9.6, 15.3 and 43.8% higher Y_{TFn}, compared with AE, AM and water, respectively (**Fig. 11**, lower plot). Regarding A_{AR}, extracts with AM and AE had comparable levels of 656.0 and 643.8 µmoL DPPH g⁻¹ dw, but the DES extract

exhibited $A_{AR} = 1097.8 \ \mu\text{moL}$ DPPH g⁻¹ dw (**Fig. 12**, upper plot). Likewise, AM and AE extracts had P_R values of 381.6 and 394.9 μmoL AAE g⁻¹ dw, but P_R for the DES extract was 445.1 μmoL AAE g⁻¹ dw (**Fig. 12**, lower plot). These findings clearly demonstrated that the DES used was far more efficient than AE and water, yielding extracts with higher total polyphenol and total flavonoid content, but also with superior antioxidant properties.



Fig. 11: Comparative diagram for Y_{TP} (upper plot) and Y_{TFn} (lower plot), obtained using 80% (w/v) DES, 60% aqueous methanol (AM), 60% aqueous ethanol (AE) and distilled water (W). Extractions were carried out at 70 °C, at $R_{L/S} = 32 \text{ mL g}^{-1}$, under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, for 280 min.



Fig. 12: Comparative diagram for A_{AR} (upper plot) and P_R (lower plot), determined for OLL extracts obtained using 80% (w/v) DES, 60% aqueous methanol (AM), 60% aqueous ethanol (AE) and distilled water (W). Extractions were carried out at 70 °C, at $R_{L/S} = 32$ mL g⁻¹, under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, for 280 min.

At this point, it should be emphasised that the antioxidant activity seen in the OLL extracts has been proposed to be the integration of interactions amongst the polyphenolic constituents, rather than that of the individual substances (Lee and Lee, 2010). Such a claim has been demonstrated by studies that assessed the antiradical behaviour of mixtures of pure antioxidants and extracts (Karvela *et al.*, 2012). However, compounds such as hydroxytyrosol and luteolin

7-*O*-glucoside were shown to be major radical scavengers in OLL extracts (Goulas *et al.*, 2010) and it is likely that their levels in OLL extracts may affect significantly their antioxidant potency. However, since the polyphenolic composition and hence the antioxidant activity of OLL is subject to seasonal variations (Goulas *et al.*, 2010) and age (Laguerre *et al.*, 2009), then methodologies that maximise extraction yield, as the one proposed herein, could assure extracts with high antioxidant activity.

2.3.4. Characterisation of principal polyphenols

The DES extract that displayed the highest Y_{TP} was analysed by LC-DAD-MS to tentatively characterise its polyphenolic profile. At this point it should be stressed that although olive leaf extracts from various Greek native varieties have been examined (Mitsopoulos *et al.*, 2016), data on the particular variety Agrielia Kalamon used in this study, to the best of our knowledge, are inexistent. In total, ten compounds could be identified including secoiridoid, flavone and flavonol derivatives (**Table 9**). Critical comparison with previous studies on olive leaf extract composition (Mourtzinos *et al.*, 2016; Apostolakis *et al.*, 2014; Mylonaki *et al.*, 2008) showed the presence of two oleoside derivatives (compounds 1 and 2) and a quercetin derivative with m/z = 603 (compound 5), which was heretofore unreported. Other common representatives, including oleuropein (compound 10), a luteolin di-glycoside (compound 4), which most probably corresponds to luteolin 4',7-*O*-di-glucoside, two luteolin rutinosides (compounds 6 and 7) and an apigenin rutinoside (compound 9) were also present. On the other hand, no rutin (quercetin 3-*O*-rutinoside) or verbascoside, which are commonly encountered constituents (Jerman Klen *et al.*, 2015), were detected.

No	Rt (min)	UV-Vis	$[\mathbf{M} + \mathbf{H}]^+ (m/z)$	Other ions (m/z)	Tentative identity
1	14.24	288, 322(s)	391	413 [M + Na] ⁺ , 261	Oleoside
2	18.80	288, 332	391	413 [M + Na] ⁺ , 229	Oleoside
3	22.86	248, 348	765	579, 503, 233	Luteolin derivative
4	23.36	266, 340	611	449, 287	Luteolin di-glycoside
5	24.96	264, 318, 368	603	475, 303	Quercetin derivative
6	25.90	248, 280(s), 356	595	617 [M + Na] ⁺ , 449, 287	Luteolin rutinoside
7	26.39	248, 354	595	617 [M + Na] ⁺ , 449, 287	Luteolin rutinoside
8	26.69	252, 280	541	563, 361, 137	Oleuropein isomer
9	27.30	244, 340	579	271	Apigenin rutinoside
10	28.38	252, 280	541	563, 385, 345	Oleuropein

Table 9: UV-Vis and mass spectrometric data of the major polyphenols detected in the OLL extracts, obtained with 80% (w/v) DES, at 70 °C.

2.4. Conclusions

In this investigation, a newly synthesised DES composed of two biomolecules, glycerol and glycine, was tested for its effectiveness in extracting polyphenolic antioxidants from OLL. Following a first stage of parameter optimisation, this particular DES was demonstrated to be highly efficient, giving significantly increased polyphenol yield compared with conventional bio-solvents, such as aqueous ethanol and water. The DES extract also displayed stronger antioxidant effects. Thus this solvent is proposed as an eco-friendly means of boosting polyphenol recovery through solid-liquid extraction and this may also pave the way for more effective valorisation of other phytochemicals, from agri-food waste biomass. Since the solvent is composed of non-toxic substances naturally occurring in foods, the extracts may be directly used as bioactive constituents in food/cosmetic/pharmaceutical formulations, where this would be convenient, thus negating the need of downstream processing for solvent removal. This would eventually lead in lower cost and energy consumption, in line with a sustainable process. Currently, work is in progress to test a broader range of glycine-based DES, in an effort to further improve polyphenol extraction.

References

- Abaza, L., Taamalli, A., Nsir, H., & Zarrouk, M. (2015). Olive tree (*Olea europeae* L.) leaves: Importance and advances in the analysis of phenolic compounds. *Antioxidants*, 4 (4), 682-698.
- Apostolakis, A., Grigorakis, S., & Makris, D.P. (2014). Optimisation and comparative kinetics study of polyphenol extraction from olive leaves (*Olea europaea*) using heated water/glycerol mixtures. *Separation and Purification Technology*, **128**, 89-95.
- Bakirtzi, C., Triantafyllidou, K., & Makris, D.P. (2016). Novel lactic acid-based natural deep eutectic solvents: Efficiency in the ultrasound-assisted extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from common native Greek medicinal plants. *Journal of Applied Research on Medicinal and Aromatic Plants*, **3** (3), 120-127.
- Barba, F.J., Zhu, Z., Koubaa, M., Sant'Ana, A.S., & Orlien, V. (2016). Green alternative methods for the extraction of antioxidant bioactive compounds from winery wastes and byproducts: A review. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, **49**, 96-109.
- Blidi, S., Bikaki, M., Grigorakis, S., Loupassaki, S., & Makris, D.P. (2015). A comparative evaluation of bio-solvents for the efficient extraction of polyphenolic phytochemicals: Apple waste peels as a case study. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, 6 (6), 1125-1133.

- Cavdarova, M., & Makris, D.P. (2014). Extraction kinetics of phenolics from carob (*Ceratonia siliqua* L.) kibbles using environmentally benign solvents. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, 5 (5), 773-779.
- Dai, Y., van Spronsen, J., Witkamp, G.J., Verpoorte, R., & Choi, Y.H. (2013b). Natural deep eutectic solvents as new potential media for green technology. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 766, 61-68.
- Dai, Y., Witkamp, G.J., Verpoorte, R., & Choi, Y.H. (2013a). Natural deep eutectic solvents as a new extraction media for phenolic metabolites in *Carthamus tinctorius* L. *Analytical Chemistry*, 85 (13), 6272-6278.
- Goulas, V., Papoti, V.T., Exarchou, V., Tsimidou, M.Z., & Gerothanassis, I.P. (2010).
 Contribution of flavonoids to the overall radical scavenging activity of olive (*Olea europaea* L.) leaf polar extracts. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58 (6), 3303-3308.
- Jancheva, M., Grigorakis, S., Loupassaki, S., & Makris, D.P. (2017). Optimised extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from *Satureja thymbra* using newly designed glycerol-based natural low-transition temperature mixtures (LTTMs). *Journal of Applied Research on Medicinal and Aromatic Plants*, doi: 10.1016/j.jarmap.2017.01.002.
- Jerman Klen, T., Golc Wondra, A., Vrhovšek, U., & Mozetič Vodopivec, B. (2015). Phenolic profiling of olives and olive oil process-derived matrices using UPLC-DAD-ESI-QTOF-HRMS analysis. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 63 (15), 3859-3872.
- Karakashov, B., Grigorakis, S., Loupassaki, S., & Makris, D.P. (2015). Optimisation of polyphenol extraction from *Hypericum perforatum* (St. John's Wort) using aqueous glycerol and response surface methodology. *Journal of Applied Research on Medicinal and Aromatic Plants*, 2 (1), 1-8.
- Karvela, E., Makris, D.P., & Karathanos, V.T. (2012). Implementation of response surface methodology to assess the antiradical behaviour in mixtures of ascorbic acid and αtocopherol with grape (*Vitis vinifera*) stem extracts. *Food Chemistry*, **132** (1), 351-359.
- Katsampa, P., Valsamedou, E., Grigorakis, S., & Makris, D.P. (2015). A green ultrasoundassisted extraction process for the recovery of antioxidant polyphenols and pigments from onion solid wastes using Box-Behnken experimental design and kinetics. *Industrial Crops* and Products, **77**, 535-543.
- Laguerre, M., Giraldo, L.J.L., Piombo, G., Figueroa-Espinoza, M.C., Pina, M., Benaissa, M., Combe, A., Castera, A.R., Lecomte, J., & Villeneuve, P. (2009). Characterization of oliveleaf phenolics by ESI-MS and evaluation of their antioxidant capacities by the CAT assay. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 86 (12), 1215-1225.

- Lee, O.H., & Lee, B.Y. (2010). Antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of individual and combined phenolics in *Olea europaea* leaf extract. *Bioresource Technology*, **101** (10), 3751-3754.
- Li, A.N., Li, S., Zhang, Y.J., Xu, X.R., Chen, Y.M., & Li, H.B. (2014). Resources and biological activities of natural polyphenols. *Nutrients*, **6** (12), 6020-6047.
- Makris, D.P. (2016). Kinetics of ultrasound-assisted flavonoid extraction from agri-food solid wastes using water/glycerol mixtures. *Resources*, **5** (1), 7.
- Mirabella, N., Castellani, V., & Sala, S. (2014). Current options for the valorization of food manufacturing waste: A review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, **65**, 28-41.
- Misra, N.N., Cullen, P.J., Barba, F.J., Hii, C.L., Jaeger, H., Schmidt, J., Kovács, A., & Yoshida,
 H. (2015). *Emerging macroscopic pretreatment*. In Food Waste Recovery: Processing Technologies and Industrial Techniques, Eds Galanakis, C.M., 1st eds., Academic Press, 9, 197-225.
- Mitsopoulos, G., Papageorgiou, V., Komaitis, M., & Hagidimitriou, M. (2016). Phenolic profile of leaves and drupes of ten olive varieties. *Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca*, 44 (1), 162.
- Mouratoglou, E., Malliou, V., & Makris, D.P. (2016). Novel glycerol-based natural eutectic mixtures and their efficiency in the ultrasound-assisted extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from Agri-food waste biomass. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, 7 (6), 1377-1387.
- Mourtzinos, I., Anastasopoulou, E., Petrou, A., Grigorakis, S., Makris, D., & Biliaderis, C.G. (2016). Optimization of a green extraction method for the recovery of polyphenols from olive leaf using cyclodextrins and glycerin as co-solvents. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, **53** (11), 3939-3947.
- Mylonaki, S., Kiassos, E., Makris, D.P., & Kefalas, P. (2008). Optimisation of the extraction of olive (*Olea europaea*) leaf phenolics using water/ethanol-based solvent systems and response surface methodology. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, **392** (5), 977.
- Obied, H.K., Prenzler, P.D., Omar, S.H., Ismael, R., Servili, M., Esposto, S., Taticchi, A., Selvaggini, R., & Urbani, S. (2012). *Pharmacology of olive biophenols*. In Advances in Molecular Toxicology, Eds Fishbein, J.C., Vol. 6, 6, 195-242.
- Paiva, A., Craveiro, R., Aroso, I., Martins, M., Reis, R.L., & Duarte, A.R.C. (2014). Natural deep eutectic solvents-solvents for the 21st century. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 2 (5), 1063-1071.
- Rombaut, N., Tixier, A.S., Bily, A., & Chemat, F. (2014). Green extraction processes of natural products as tools for biorefinery. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining*, 8 (4), 530-544.

- Rosello-Soto, E., Koubaa, M., Moubarik, A., Lopes, R.P., Saraiva, J.A., Boussetta, N., Grimi, N., & Barba, F.J. (2015). Emerging opportunities for the effective valorization of wastes and by-products generated during olive oil production process: Non-conventional methods for the recovery of high-added value compounds. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, **45** (2), 296-310.
- Shehata, E., Grigorakis, S., Loupassaki, S., & Makris, D.P. (2015). Extraction optimisation using water/glycerol for the efficient recovery of polyphenolic antioxidants from two *Artemisia* species. *Separation and Purification Technology*, **149**, 462-469.
- Talhaoui, N., Taamalli, A., Gómez-Caravaca, A.M., Fernández-Gutiérrez, A., & Segura-Carretero, A. (2015). Phenolic compounds in olive leaves: Analytical determination, biotic and abiotic influence, and health benefits. *Food Research International*, **77**, 92-108.
- Trasanidou, D., Apostolakis, A., & Makris, D.P. (2016). Development of a green process for the preparation of antioxidant and pigment-enriched extracts from winery solid wastes using response surface methodology and kinetics. *Chemical Engineering Communications*, 203 (10), 1317-1325.
- Tzima, K., Kallithraka, S., Kotseridis, Y., & Makris, D.P. (2015). A comparative evaluation of aqueous natural organic acid media for the efficient recovery of flavonoids from red grape (*Vitis vinifera*) pomace. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, 6 (3), 391-400.


Chapter 3:

Methyl-β-cyclodextrin as a booster for the extraction for *Olea europaea* leaf polyphenols with a bio-based deep eutectic solvent

Abstract

A novel deep eutectic solvent (DES) with optimized composition was used to evaluate the effect of methyl- β -cyclodextrin (m- β -CD) on the efficiency of polyphenol extraction from *O. europaea* leaves (OLL). The process developed was based on a Box-Behnken experimental design and response surface methodology, to assess the simultaneous effect of m- β -CD concentration ($C_{m-\beta-CD}$), liquid-to-solid ratio ($R_{L/S}$) and temperature (*T*). Under optimized conditions ($C_{m-\beta-CD} = 9\%$, $R_{L/S} = 40$ mL g⁻¹, T = 51 °C), the yield in total polyphenols (Y_{TP}) was 116.65±3.60 mg gallic acid equivalents per g dry weight. This value was significantly higher than that determined for the extraction performed with 60% aqueous ethanol. The extraction kinetics also showed that the extraction rate was slowed down in the presence of m- β -CD, yet the higher extraction capacity of the DES/m- β -CD medium was confirmed. Characterization of the extracts obtained with DES/m- β -CD and DES by means of liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry demonstrated that there was no selective extraction of any particular polyphenol, suggesting that m- β -CD acted merely as an extraction booster.

Keywords: Antioxidants; Deep eutectic solvents; Methyl-β-cyclodextrin; *Olea europaea*; Polyphenols

3.1. Introduction

Nowadays it is regarded imminent to emerging circular economy that the waste biomass deriving from the agricultural and food sector should not be simply treated as waste, but rather as a bioresource with high potential in value-added substances, chemicals and fuels. Agroindustrial activity accounts for the production of a large volume of wastes, including processing residues, such as leaves, branches, peels, roots, stems and seeds. This biomass is usually undervalorized; in spite its richness in an array of high value-added substances. A highly regarded class of phytochemicals of broad occurrence in agri-food wastes is polyphenols, embracing a bewildering diversity of structures (Tsao, 2010). A plethora of these compounds exhibits biological properties of particular interest, including anti-inflammatory and chemopreventive activities (Brglez Mojzer *et al.*, 2016) and therefore they are considered to have an undisputed perspective as bioactive agents in food, pharmaceutical and cosmetics industry.

Mediterranean countries are facing pressure to deal with problems associated with agrifood wastes, typical to their native principal crops, such olives. Olive industry wastes not properly treated are a primal environmental issue for olive-producing countries, and therefore strategies aiming at valorising olive wastes, especially those allowing a sustainable recovery of valuable natural components, are gaining acceptance. Olive leaves, a regular olive-processing residue, may bear a high load of polyphenols with potential pharmacological applications (Obied *et al.*, 2012), hence various extraction methodologies have been developed for their effective recovery. However, green procedures for effective olive leaf polyphenol retrieval are rather limited but the use of eco-friendly extraction techniques may represent unprecedented opportunities to face such challenge in a sustainable manner.

A selective solvent with a high solubility of the target compounds is a salient feature of processes destined to achieve a high yield of target compounds in a short process time. Most of the extraction procedures are based on regulating solvent properties to increase solubility of the solute molecules, by modifying solvent polarity. Apart from its physical-chemical capacity in dissolving the target compound(s), the toxicity of a solvent and the environmental impact by its use should also be considered. In this view, deep eutectic solvents (DES), which are composed of inexpensive, recyclable and non-toxic natural substances (e.g. sugars, organic acids and salts etc.) appear as the most promising prospect. This is because characteristics including low vapour pressure, absence of flammability and water miscibility make DES ideal solvents for a range of sustainable and eco-friendly applications (Alonso *et al.*, 2016).

Cyclodextrins are natural cyclic oligosaccharides originating from enzymic cleavage of starch, and they comprise of 6, 7 or 8 glucose units linked by $\alpha(1\rightarrow 4)$ glycosidic bond.

Cyclodextrin structure has a truncated cone shape, with a hydrophobic cavity inside and a hydrophilic external surface; therefore, cyclodextrins can form inclusion complexes with sparingly water-soluble molecules (such as polyphenols), increasing their solubility (Pinho *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, cyclodextrin encapsulation of polyphenols contributes in higher stability and controlled release (Munin and Edwards-Lévy, 2011).

Recent studies showed that combining 2-hydroxypropyl- β -cyclodextrin with aqueous glycerol may effectively increase yield of polyphenol extraction (Kyriakidou *et al.*, 2016; Mourtzinos *et al.*, 2016). Similar results were reported for water extraction of apple flavonols, using various cyclodextrins (Parmar *et al.*, 2015). In the light of such evidence, the study carried out aimed at testing the efficiency of polyphenol extraction from OLL, using a combination of methyl- β -cyclodextrin (m- β -CD) with a glycerol-based DES (Athanasiadis *et al.*, 2017). The process was first optimized by implementing a central composite design and performance assessment was based on kinetics and extract characterization, using representative antioxidant tests and liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry.

3.2. Materials and methods

3.2.1. Chemicals and reagents

HPLC grade solvents were used for liquid chromatography. Folin-Ciocalteu reagent was from Fluka (Steinheim, Germany). Ferric chloride hexahydrate and ascorbic acid was from Acros Organics (Geel, Belgium). Glycerol and aluminium chloride were from Fisher Scientific (New Jersey, U.S.A.). Sodium acetate was from Penta (Prague, Czeck Republic). Methyl-β-cyclodextrin, gallic acid, 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), rutin (quercetin 3-*O*-rutinoside), glycine and 2,4,6-tripyridyl-*s*-triazine (TPTZ) were from Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany).

3.2.2. Plant material and DES synthesis

Details regarding collection and handling of *O. europaea* leaves (OLL) have been analytically described elsewhere (Mylonaki *et al.*, 2008). The material used for extraction was dried OLL powder, with an average mean particle diameter of approximately 0.5 mm. For DES synthesis, the optimised conditions were used (Athanasiadis *et al.*, 2017). Briefly, the DES was prepared using glycerol as the hydrogen bond donor (HBD) and glycine as the hydrogen bond acceptor (HBA), at a molar ratio HBD:HBA:water of 7:1:3. Aqueous solution 80% (w/v) of this DES was employed for all extractions performed.

3.2.3. Batch extraction process

A suitable amount of OLL powder was mixed with the DES and m- β -CD in a 50-mL glass vial and extractions were carried out under continuous stirring on a magnetic stirrer, at 600 rpm, for 180 min. The amount of OLL powder, the concentration of m- β -CD and the temperature of the extraction were defined by the experimental design (**Table 10**). After the completion of each extraction, samples were centrifuged at 20,000 × g and the clear supernatant was used for all analysis, after dilution 1:20 with water.

Table	10 :	Actual	values	and	coded	levels	of th	e	independent	variables	used	for	the	Box-
Behnk	en ez	xperime	ental des	sign.										

Independent variables	Code units	Coded variable level			
		-1	0	1	
$C_{ ext{m-}eta- ext{CD}}$ (%, w/v)	X_1	1	5	9	
$R_{L/S} (mL g^{-1})$	X_2	10	25	40	
<i>T</i> (°C)	X 3	40	50	60	

3.2.4. Experimental design

A Box-Behnken experimental design was used, as described previously (Karvela *et al.*, 2009), with the yield in total polyphenols (Y_{TP}) as the response. The three independent variables considered were the concentration of m- β -CD ($C_{m-\beta-CD}$) (X₁, varying between 1 and 9 %, w/v), liquid-to-solid ratio (R_{L/S}) (X₂, varying between 10 and 40 mL g⁻¹) and temperature (*T*) (X₃, varying between 40 and 60 °C). The range used for each variable was chosen on the basis of previous findings (Kyriakidou *et al.*, 2016) and preliminary experimentation. Each variable was coded at three levels, -1, 0 and 1 (**Table 10**), according to the following equation:

$$x_{i} = \frac{X_{i} - X_{0}}{\Delta X_{i}}, i = 1, 2, 3$$
(6)

The terms x_i and X_i represent the dimensionless and the actual value of the independent variable i, X_0 the actual value of the independent variable i at the central point, and ΔX_i the step change of X_i corresponding to a unit variation of the dimensionless value. For each design point, the response was determined and recorded (**Table 11**). Data from the experimental design were subjected to regression analysis using least square regression methodology to obtain the parameters of the mathematical models. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to assess the significance of the model. 3D plots were obtained using the fitted model.

Design point	Independent variables			Response (Y _{TP} , mg GAE g ⁻¹ dw)		
	X ₁	\mathbf{X}_2	X ₃	Measured	Predicted	
1	-1	-1	-1	74.67	75.17	
2	-1	-1	1	87.20	86.88	
3	-1	1	-1	104.94	105.56	
4	-1	1	1	112.30	112.99	
5	1	-1	-1	86.46	86.20	
6	1	-1	1	91.99	91.81	
7	1	1	-1	112.57	113.33	
8	1	1	1	114.72	114.66	
9	-1	0	0	103.27	101.78	
10	1	0	0	108.38	108.13	
11	0	-1	0	86.10	86.36	
12	0	1	0	114.98	112.98	
13	0	0	-1	99.42	97.80	
14	0	0	1	104.44	104.31	
15	0	0	0	102.68	103.68	
16	0	0	0	101.18	103.68	

Table 11: Measured and predicted value of YTP, determined for individual design points.

3.2.5. Kinetic and diffusivity (D_e) determination

Extractions were carried out as described above, under optimised conditions and sampling was accomplished at predetermined intervals (5 - 180 min), to calculate Y_{TP} . Then Y_{TP} was plotted against time (*t*) and model fitting was performed with non-linear regression. The second-order model was obtained after plotting t/Y_{TP} as a function of *t*, according to the following equation (Apostolakis *et al.*, 2014):

$$\frac{t}{Y_{TP(t)}} = \frac{1}{kY_{TP(s)}^2} + \frac{t}{Y_{TP(s)}}$$
(7)

The initial extraction rate (*h*) and the yield in total polyphenols at saturation ($Y_{TP(s)}$) were determined graphically, from the slope ($t/Y_{TP(s)}$) and the intercept (1/*h*), respectively. The second-order extraction rate constant (*k*) was then calculated:

$$h = k Y_{\rm TP(s)}^2 \tag{8}$$

Diffusivity (D_e) was determined using the linearized expression of Fick's second law for nonsteady state, as described previously (Shehata *et al.*, 2015):

$$1 - \frac{Y_{\text{TP(t)}}}{Y_{\text{TP(s)}}} = \frac{6}{\pi^2} e^{-\frac{D_e \pi^2 t}{r^2}}$$
(9)

 $D_{\rm e}$ calculation was based on the line with the shallow slop (slope $= \frac{D_{\rm e} \pi^2}{r^2}$), obtained by plotting $ln\left(\frac{Y_{\rm TP(s)}}{Y_{\rm TP(s)} - Y_{\rm TP(t)}}\right)$ against *t*. Where *r* is the radius of the solid particles.

3.2.6. Determinations

Total polyphenol yield (Y_{TP}) was determined using the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent and expressed as mg gallic acid equivalents (GAE) per g of dried material (Paleologou *et al.*, 2016). Total flavonoid yield was determined using the AlCl₃ reagent as described previously (Manousaki *et al.*, 2016) and expressed as mg rutin equivalents (RtE) per g of dried material. Ferric reducing power (P_R) was estimated using the TPTZ methodology (Paleologou *et al.*, 2016). The antiradical activity (A_{AR}) was measured with the DPPH probe. P_R and A_{AR} were expressed as µmol ascorbic acid equivalents (AAE) and µmol DPPH per g of dried material, respectively.

3.2.7. Qualitative liquid chromatography-diode array-mass spectrometry (LC-DAD-MS)

The equipment used was a Finnigan MAT Spectra System P4000 pump, coupled with a UV6000LP diode array detector and a Finnigan AQA mass spectrometer. A Fortis RP-18 column, 150×2.1 mm, 3 µm, was used, at 40 °C. Analyses were carried out as described elsewhere (Paleologou *et al.*, 2016).

3.2.8. Statistical analyses

All extractions were carried out twice and all determinations in triplicate. Values reported are averages. Response surface design and associated statistics were performed with JMPTM 10. Kinetics was estimated by non-linear regression between Y_{TP} and t, using SigmaPlotTM 12.0, at least at a 95% significance level.

3.3. Results and discussion

3.3.1. Extraction optimisation

The objective of the optimisation process was to assess simultaneously the effect of $C_{m-\beta-CD}$, $R_{L/S}$ and T on Y_{TP} . To do so, a Box-Behnken experimental design with two central points (points # 15 and 16, **Table 11**) was deployed and the trend in Y_{TP} variation as a function of parallel changes in all three process (independent) variables was recorded in the form of 3D plots (**Fig. 13**). The ANOVA test indicated that all process variables considered ($C_{m-\beta-CD}$, $R_{L/S}$ and T) exerted a statistically significant effect on Y_{TP} , but the terms T^2 , $C_{m-\beta-CD}^2$,

 $R_{L/S}$ ·*T* and $R_{L/S}$ ·*C*_{m- β -CD} were non-significant. Thus, the model obtained after omitting the non-significant terms was as follows:

 $Y_{\text{TP}} (\text{mg GAE } \text{g}^{-1} \text{dw}) = 103.68 + 3.17C_{\text{m-}\beta\text{-}\text{CD}} + 13.31R_{\text{L/S}} + 3.26T - 1.53C_{\text{m-}\beta\text{-}\text{CD}} \cdot T - 4.01R_{\text{L/S}}^2$



$$(\mathbf{R}^2 - 0.99, n < 0.0001) \tag{10}$$

With the use of the desirability function (**Fig. 14**), the recommended settings to achieve the highest Y_{TP} were estimated to be $C_{m-\beta-CD} = 9\%$ (w/v), $R_{L/S} = 40$ mL g⁻¹ and T = 51 °C. Under these conditions, the predicted Y_{TP} was 116.65±3.60 mg GAE g⁻¹ dw.



Fig. 14: Prediction profiler displaying the overall desirability of the model, along with the optimal $C_{m-\beta-CD}$, $R_{L/S}$ and T values. Extractions were carried out under stirring (600 rpm), at 50 °C, for 180 min.

The optimal RL/s found was close to 36.2 mL g⁻¹ reported for polyphenol extraction from *Satureja thymbra*, using a DES composed of glycerol and sodium acetate (3:1) (Jancheva *et al.*, 2017), and to 33.3 mL g⁻¹, determined as optimal for the extraction of polyphenols from *Carthamus tinctorius* L. using several choline chloride-based DES (Dai *et al.*, 2014). This is a corroboration that, unlike polyphenol extraction with conventional solvents that may display optimal RL/s of 90 - 120 mL g⁻¹ (Trasanidou *et al.*, 2016; Vetal *et al.*, 2013), polyphenol extraction with DES may be effectively performed using lower solvent volume. Such a feature is highly desirable, entailing the use of smaller equipment and lower cost. This prospect, so far disregarded, is particularly essential, highlighting another aspect of the use of DES as efficient solvents.

Likewise, the optimal T was 51 °C, suggesting that higher T did not favour polyphenol extraction. This outcome is in absolute accordance with a previous study, which demonstrated

that yield of polyphenol extraction from *Moringa oleifera* leaves with a glycerol-based DES dropped, when *T* was raised from 50 to 80 °C (Karageorgou *et al.*, 2017). This is also in line with recent data, which showed that yield of polyphenol extraction from red grape pomace with certain DES declined upon switching *T* from 60 to 80 °C (Patsea *et al.*, 2017). Such a trend was also seen in polyphenol extraction from *Equisetum palustre* L. using choline chloride-based DES (Qi *et al.*, 2015). This particular behaviour could be attributed to the nature of the DES, whose structure depends on the number and the strength of hydrogen bonds between the HBD and the HBA. The increase in extraction temperature may initially favour polyphenol extraction due to higher diffusivity, which stems from a decrease in viscosity (Karakashov *et al.*, 2015). However, further temperature increase may endow the system with energy sufficient to provoke hydrogen bond rupture and thus the extraction efficiency of the DES could be abrogated (Jancheva *et al.*, 2017).

With reference to the effect of $C_{m-\beta-CD}$, the optimal value determined by the model was 9% (w/v), which is fairly close to 7% (w/v) required for polyphenol extraction from olive leaves with aqueous glycerol (Mourtzinos *et al.*, 2016). However, 13% (w/v) 2-hydroxypropyl- β -cyclodextrin was determined as optimal for polyphenol extraction from oak acorn with aqueous glycerol (Kyriakidou *et al.*, 2016). Moreover, recovery of polyphenols from grape pomace was shown to be optimal using 1% (w/v) β -cyclodextrin in either 80% aqueous ethanol or water, whereas recoveries declined at higher β -cyclodextrin concentration (Ratnasooriya and Rupasinghe, 2012). Ligand inclusion in the m- β -CD cavity is a stoichiometric phenomenon and usually only one molecule may be incorporated into the cavity so as to become entrapped. Thus, it would normally be expected increased extraction yield as a response to raising $C_{m-\beta-CD}$, as previously demonstrated for β -cyclodextrin-aided polyphenol extraction (Rajha *et al.*, 2015).

Such a phenomenon may be attributed to the specific polyphenol/m- β -CD interactions. In an aqueous medium the driving force that enables polyphenol-m- β -CD complex formation is the displacement of water molecules outside the m- β -CD cavity and retention of the polyphenol within through apolar-apolar association (Del Valle, 2004). M- β -CD would increase solubility of the less polar polyphenols through entrapment and the eventual result seen could represent the integration of such an effect. On the other hand, polyphenols may behave as HBDs and interact with glycine of the DES, and a sort of antagonism may develop, most probably because m- β -CD might weaken polyphenol-glycine interactions. This could happen because polyphenol/m- β -CD complex formation involves strong hydrogen bond formation (Çelik *et al.*, 2015). Yet, since combinations of DES with m- β -CDs have never been previously reported, such an assumption is to be elucidated by profounder examinations.

3.3.2. Extraction kinetics

To further clarify the effect of the combination of DES/m- β -CD on the polyphenol extraction from OLL, a kinetic investigation was undertaken. The kinetic model implemented (**Fig. 15**) allowed for the determination of certain parameters that permitted a comparative evaluation. It can be seen in **Table 12** that *k* and *h* for the extractions carried out with DES and DES/m- β -CD were significantly lower (p < 0.05) compared with the corresponding determined for the aqueous ethanol extraction, indicating a much slower extraction rate. By contrast, differences in D_e were not so pronounced, yet extraction with aqueous ethanol displayed the highest value. This outcome was most probably attributed to the higher viscosity of the DES system, which might have resulted in low diffusivity, as observed in studies where viscous solvents, such as aqueous glycerol, were compared with water (Karakashov *et al.*, 2015) or aqueous ethanol (Paleologou *et al.*, 2016; Philippi *et al.*, 2016).



Fig. 15: Second-order kinetic models for the extraction of TP from OLL with the DES + m- β -CD, DES and 60% (v/v) aqueous ethanol. Extractions were carried out under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, at optimal $C_{m-\beta-CD}$, RL/s and T, for 180 min.

Solvent	Kinetic parameters				
	<i>k</i> (× 10 ⁻³)	h	$D_{\rm e}~(imes~10^{-12})$	Y _{TP(s)}	
	$(g mg^{-1} min^{-1})$	$(mg g^{-1} min^{-1})$	$(m s^{-1})$	(mg GAE g ⁻¹)	
$DES + m-\beta-CD$	0.502	6.82	6.06	116.58	
DES	0.867	10.46	5.42	109.93	
60% EtOH	3.576	32.82	7.44	95.81	

Table 12: Parameters of second-order kinetics, determined for the extraction of TP from OLL, under optimised conditions.

Extraction with the DES/m- β -CD afforded Y_{TP(s)} = 116.58 mg GAE g⁻¹ dw, which matched exactly the value predicted by the response surface model. This was a sound confirmation for the model validity. The Y_{TP(s)} attained with DES/m- β -CD was by 5.7% higher than that achieved with the DES and 17.8% higher than that with aqueous ethanol. The difference in Y_{TP(s)} between DES/m- β -CD and DES was not significant (p > 0.05), but m- β -CD enhanced significantly Y_{TP(s)} of the DES/m- β -CD compared with the aqueous ethanol (p < 0.05). This finding pointed clearly to a boosting of the extraction yield triggered by the addition of the m- β -CD in the DES, evidencing its improved effectiveness. It is to be noted that the use of various cyclodextrins, such as β -cyclodextrin (Rajha *et al.*, 2015; Mantegna *et al.*, 2012) or 2-hydroxypropyl- β -cyclodextrin (Kyriakidou *et al.*, 2016; Mourtzinos *et al.*, 2016) in combination with aqueous solvents resulted in increased extraction yields, suggesting that cyclodextrins can effectively enhance extraction efficiency. However, such an effect is for the first time reported for combination of DES and m- β -CD.

3.3.3. Model evaluation and efficiency testing

To check the applicability of the model established through the response surface methodology, extraction was repeated under optimal conditions and afforded 113.21±3.02 mg GAE g⁻¹ dw. This value was virtually equal to the maximum value predicted by the model (116.65±3.60 mg GAE g⁻¹ dw). Moreover, to bring out clearly the efficiency of the DES/m- β -CD to extract OLL polyphenols, extractions were carried out with DES and 60% (v/v) aqueous ethanol, under the same conditions, and the extracts were analysed, in addition to Y_{TP}, for Y_{TFn}, A_{AR} and P_R. The results confirmed the outcome of the kinetic study, since the Y_{TP} attained with the DES/m- β -CD was by 5.3 and 19.3% higher than that reached with the DES and 60% (v/v) aqueous ethanol, respectively (**Fig. 16**, upper plot). Additionally, the extract obtained with the DES/m- β -CD displayed 16.0% and 4.5% higher Y_{TFn}, compared with the DES and 60% (v/v) aqueous ethanol, respectively (**Fig. 16**, lower plot).



Fig. 16: Comparative diagram for Y_{TP} (upper plot) and Y_{TFn} (lower plot), obtained using DES + m- β -CD, DES and 60% aqueous ethanol (AE). Extractions were carried out under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, at optimal $C_{m-\beta-CD}$, RL/s and T, for 180 min.

However, the determination of the antioxidant activity demonstrated that the DES/m- β -CD extract was not the most potent in scavenging radicals, having an A_{AR} value that was by 4.3% lower than that seen with the DES extract (**Fig. 17**, upper plot). Although the difference in A_{AR} was not statistically different (p < 0.05), both DES/m- β -CD and DES extract exhibited by 40 - 43% higher A_{AR} that the aqueous ethanol extract. Similarly, the DES extract had by 5.4 and 28.5% higher P_R compared with the DES/m- β -CD and aqueous ethanol extract, respectively. These data suggested that m- β -CD did not impact the antioxidant behaviour of the DES extract, yet both DES/m- β -CD and DES extracts possessed considerably stronger antioxidant capacity compared with the aqueous ethanol.



Fig. 17: Comparative diagram for A_{AR} (upper plot) and P_R (lower plot), obtained using DES + m- β -CD, DES and 60% aqueous ethanol (AE). Extractions were carried out under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, at optimal $C_{m-\beta-CD}$, $R_{L/S}$ and T, for 180 min.

It has been shown that inclusion complexes of 2-hydroxypropyl- β -cyclodextrin with polyphenols such as chlorogenic acid (Shao *et al.*, 2014) and quercetin (Çelik *et al.*, 2015), but also β -cyclodextrin complexes with rosmarinic acid (Medronho *et al.*, 2014), quercetin and rutin (Alvarez-Parrilla *et al.*, 2005) displayed more powerful antioxidant activity compared with the non-encapsulated polyphenols. This phenomenon has also been demonstrated for chlorogenate-rich coffee extracts (Budryn *et al.*, 2014). Nevertheless, the inclusion complex cyclodextrin/polyphenol is better stabilized with molecules having higher hydrophobicity (Hădărugă *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, not all polyphenols present in the DES extract would form equally stable complexes and this might compromise the antioxidant capacity.

Another factor that could contribute towards such an effect is probably the orientation of the encapsulated molecule in the m- β -CD cavity. For OLL, it has been demonstrated that complex of β -cyclodextrin with oleuropein, the major OLL polyphenol, involves deep insertion of the dihydroxyphenethyl moiety inside the cavity from its secondary side (Mourtzinos *et al.*, 2007). Such a fact would pose constrains with regard to oxidant/antioxidant interactions arising from steric effects, thus resulting in reduced antioxidant activity. In fact, in a more recent study, an increase from 7 to 13% (w/v) in 2-hydroxypropyl- β -cyclodextrin concentration for OLL polyphenol extraction with aqueous glycerol did not result in significantly higher A_{AR}, but rather a slight decline was observed (Mourtzinos *et al.*, 2016). This was probably the reason why the DES/m- β -CD extract did not express more powerful antioxidant properties. Therefore, the antioxidant effects observed in DES/m- β -CD extracts may not simply reflect the higher polyphenol concentration, but interactions associated with polyphenol/m- β -CD complexes as well. However, such a hypothesis remains to be elucidated.

3.3.4. Extract characterisation

Characterisation was performed by analysing the DES/m- β -CD and DES extracts with LC-DAD-MS, to investigate whether m- β -CD acted selectively towards particular OLL polyphenols. To this purpose, major constituents previously detected in OLL extracts (Athanasiadis *et al.*, 2017) were tentatively identified and chosen as indicators (**Table 13**). These substances were two luteolin glucosides (peaks #1 and 4), an apigenin rutinoside (peak #3) and the secoiridoid derivative oleuropein (peak #2). As can be seen in **Fig. 18**, the chromatographic profiles of DES/m- β -CD and DES extracts were virtually identical, which clearly showed that the DES containing m- β -CD did not selectively extract any specific phytochemical. This finding indicated that m- β -CD acted merely as an extraction booster and did not affect the composition of the extract.

Table 13: UV-vis and mass spectral data for the major polyphenolic phytochemicals tentatively
identified in OLL extracts obtained under optimal conditions, using DES/m-β-CD and DES.

Peak	Rt (min)	$[M+H]^+ (m/z)$	Other ions (m/z)	Tentative identity
1	25.85	449	287	Luteolin glucoside
2	26.46	541	563[M + Na] ⁺ , 361, 137	Oleuropein
3	27.14	579	601[M + Na] ⁺ , 271	Apigenin rutinoside
4	27.96	449	471[M + Na] ⁺ , 418, 287	Luteolin glucoside



Fig. 18: Total ion chromatograms showing the principal polyphenols detected in the extracts obtained with DES + m- β -CD (upper figure) and DES (lower figure).

3.4. Conclusions

In this study, it was demonstrated for the first time that m- β -CD can be very effectively combined with a DES, boosting polyphenol extraction from OLL. The investigations performed showed that Y_{TP} and Y_{TFn} achieved with DES/m- β -CD were significantly higher compared with those attained with aqueous ethanol. In addition, the DES/m- β -CD extract possessed improved antioxidant properties, and this might not be simply attributed to the higher polyphenol

concentration, as interactions with m- β -CD could have an important contribution. LC-DAD-MS analysis revealed that DES/m- β -CD and DES extracts had identical polyphenolic profile, suggesting that m- β -CD posed no issue of selectivity, but it acted solely towards boosting the extraction yield. Contrary to that, the aqueous ethanolic extract had poorer composition, revealing the effectiveness of the DES/m- β -CD as an extraction medium. Currently, work is in progress to ascertain the validity of the model proposed in scale-up procedures, which is anticipated to further illustrate its applicability for industrial use.

References

- Alonso, D.A., Baeza, A., Chinchilla, R., Guillena, G., Pastor, I.M., & Ramón, D.J. (2016). Deep eutectic solvents: The organic reaction medium of the century. *European Journal of Organic Chemistry*, **2016** (4), 612-632.
- Alvarez-Parrilla, E., De La Rosa, L.A., Torres-Rivas, F., Rodrigo-Garcia, J., & González-Aguilar, G.A. (2005). Complexation of apple antioxidants: chlorogenic acid, quercetin and rutin by β-cyclodextrin (β-CD). *Journal of Inclusion Phenomena and Macrocyclic Chemistry*, **53** (1), 121-129.
- Apostolakis, A., Grigorakis, S., & Makris, D.P. (2014). Optimisation and comparative kinetics study of polyphenol extraction from olive leaves (*Olea europaea*) using heated water/glycerol mixtures. *Separation and Purification Technology*, **128**, 89-95.
- Athanasiadis, V., Grigorakis, S., Lalas, S., & Makris, D.P. (2017). Highly Efficient Extraction of Antioxidant Polyphenols from *Olea europaea* Leaves Using an Eco-friendly Glycerol/Glycine Deep Eutectic Solvent. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, doi: 10.1007/s12649-017-9997-7.
- Brglez Mojzer, E., Knez Hrnčič, M., Škerget, M., Knez, Ž., & Bren, U. (2016). Polyphenols: Extraction methods, antioxidative action, bioavailability and anticarcinogenic effects. *Molecules*, **21** (7), 901.
- Budryn, G., Nebesny, E., Pałecz, B., Rachwał-Rosiak, D., Hodurek, P., Miśkiewicz, K., Oracz, J., & Żyżelewicz, D. (2014). Inclusion complexes of β-cyclodextrin with chlorogenic acids (CHAs) from crude and purified aqueous extracts of green Robusta coffee beans (*Coffea canephora* L.). *Food Research International*, **61**, 202-213.
- Çelik, S.E., Özyürek, M., Güçlü, K., & Apak, R. (2015). Antioxidant capacity of quercetin and its glycosides in the presence of β-cyclodextrins: influence of glycosylation on inclusion complexation. *Journal of Inclusion Phenomena and Macrocyclic Chemistry*, **83** (3-4), 309-319.

- Dai, Y., Verpoorte, R., & Choi, Y.H. (2014). Natural deep eutectic solvents providing enhanced stability of natural colorants from safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius*). Food Chemistry, 159, 116-121.
- Del Valle, E.M. (2004). Cyclodextrins and their uses: a review. *Process Biochemistry*, **39** (9), 1033-1046.
- Hădărugă, N.G., Hădărugă, D.I., & Isengard, H.D. (2012). Water content of natural cyclodextrins and their essential oil complexes: a comparative study between Karl Fischer titration and thermal methods. *Food Chemistry*, **132** (4), 1741-1748.
- Jancheva, M., Grigorakis, S., Loupassaki, S., & Makris, D.P. (2017). Optimised extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from *Satureja thymbra* using newly designed glycerol-based natural low-transition temperature mixtures (LTTMs). *Journal of Applied Research on Medicinal and Aromatic Plants*, doi: 10.1016/j.jarmap.2017.01.002.
- Karageorgou, I., Grigorakis, S., Lalas, S., & Makris, D.P. (2017). Enhanced extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from *Moringa oleifera* Lam. leaves using a biomolecule-based low-transition temperature mixture. *European Food Research and Technology*, doi: 10.1007/s00217-017-2887-1.
- Karakashov, B., Grigorakis, S., Loupassaki, S., & Makris, D.P. (2015). Optimisation of polyphenol extraction from *Hypericum perforatum* (St. John's Wort) using aqueous glycerol and response surface methodology. *Journal of Applied Research on Medicinal* and Aromatic Plants, 2 (1), 1-8.
- Karvela, E., Makris, D.P., Kalogeropoulos, N., Karathanos, V.T., & Kefalas, P. (2009).
 Factorial design optimisation of grape (*Vitis vinifera*) seed polyphenol extraction. *European Food Research and Technology*, 229 (5), 731-742.
- Kyriakidou, K., Mourtzinos, I., Biliaderis, C.G., & Makris, D.P. (2016). Optimization of a Green Extraction/Inclusion Complex Formation Process to Recover Antioxidant Polyphenols from Oak Acorn Husks (*Quercus Robur*) Using Aqueous 2-Hydroxypropylβ-Cyclodextrin/Glycerol Mixtures. *Environments*, **3** (1), 3.
- Manousaki, A., Jancheva, M., Grigorakis, S., & Makris, D.P. (2016). Extraction of antioxidant phenolics from Agri-food waste biomass using a newly designed glycerol-based natural low-transition temperature mixture: a comparison with conventional eco-friendly solvents. *Recycling*, **1** (1), 194-204.
- Mantegna, S., Binello, A., Boffa, L., Giorgis, M., Cena, C., & Cravotto, G. (2012). A one-pot ultrasound-assisted water extraction/cyclodextrin encapsulation of resveratrol from *Polygonum cuspidatum. Food Chemistry*, **130** (3), 746-750.

- Medronho, B., Valente, A.J., Costa, P., & Romano, A. (2014). Inclusion complexes of rosmarinic acid and cyclodextrins: stoichiometry, association constants, and antioxidant potential. *Colloid and Polymer Science*, **292** (4), 885-894.
- Mourtzinos, I., Anastasopoulou, E., Petrou, A., Grigorakis, S., Makris, D., & Biliaderis, C.G. (2016). Optimization of a green extraction method for the recovery of polyphenols from olive leaf using cyclodextrins and glycerin as co-solvents. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 53 (11), 3939-3947.
- Mourtzinos, I., Salta, F., Yannakopoulou, K., Chiou, A., & Karathanos, V.T. (2007). Encapsulation of olive leaf extract in β-cyclodextrin. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **55** (20), 8088-8094.
- Munin, A., & Edwards-Lévy, F. (2011). Encapsulation of natural polyphenolic compounds; a review. *Pharmaceutics*, 3 (4), 793-829.
- Mylonaki, S., Kiassos, E., Makris, D.P., & Kefalas, P. (2008). Optimisation of the extraction of olive (*Olea europaea*) leaf phenolics using water/ethanol-based solvent systems and response surface methodology. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, **392** (5), 977-985.
- Obied, H.K., Prenzler, P.D., Omar, S.H., Ismael, R., Servili, M., Esposto, S., Taticchi, A., Selvaggini, R., & Urbani, S. (2012). *Pharmacology of olive biophenols*. In Advances in Molecular Toxicology, Eds Fishbein, J.C., Vol. 6, 6, 195-242.
- Paleologou, I., Vasiliou, A., Grigorakis, S., & Makris, D.P. (2016). Optimisation of a green ultrasound-assisted extraction process for potato peel (*Solanum tuberosum*) polyphenols using bio-solvents and response surface methodology. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*, 6 (3), 289-299.
- Parmar, I., Sharma, S., & Rupasinghe, H.V. (2015). Optimization of β-cyclodextrin-based flavonol extraction from apple pomace using response surface methodology. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, **52** (4), 2202-2210.
- Patsea, M., Stefou, I., Grigorakis, S., & Makris, D.P. (2017). Screening of Natural Sodium Acetate-Based Low-Transition Temperature Mixtures (LTTMs) for Enhanced Extraction of Antioxidants and Pigments from Red Vinification Solid Wastes. *Environmental Processes*, 4 (1), 123-135.
- Philippi, K., Tsamandouras, N., Grigorakis, S., & Makris, D.P. (2016). Ultrasound-assisted green extraction of eggplant peel (*Solanum melongena*) polyphenols using aqueous mixtures of glycerol and ethanol: Optimisation and kinetics. *Environmental Processes*, **3** (2), 369-386.
- Pinho, E., Grootveld, M., Soares, G., & Henriques, M. (2014). Cyclodextrins as encapsulation agents for plant bioactive compounds. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, **101**, 121-135.

- Qi, X.L., Peng, X., Huang, Y.Y., Li, L., Wei, Z.F., Zu, Y.G., & Fu, Y.J. (2015). Green and efficient extraction of bioactive flavonoids from *Equisetum palustre* L. by deep eutectic solvents-based negative pressure cavitation method combined with macroporous resin enrichment. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **70**, 142-148.
- Rajha, H.N., Chacar, S., Afif, C., Vorobiev, E., Louka, N., & Maroun, R.G. (2015). β-Cyclodextrin-assisted extraction of polyphenols from vine shoot cultivars. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 63 (13), 3387-3393.
- Ratnasooriya, C.C., & Rupasinghe, H.V. (2012). Extraction of phenolic compounds from grapes and their pomace using β-cyclodextrin. *Food Chemistry*, **134** (2), 625-631.
- Shao, P., Zhang, J., Fang, Z., & Sun, P. (2014). Complexing of chlorogenic acid with βcyclodextrins: Inclusion effects, antioxidative properties and potential application in grape juice. *Food Hydrocolloids*, **41**, 132-139.
- Shehata, E., Grigorakis, S., Loupassaki, S., & Makris, D.P. (2015). Extraction optimisation using water/glycerol for the efficient recovery of polyphenolic antioxidants from two Artemisia species. *Separation and Purification Technology*, **149**, 462-469.
- Trasanidou, D., Apostolakis, A., & Makris, D.P. (2016). Development of a green process for the preparation of antioxidant and pigment-enriched extracts from winery solid wastes using response surface methodology and kinetics. *Chemical Engineering Communications*, 203 (10), 1317-1325.
- Tsao, R. (2010). Chemistry and biochemistry of dietary polyphenols. *Nutrients*, **2** (12), 1231-1246.
- Vetal, M.D., Lade, V.G., & Rathod, V.K. (2013). Extraction of ursolic acid from Ocimum sanctum by ultrasound: process intensification and kinetic studies. Chemical Engineering and Processing: Process Intensification, 69, 24-30.



Chapter 4:

Stability effects of methyl-β-cyclodextrin on *Olea europaea* leaf extracts in a natural deep eutectic solvent

Abstract

Polyphenol-containing extracts from olive (*Olea europaea*) leaves (OLL) were obtained using a glycerol-based deep eutectic solvent (DES) and a combination of DES with methyl- β cyclodextrin (m- β -CD). The extracts were stored at various temperatures for a period of 20 days and the reducing power (P_R) was monitored to trace changes in the antioxidant potency of the extracts. Over the examination period and at every temperature tested, P_R displayed a constant decline, which followed pseudo zero-order kinetics. The determination of the decay constants indicated that the presence of m- β -CD acted protectively, slowing down the progression of the P_R decline. Examination of the polyphenolic profiles using liquid chromatography-diode arraymass spectrometry showed that after storage for 20 days at 50 °C, some major polyphenols occurring in OLL suffered extended degradation. The formation of a yellow pigment in the extracts stored in DES but not in aqueous ethanol suggested that polyphenol oxidation did occur during storage. It was concluded that the oxidation of some OLL components was rather responsible for the P_R decline observed.

Keywords: Antioxidants; Deep eutectic solvents; Methyl-β-cyclodextrin; *Olea europaea*; Polyphenols

4.1. Introduction

Olive leaves (OLL) are olive oil production residues, generated during olive tree pruning and in the early steps of olive cleaning. They are considered an important food industry by-product, because they bear a high load of polyphenolic substances, which have been shown to possess a versatile pharmacological potency (Obied *et al.*, 2012). This is the major reason for the development of a broad variety of methodologies of solid-liquid extraction, aiming at enhanced recovery of polyphenolic phytochemicals from OLL. These methodologies embrace primarily environmentally benign solvents, such as subcritical water and water/ethanol mixtures, but also eco-friendly effective technologies, such as microwave heating and ultrasonication (Roselló-Soto *et al.*, 2015).

The development and increasing use of the new generation solvents, called deep eutectic solvents (DES) or low-transition temperature mixtures (LTTMs), has shifted research on the use of that kind of media for purposes of natural product extraction. The emerging scientific data provide solid evidence for the superiority of DES in processes pertaining to polyphenol recovery, compared with water and hydroethanolic solutions (Bakirtzi *et al.*, 2016), opening new routes for the implementation of even more effective extraction procedures. In this frame, a recently designed novel DES, composed of glycerol and glycine, was shown to have significantly higher performance in the extraction of OLL polyphenols (Athanasiadis *et al.*, 2017a), as compared with aqueous ethanol. Following investigations revealed that incorporation of methyl- β -cyclodextrin (m- β -CD) into the DES may act as an extraction booster, giving even higher extraction yield (Athanasiadis *et al.*, 2017b).

However, apart from the increasing demand for natural antioxidants in the food, cosmetics and pharmaceutical industries, which has led to the search for natural extracts, strategies with which to increase long-term storage stability of the extracts are also required. Stability in the extraction medium over time is an important issue associated with polyphenol extraction, considering that many polyphenols are inherently unstable molecules, owed to their susceptibility to oxidation. Therefore, the examination of their stability under specific conditions is imminent and requires detailed examination. On such a ground, this examination was undertaken to investigate the stability of OLL polyphenols in extracts generated using the above mentioned extraction medium, composed of the DES and m- β -CD. Stability in the presence and absence of m- β -CD was assessed by monitoring the reducing power (P_R) of the extracts over 20 days at various temperatures, and polyphenol transformations that might be linked with changes in P_R were identified using liquid chromatography-diode array-mass spectroscopy.

4.2. Materials and methods

4.2.1. Chemicals

Solvents used for liquid chromatography were HPLC grade. Methyl-β-cyclodextrin, glycerol (99%) and ethanol (99.8%) were from Acros Organics (Geel, Belgium). Anhydrous sodium carbonate was from Carlo Erba Reactifs (Val de Reuil, France). Glycine was from NeoLab Migge Laborbedarf-Vertiebs (Heildelberg, Germany). Ascorbic acid and ferric chloride hexahydrate were from Fluka (Steinheim, Germany). 2,4,6-Tripyridyl-*s*-triazine (TPTZ) was from Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany).

4.2.2. Preparation of the DES

The DES used was synthesised according to the optimised conditions described previously (Athanasiadis *et al.*, 2017a). Briefly, glycerol (HBD) was mixed with an appropriate amount of glycine (HBA) and water to give a molar ratio HBD:HBA:water of 7:1:3, and the mixture was mildly heated under stirring until the formation of a transparent liquid. Aqueous solution 80% (w/v) of this DES was used for the extractions and stability tests.

4.2.3. Plant material

Dried and pulverised *Olea europaea* leaves (OLL) from Agrielia Kalamon variety, with average particle diameter of 0.5 mm, were used for all examinations performed. Details concerning collection and handling of the plant material have been analytically given elsewhere (Athanasiadis *et al.*, 2017a).

4.2.4. Batch extraction procedure and sample handling

Polyphenol extraction from OLL was carried out using the optimized methodology previously developed (Athanasiadis *et al.*, 2017b). Amount of 2.5 g of dried plant material was mixed with 100 mL of 80% (w/v) aqueous DES containing 9% (w/v) methyl- β -cyclodextrin (m- β -CD), to give a liquid-to-solid ratio of 32 mL g⁻¹. Extractions were performed at 70 °C, under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, for 280 min. Extractions in the absence of m- β -CD were also repeated, under identical conditions. After the completion of each extraction, samples were centrifuged in a table centrifugator (Hermle, Wehingen, Germany) at 10,000 × g for 10 min, and the clear extract was used for stability tests and analyses.

4.2.5. Stability test and determinations

The clear extracts were divided into aliquots of 30 mL, placed in screw-cap glass vials and stored in a refrigerator (4 °C), in a temperature-controlled dark chamber (22 °C) and in a thermostated water bath (50 °C). Sampling was randomly carried out to eliminate variance, at

regular intervals, within a period of 20 days. Reducing power (P_R) was estimated with the TPTZ assay and expressed as μ moL AAE per g dry weight (Blidi *et al.*, 2015).

4.2.6. Qualitative liquid chromatography-diode array-mass spectrometry (LC-DAD-MS)

A Finnigan MAT Spectra System P4000 pump was used, coupled with a UV6000LP diode array detector and a Finnigan AQA mass spectrometer. A Fortis RP-18 column, 150×2.1 mm, 3 µm, was used, at 40 °C. The analytical methodology implemented was reported elsewhere (Blidi *et al.*, 2015).

4.2.7. Statistics

Extractions and stability tests were repeated at least twice and all analyses were performed in triplicate. Values reported are means. Linear regressions were established at least at a 95% significance level. For all statistics, Microsoft $Excel^{TM}$ 2010 and $SigmaPlot^{TM}$ 10 were used.

4.3. Results and discussion

4.3.1. Kinetics of P_R evolution and the effect of m- β -CD

In order to assess extract stability at various temperatures, as well as to clarify the role of m- β -CD, P_R of the OLL extracts was monitored over a period of 20 days. P_R was chosen as a safe criterion to track changes because it is tightly associated with polyphenol structure (Pulido *et al.*, 2000) and it has been demonstrated to reflect changes related with redox phenomena (Sioumis *et al.*, 2005). In particular, P_R has been shown to be inversely correlated with polyphenol oxidation in white wines, strong evidence that P_R decline may stem from polyphenol loss or structure alteration as a result of oxidation. During the examination period, it was ascertained that P_R exhibited a declining trend, which could be very effectively described as pseudo zero-order kinetics:

$$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{R}} = \mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{R}}^0 - kt \tag{11}$$

Where P_R is the reducing power, P_R^0 the initial reducing power, *k* the pseudo zero-order decay rate constant (µmoL AAE g⁻¹ days⁻¹), and *t* time (days). The decay constants (*k*) were calculated graphically from the slope of the regression lines, after plotting P_R against *t*.

As can be seen in **Fig. 19**, kinetics at 4 °C showed that the presence of m- β -CD apparently accelerated P_R decline. From the data given in **Table 14**, it was illustrated that the pseudo-zero order decay constant for the P_R in the OLL extract obtained with DES/m- β -CD, at 4 °C, was higher than those determined for the extracts stored either in DES or in 60% aqueous ethanol. By contrast, P_R exhibited higher stability in DES than in 60% aqueous ethanol. However, at

both 22 and 50 °C, the extracts containing m- β -CD displayed lower *k*. For the extract containing m- β -CD, *k* was increased by almost 12% when storage temperature was increased from 4 to 50 °C, whereas the increase in the extracts lacking m- β -CD was approximately 46% and in aqueous ethanolic extracts 43%. This outcome highlighted the role of m- β -CD in P_R stability.



Fig. 19: Zero-order kinetics of P_R decline in OLL extracts at 4, 22 and 50 °C. Extracts were obtained using either DES/m- β -CD, only DES or 60% aqueous ethanol.

Solvent	k (µmoL AAE g ⁻¹ days ⁻¹)				
	4 °C	22 °C	50 °C		
$DES + m-\beta-CD$	2.75	2.45	3.11		
DES	2.07	2.67	3.86		
60% EtOH	2.45	3.11	4.29		

Table 14: Zero-order constant determined for P_R decay during storage of OLL extracts in the solvents tested.

Polyphenol stability in DES is an issue currently unexamined and the data available are too limited to draw safe conclusions. In a recent investigation, it was demonstrated that green tea polyphenols displayed higher stability in a DES than in conventional solvents, such as aqueous methanol and aqueous ethanol (Jeong et al., 2017). The exact mechanism for this effect could not be known, yet it could be assumed that extended hydrogen bonding between polyphenols and the HBA could confer some sort of stability. Polyphenols may develop this kind of interactions, since they may behave as HBDs (Bi et al., 2013). Hydrogen bonding may also be developed between a polyphenol and cyclodextrins, and in this regard the presence of m-\beta-CD might be critical. Polyphenols such as flavonoid glycosides but also flavonoid aglycones have been shown to form complexes with various types of cyclodextrins, including β -cyclodextrin (β-CD) and 2-hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin (HP-β-CD) (Jullian et al., 2007; Alvarez-Parrilla *et al.*, 2005). The formation of flavonoid/HP-β-CD complexes contributed in higher stability of the encapsulated molecule, as opposed to the free (non-encapsulated) one (Nguyen et al., 2013), a fact attributed to the protective effect of HP- β -CD cavity (Liu *et al.*, 2006). Similar conclusion regarding stability was reached by studies on polyphenol-containing extracts (Kalogeropoulos et al., 2010; Mourtzinos et al., 2008).

A hypothesis relating polyphenol stability with antioxidant activity has been proposed by examinations on rosmaric acid inclusion complexes by various cyclodextrins (Çelik *et al.*, 2011). A polyphenol radical, deriving from a reaction with another radical species, once engulfed in m- β -CD hydrophobic cavity may be better stabilised through resonance, by intramolecular hydrogen bonding. Thus the redox potential between the aroxyl radical and the reduced polyphenol may be lowered, rendering the polyphenol higher antioxidant potency. In fact, several studies have demonstrated that polyphenols such as quercetin and rutin (Alvarez-Parrilla *et al.*, 2005), rosmarinic acid (Medronho *et al.*, 2014; Çelik *et al.*, 2011), chlorogenic acid (Shao *et al.*, 2014), and quercetin and glycosides thereof (Çelik *et al.*, 2015), encapsulated in cyclodextrins may perform as more powerful antioxidants, compared with the non-encapsulated molecules. Therefore, the slower P_R decay recorded for OLL extracts at 22 and

50 °C in the presence of m- β -CD might be ascribed to higher polyphenol stability, as a result of effective inclusion. On the other hand, the higher decay rate found for the extract stored in DES/m- β -CD at 4 °C would appear rather paradox and further studies are required to identify the phenomena implicated to yield this outcome.

4.3.2. Modifications in the polyphenolic profile

To clarify whether alterations in the polyphenolic profile accounted for the changes in P_R observed, LC-DAD-MS investigation was undertaken for the samples stored at 50 °C, which displayed the most pronounced decline. In the trace recorded at 280 nm for the initial extract obtained with the DES/m- β -CD (**Fig. 20**, upper chromatogram), eight polyphenolic substances could be tentatively identified (**Table 15**). The extract obtained only with the DES showed identical profile (data not shown), confirming previous results that stressed the importance of m- β -CD merely as an extraction booster (Athanasiadis *et al.*, 2017b). On the basis of published data (Apostolakis *et al.*, 2014; Taamalli *et al.*, 2012), peak #1 was identified as hydroxytyrosol, peak #1b as tyrosol, peaks #5 and #8 as oleuropein and an isomer thereof, and peaks #2, 3, 6 and 7 as flavone glycosides. Furthermore, a flavonol glycoside was also detected (peak #4). When the extracts were analysed after 20 days of storage at 50 °C, some alterations in the polyphenolic profile were evident, the most prominent being an increase in hydroxytyrosol (peak #1), which pointed to oleuropein hydrolysis, and the drastic decrease in apigenin rutinoside (peak #6). Nevertheless, this decrease was not accompanied by the appearance of the apigenin aglycone; this fact raised suspicions for apigenin oxidative degradation.

Peak	Rt (min)	$[M+H]^+ (m/z)$	Other ions (m/z)	Tentative identity
1	6.33	153	-	Hydroxytyrosol
1b	8.72	137	-	Tyrosol
2	16.57	611	449, 287	Luteolin di-glucoside
3	18.90	449	287	Luteolin glucoside
4	19.28	611	633, 465, 303	Rutin (quercetin 3-O-rutinoside)
5	20.00	541	563, 379, 361	Oleuropein
6	21.01	579	433, 271	Apigenin rutinoside
7	21.88	449	471, 287	Luteolin glucoside
8	21.97	541	563, 379	Oleuropein isomer

Table 15: Mass spectral data for the major polyphenolic phytochemicals tentatively identified in OLL extracts obtained under optimal conditions, using DES/m- β -CD and DES.



Fig. 20: HPLC traces of OLL extracts obtained with DES/m- β -CD, before (day 0) and after storage at 50 °C (day 20). The chromatogram was monitored at 280 nm. Peak assignment is as in Table 15.

An important finding was the detection of a product identified only in the extracts stored in DES/m- β -CD or DES, but not in those stored in 60% ethanol (**Fig. 21**, lower chromatogram).



Fig. 21: HPLC traces at 420 nm, of OLL extracts obtained with DES/m- β -CD, before (day 0) and after storage at 50 °C (day 20) (upper and middle chromatograms, respectively). Lower chromatogram displays the trace of OLL extracts stored for 20 days at 50 °C, in 60% aqueous ethanol).

This fact strongly emphasised the role of DES in its formation. The substance displayed λ_{max} at 270 and 424 nm, which indicated that it was a yellow pigment (**Fig. 22**). Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry examination showed a pseudo-molecular ion at m/z 503 amu and diagnostic fragments at m/z 439 amu $[M - 64]^+$, m/z 309 amu $[M - 194]^+$ and m/z 249 amu $[M - 254]^+$ (**Fig. 23**).







81

The fragment with m/z 439 could derive from dehydration and decarboxylation of the parent molecule, while further dehydration and fragmentation would yield the ion with m/z 308 amu, which in turn would provide the ion with m/z 249 amu. On the basis of these data, the product was identified as adduct of oleuropein aglycone with tyrosol quinone. A plausible pathway for the formation of such a product would embrace first oleuropein hydrolysis leading to the formation of the aglycone. One-electron oxidation of the hydroxytyrosyl moiety would give the semi-quinone derivative, which after nucleophilic attack by tyrosol, rearrangement and further oxidation, would yield the putatively proposed product (**Fig. 24**). This substance could possess yellow pigment-like UV features, as observed for other oxidised simple phenolics, such as chlorogenic acid (Murata *et al.*, 2002). Oxidation of oleuropein itself has also been shown to yield a product absorbing at 439 nm (Tzika *et al.*, 2008). On the other hand, Fenton-type oxidation would be rather precluded, because oleuropein oxidation under similar conditions was shown to give non-pigment products of higher molecular weight (Antolovich *et al.*, 2004).



DES/m- β -CD for 20 days, at 50 °C.

The evidence emerged from the putative structure of this compound suggested that some OLL constituents indeed underwent oxidation and this was the most probable cause of P_R decline recorded during storage of the OLL extracts. Previous investigations on white wines demonstrated that browning, that is, the formation of yellow pigments, had a statistically significant correlation with a decrease in P_R (Sioumis *et al.*, 2005). A following detailed kinetic investigation confirmed that browning development was indeed associated with a concomitant decline in P_R (Sioumis *et al.*, 2006), which was correlated with epicatechin, the major antioxidant constituent. Thus the disappearance of certain OLL polyphenols due to oxidation would be very likely to bring about a drop in the reducing potency of the extracts.

4.4. Conclusions

DES are novel solvents of variable composition and for this reason, they may present a broad spectrum of properties, whose characterisation is a matter of case experimentation. An issue of high importance in the extraction of antioxidant polyphenols using DES is their stability, since many polyphenols may readily undergo reactions, such as hydrolysis and oxidation. OLL extracts, obtained with either DES/m- β -CD or only DES were shown to suffer alterations regarding their polyphenolic profile, when stored for a period of 20 days at 50 °C. These alterations were mainly characterised by degradation of some glycosides and the formation of a yellow pigments as a result of polyphenol oxidation. It was therefore postulated that the decline in P_R seen in the stored OLL extracts could be ascribed to the oxidation of some OLL constituents. However, the kinetic study demonstrated that the incorporation of m- β -CD in the extraction solvent may result in notable retardation of the P_R decay. This finding highlighted the importance of such additives in stabilising polyphenol-containing extracts in DES. Further studies are required to clarify the exact mechanism of protection, which could lead in more efficient utilisation of m- β -CD in formulations related with food, pharmaceutical and cosmetic products.

References

- Alvarez-Parrilla, E., Laura, A., Torres-Rivas, F., Rodrigo-Garcia, J., & González-Aguilar, G.A. (2005). Complexation of apple antioxidants: chlorogenic acid, quercetin and rutin by βcyclodextrin (β-CD). *Journal of Inclusion Phenomena and Macrocyclic Chemistry*, **53** (1-2), 121-129.
- Antolovich, M., Bedgood, D.R., Bishop, A.G., Jardine, D., Prenzler, P.D., & Robards, K. (2004). LC-MS investigation of oxidation products of phenolic antioxidants. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **52** (4), 962-971.

- Apostolakis, A., Grigorakis, S., & Makris, D.P. (2014). Optimisation and comparative kinetics study of polyphenol extraction from olive leaves (*Olea europaea*) using heated water/glycerol mixtures. *Separation and Purification Technology*, **128**, 89-95.
- Athanasiadis, V., Grigorakis, S., Lalas, S., & Makris, D.P. (2017a). Highly Efficient Extraction of Antioxidant Polyphenols from *Olea europaea* Leaves Using an Eco-friendly Glycerol/Glycine Deep Eutectic Solvent. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, doi: 10.1007/s12649-017-9997-7.
- Athanasiadis, V., Grigorakis, S., Lalas, S., & Makris, D.P. (2017b). Methyl β-cyclodextrin as a booster for the extraction for *Olea europaea* leaf polyphenols with a bio-based deep eutectic solvent. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*, doi: 10.1007/s13399-017-0283-5.
- Bakirtzi, C., Triantafyllidou, K., & Makris, D.P. (2016). Novel lactic acid-based natural deep eutectic solvents: Efficiency in the ultrasound-assisted extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from common native Greek medicinal plants. *Journal of Applied Research on Medicinal and Aromatic Plants*, **3** (3), 120-127.
- Bi, W., Tian, M., & Row, K.H. (2013). Evaluation of alcohol-based deep eutectic solvent in extraction and determination of flavonoids with response surface methodology optimization. *Journal of Chromatography A*, **1285**, 22-30.
- Blidi, S., Bikaki, M., Grigorakis, S., Loupassaki, S., & Makris, D.P. (2015). A comparative evaluation of bio-solvents for the efficient extraction of polyphenolic phytochemicals: apple waste peels as a case study. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, 6 (6), 1125-1133.
- Çelik, S.E., Özyürek, M., Güçlü, K., & Apak, R. (2015). Antioxidant capacity of quercetin and its glycosides in the presence of β-cyclodextrins: influence of glycosylation on inclusion complexation. *Journal of Inclusion Phenomena and Macrocyclic Chemistry*, **83** (3-4), 309-319.
- Çelik, S.E., Özyürek, M., Tufan, A.N., Güçlü, K., & Apak, R. (2011). Spectroscopic study and antioxidant properties of the inclusion complexes of rosmarinic acid with natural and derivative cyclodextrins. *Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy*, **78** (5), 1615-1624.
- Jeong, K.M., Ko, J., Zhao, J., Jin, Y., Yoo, D.E., Han, S.Y., & Lee, J. (2017). Multi-functioning deep eutectic solvents as extraction and storage media for bioactive natural products that are readily applicable to cosmetic products. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, **151**, 87-95.
- Jullian, C., Miranda, S., Zapata-Torres, G., Mendizábal, F., & Olea-Azar, C. (2007). Studies of inclusion complexes of natural and modified cyclodextrin with (+) catechin by NMR and molecular modeling. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry*, **15** (9), 3217-3224.

- Kalogeropoulos, N., Yannakopoulou, K., Gioxari, A., Chiou, A., & Makris, D.P. (2010).
 Polyphenol characterization and encapsulation in β-cyclodextrin of a flavonoid-rich *Hypericum perforatum* (St John's wort) extract. *LWT Food Science and Technology*, 43 (6), 882-889.
- Liu, J., Qiu, L., Gao, J., & Jin, Y. (2006). Preparation, characterization and *in vivo* evaluation of formulation of baicalein with hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, **312** (1), 137-143.
- Medronho, B., Valente, A.J., Costa, P., & Romano, A. (2014). Inclusion complexes of rosmarinic acid and cyclodextrins: stoichiometry, association constants, and antioxidant potential. *Colloid and Polymer Science*, **292** (4), 885-894.
- Mourtzinos, I., Makris, D.P., Yannakopoulou, K., Kalogeropoulos, N., Michali, I., & Karathanos, V.T. (2008). Thermal stability of anthocyanin extract of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* L. in the presence of β-cyclodextrin. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56 (21), 10303-10310.
- Murata, M., Sugiura, M., Sonokawa, Y., Shimamura, T., & Homma, S. (2002). Properties of chlorogenic acid quinone: Relationship between browning and the formation of hydrogen peroxide from a quinone solution. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 66 (12), 2525-2530.
- Nguyen, T.A., Liu, B., Zhao, J., Thomas, D.S., & Hook, J.M. (2013). An investigation into the supramolecular structure, solubility, stability and antioxidant activity of rutin/cyclodextrin inclusion complex. *Food Chemistry*, **136** (1), 186-192.
- Obied, H.K., Prenzler, P.D., Omar, S.H., Ismael, R., Servili, M., Esposto, S., Taticchi, A., Selvaggini, R., & Urbani, S. (2012). *Pharmacology of olive biophenols*. In Advances in Molecular Toxicology, Eds Fishbein, J.C., Vol. 6, 6, 195-242.
- Pulido, R., Bravo, L., & Saura-Calixto, F. (2000). Antioxidant activity of dietary polyphenols as determined by a modified ferric reducing/antioxidant power assay. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **48** (8), 3396-3402.
- Roselló-Soto, E., Koubaa, M., Moubarik, A., Lopes, R.P., Saraiva, J.A., Boussetta, N., Grimi, N. & Barba, F.J. (2015). Emerging opportunities for the effective valorization of wastes and by-products generated during olive oil production process: Non-conventional methods for the recovery of high-added value compounds. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, **45** (2), 296-310.
- Shao, P., Zhang, J., Fang, Z., & Sun, P. (2014). Complexing of chlorogenic acid with βcyclodextrins: Inclusion effects, antioxidative properties and potential application in grape juice. *Food Hydrocolloids*, **41**, 132-139.

- Sioumis, N., Kallithraka, S., Makris, D.P., & Kefalas, P. (2006). Kinetics of browning onset in white wines: influence of principal redox-active polyphenols and impact on the reducing capacity. *Food Chemistry*, **94** (1), 98-104.
- Sioumis, N., Kallithraka, S., Tsoutsouras, E., Makris, D.P., & Kefalas, P. (2005). Browning development in white wines: Dependence on compositional parameters and impact on antioxidant characteristics. *European Food Research and Technology*, **220** (3-4), 326-330.
- Taamalli, A., Arráez-Román, D., Ibañez, E., Zarrouk, M., Segura-Carretero, A., & Fernández-Gutiérrez, A. (2012). Optimization of microwave-assisted extraction for the characterization of olive leaf phenolic compounds by using HPLC-ESI-TOF-MS/IT-MS². *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **60** (3), 791-798.
- Tzika, E.D., Papadimitriou, V., Sotiroudis, T.G., & Xenakis, A. (2008). Oxidation of oleuropein studied by EPR and spectrophotometry. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, **110** (2), 149-157.



Chapter 5:

Effect of methyl-β-cyclodextrin on radical scavenging kinetics of olive leaf extracts and interactions with ascorbic acid

Abstract

Olive leaf (OLL) extracts contain a high load of antioxidant polyphenols, with significant pharmacological potency. In this study, the use of a novel natural deep eutectic solvent enabled the effective extraction of OLL polyphenols and their testing as radical scavengers, in the presence or absence of methyl- β -cyclodextrin (m- β -CD), using descriptive kinetics. Testing extended to include interactions with ascorbic acid, a natural powerful antioxidant, by implementing response surface methodology. The kinetic study showed that m- β -CD may hinder the radical scavenging effect of OLL extracts, yielding lower stoichiometry upon reaction with the radical probe DPPH. The extension of the reaction time to determine the total stoichiometry confirmed this effect. As a further concurrence, the interactions of OLL extracts with ascorbic acid showed lower radical scavenging performance in the presence of m- β -CD. These results were discussed on the ground of the role that m- β -CD may play in similar systems.

Keywords: Antioxidants; Deep eutectic solvents; Methyl-β-cyclodextrin; Olive leaf extracts; Polyphenols

5.1. Introduction

In recent years, there is a growing demand for natural antioxidants as replacers of synthetic ones, but also as functional additives that could provide biological systems with protection against harmful free radicals. Plant-derived antioxidant polyphenols are becoming increasingly important in this respect, as numerous of these substances have been shown to possess a very high capacity to quench free radicals (Moon and Shibamoto, 2009). This has stimulated a broad spectrum of studies regarding the use of plant extracts as rich sources of natural antioxidants. In such a frame, olive leaves (OLL), which represent a major waste generated during the production of olive oil, have gained a great deal of interest because they may bear an important load of polyphenolic phytochemicals, which may display significant pharmacological potential (Obied *et al.*, 2012).

Although the antioxidant activity may me effectively estimated in plant extracts with several tests developed for such a purpose (López-Alarcón and Denicola, 2013), a few studies have investigated in details the rate of antiradical reactions, which might represent the rate at which the antioxidants react with free radicals. Reaction kinetics information complements that of antiradical activity and may be of value for characterizing a potential antioxidant source. 2,2-Diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl radical (DPPH) is widely used for quickly assessing the ability of antioxidants to transfer labile H atoms to radicals, based on the theory that a hydrogen donor is an antioxidant. This reaction is stoichiometric with respect to the number of hydrogen atoms absorbed. Therefore, the antioxidant effect can be easily evaluated by following the decrease of UV absorption at 515 nm (Goupy *et al.*, 2003).

On this theoretical background, this examination was carried out to assess the antiradical behaviour of OLL extracts, obtained using a novel methodology that involved extraction with a combination of a deep eutectic solvent (DES) with methyl- β -cyclodextrin (m- β -CD) as an extraction booster (Athanasiadis *et al.*, 2017b). OLL extracts were also generated without m- β -CD, to evaluate the effect of m- β -CD on the antiradical potency of the extracts. The investigations included a kinetic assay and also interactions with ascorbic acid, after implementing a response surface methodology.

5.2. Materials and methods

5.2.1. Chemicals

Anhydrous sodium carbonate was from Carlo Erba Reactifs (Val de Reuil, France). Methyl-βcyclodextrin was from Acros Organics (Geel, Belgium). Folin-Ciocalteu reagent was from Fluka (Steinheim, Germany). Glycerol (99%), 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), gallic
acid and ascorbic acid were from Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany). Glycine (99.5%) was from NeoLab Migge Laborbedarf-Vertiebs (Heildelberg, Germany).

5.2.2. Preparation of the DES

The DES used was synthesised according to the optimised conditions described previously (Athanasiadis *et al.*, 2017a). Briefly, glycerol (HBD) was mixed with an appropriate amount of glycine (HBA) and water to give a molar ratio HBD:HBA:water of 7:1:3, and the mixture was mildly heated under stirring until the formation of a transparent liquid. Aqueous solution 80% (w/v) of this DES was used for the extractions.

5.2.3. Plant material

The material used for all extractions was dried *Olea europaea* leave (OLL) powder, with average particle diameter of 0.5 mm. Details concerning variety, methodology of leaf collection and handling of the plant material have been analytically given elsewhere (Athanasiadis *et al.*, 2017a).

5.2.4. Batch extraction procedure and sample handling

Polyphenol-containing extracts were prepared from OLL by implementing the optimized methodology previously developed (Athanasiadis *et al.*, 2017b). Briefly, amount of 2.5 g of dried OLL was mixed with 100 mL of 80% (w/v) aqueous DES containing 9% (w/v) methyl- β -cyclodextrin (m- β -CD) and extractions were carried out at 70 °C, under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, for 280 min. Extractions without m- β -CD were also performed, under identical conditions. Samples were centrifuged in a table centrifugator (Hermle, Wehingen, Germany) at 10,000 × g for 10 min, and the clear extract was used for all assays.

5.2.5. Total polyphenol determination

Total polyphenols were determined with the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent, following a previously published protocol (Makris *et al.*, 2016). Results were expressed as mg gallic acid equivalents per L of extract, using a gallic acid calibration curve (30 - 600 mg L^{-1}).

5.2.6. Kinetic assay

The ability of the extracts to transfer H-atoms to DPPH was assessed by measuring changes in the absorbance at 515 nm (A₅₁₅). Typically, 0.975 mL of freshly prepared DPPH solution in methanol (100 μ M), was mixed in a spectrometer cell with 0.025 mL of OLL extract. The decay in A₅₁₅ was monitored over a period of 2 min to determine rate constant (*k*₁). The assay was extended up to 21 min for the determination of total stoichiometries (*n*_t).

5.2.7. Interaction with ascorbic acid

The methodology implemented aimed at investigating the interactions of OLL extracts with ascorbic acid and clarify the effect of m- β -CD. Thus, the two independent variables chosen were the total polyphenol concentration of the extracts (C_{TP} , mg GAE L⁻¹), termed as X₁, and the ascorbic acid concentration (C_{AA} , mg L⁻¹), termed as X₂. A central composite experimental design was used with two central points and both independent variables were coded between -1 (lower limit) and +1 (upper limit), using the following equation:

$$x_{i} = \frac{X_{i} - X_{0}}{\Delta X_{i}}, i = 1, 2$$
(12)

Terms x_i and X_i represent the dimensionless and the actual value of the independent variable *i*, respectively. X_0 is the actual value of the independent variable *i* at the central point of the design, and ΔX_i the step change of X_i , which corresponds to a unit change of the dimensionless value (**Table 16**). The choice for the range of values for both variables was based on preliminary runs, but also published information (Karvela *et al.*, 2012). The response considered was the antiradical activity (A_{AR}). ANOVA was performed to estimate model significance, the significance for each polynomial coefficient, and determine the overall coefficient R² for the mathematical model. Statistically non-significant dependent terms (p > 0.05) were removed from the equations, which were visualised in the form of 3D plots. The models were validated by performing experiments under the predicted optimal conditions, and comparing for each model the predicted values with the actual (measured) ones. For each design point, measured and predicted response values were recorded (**Table 17**). For each design point, *C*_{TP} and *C*_{AA} were fixed as dictated by the experimental design. A_{AR} (µmoL DPPH g⁻¹ dry OLL weight) was determined as described elsewhere (Shehata *et al.*, 2015).

Table 16: Actual values and coded levels of the independent variables used for the experimental design.

Independent variables	Code units	Code	Coded variable level		
		-1	0	1	
$C_{\mathrm{TP}} (\mathrm{mg} \mathrm{L}^{-1})$	X_1	10	40	70	
$C_{AA} (mg L^{-1})$	X_2	10	40	70	

Design point	Indepo varia	endent ables	Respo	onse (A _{AR} , µ1	noL DPPH g	- ¹ dw)
			No m	-β-CD	m-β	-CD
	\mathbf{X}_{1}	\mathbf{X}_{2}	Measured	Predicted	Measured	Predicted
1	-1	-1	91.04	90.58	82.13	82.06
2	-1	1	22.85	19.14	18.87	15.04
3	1	-1	166.02	168.98	140.08	143.39
4	1	1	96.88	96.59	82.68	82.23
5	-1	0	35.50	39.68	31.81	35.71
6	1	0	120.27	117.60	102.84	99.98
7	0	-1	141.99	139.50	124.61	121.37
8	0	1	63.58	67.58	53.00	57.28
9	0	0	89.11	88.36	78.18	76.49
10	0	0	89.11	88.36	75.83	76.49

Table 17: Measured and predicted A_{AR} values of OLL extract and AA mixtures, determined for individual design points.

5.2.8. Statistics

Curve-fittings of the absorbance vs time were carried out by non-linear regression. Kinetic model was obtained by performing linear regreassion. All analyses were carried out at least at a 95% significance level, using SigmaPlotTM 12. The experimental design for the response surface methodology and all associated statistics was accomplished with JMPTM 10.

5.3. Results and discussion

5.3.1. Reaction stoichiometries and the effect of m- β -CD

The H-transfer reactions from polyphenols to DPPH can be very effectively assessed by monitoring the decay of A₅₁₅, using as molar absorptivity $\varepsilon = 11,240 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$ and considering the purity of the reagent. The decay in A₅₁₅ is initiated following addition of the antioxidant(s) to the DPPH solution (Brand-Williams *et al.*, 1995) and potent antioxidants may provoke a rapid decay over 1-2 min, as a result of the transfer of H-atoms of the antioxidant that possess low C-H bond dissociation enthalpies (fast step). This step is followed by a much slower decline in A₅₁₅, which corresponds to the donation by the antioxidant(s) the residual H-atoms (slow step) (Alluis and Dangles, 2001; Dangles *et al.*, 1999).

A simple hypothesis considers that an antioxidant AH bears n independent antioxidant subunits, which may all transfer a single H atom to DPPH with the same second-order rate constant k (Goupy *et al.*, 2003). Such a background can be described as follows:

$$A = \varepsilon [DPPH]$$
(13)

$$R = -\frac{d}{dt} [AH] = -\frac{d}{dt} [DPPH] = k [AH][DPPH]$$
(14)

As mentioned above, the initial (fast) step of the reaction actually represents donation of the most readily abstracted H-atoms from the antioxidant. Hence, the initial reaction rate R_0 could be given as:

$$R_0 = k_1 c c_0 \tag{15}$$

Where *c* is the initial antioxidant concentration, *c*₀ the initial DPPH concentration and *k*₁ the reaction rate constant of the first abstracted H-atom. Therefore, *k* would be $\frac{k_I}{n}$. Based on Beer - Lambert's law, the [DPPH] that reacts with the first H-atom may be represented as A₀ - A_f, where A₀ and A_f correspond to the initial and final A₅₁₅. Thus by replacing [DPPH] with A₀ - A_f, the eq. (14) can be transformed after integration, as follows:

$$ln\left(\frac{1-\frac{A_{\rm f}}{A}}{1-\frac{A_{\rm f}}{A_{\rm 0}}}\right) = -\frac{k_{\rm 1}c}{\frac{A_{\rm 0}}{A_{\rm f}}-1} \tag{16}$$

The slope of the straight line obtained after plotting $ln\left(\frac{1-\frac{A_{f}}{A}}{1-\frac{A_{f}}{A_{0}}}\right)$ as a function of time *t*, equals k_{1} .

On such a theoretical basis, OLL extracts obtained with or without m- β -CD were assayed with the aim to clarifying the role of m- β -CD on the antiradical effects exerted by OLL polyphenols. To this purpose, the extracts generated were adjusted at a final C_{TP} of 0.1 g L⁻¹ and reaction with DPPH was monitored up to 2 min (**Fig. 25**, upper plot). Determination of k_1 was performed by tracing the second order kinetics (**Fig. 25**, lower plot) and gave values of 1.925 and 2.221 M⁻¹ s⁻¹, for the extract obtained with DES/m- β -CD and DES, respectively. The slower reaction rate of the extract obtained with DES/m- β -CD compared with that obtained only with DES could not be interpreted as weaker antiradical activity, but only as a measure of the radical scavenging rate. This is because several polyphenolic antioxidants were shown to respond differently in kinetic and stoichiometric assays based on reaction with DPPH (Villano *et al.*, 2007).



Fig. 25: Fast reaction kinetics recorded upon mixing OLL extract with DPPH. C_{TP} was adjusted to 0.1 g L⁻¹. c₀ was 100 µmoL L⁻¹.

Thus in order to have a more integrated picture, the total stoichiometries (n_t) were also determined by extending the reaction of each extract with DPPH, up to 21 min (**Fig. 26**), using the following equation:

$$n_{\rm t} = \frac{A_0 - A_{\rm f}}{\varepsilon \, C_{\rm TP}} \tag{17}$$

Where C_{TP} is the total polyphenol concentration of the extracts, which as mentioned above was adjusted to 0.1 g GAE L⁻¹. Determination of n_t for the DES/m- β -CD and DES extracts gave corresponding values of 1.05×10^{-4} and 1.92×10^{-4} moL g⁻¹, indicating higher stoichiometry for the extract in the absence of m- β -CD.



Fig. 26: Extended reaction kinetics recorded upon mixing OLL extract with DPPH. C_{TP} was adjusted to 0.1 g L⁻¹. c_0 was 100 µmoL L⁻¹.

Considering both k_1 and n_t , it could be argued that the extract obtained only with DES displayed superior radical scavenging potency. This finding contrasted previous ones, which demonstrated that polyphenol-containing extracts obtained with the aid of various cyclodextrins, such as *Melissa officinalis* leaf extract (Mourtzinos *et al.*, 2011) and pomegranate fruit extract (Diamanti *et al.*, 2017) exhibited increased antiradical activity. Likewise, simple phenolics such as rosmarinic acid (Medronho *et al.*, 2014), chlorogenic acid (Shao *et al.*, 2014) and *trans*resveratrol (Lu *et al.*, 2009), and quercetin and glycosides thereof (Çelik *et al.*, 2015), showed improved antioxidant properties when they were encapsulated in cyclodextrins. However, a detailed study on inclusion complexes of tea catechins, suggested that the nature of the polyphenol, as well as the orientation of the encapsulated molecule inside the cyclodextrin cavity may affect antioxidant potency either negatively or positively (Folch-Cano *et al.*, 2010).

Hydrophobicity would be an issue in this regard, because cyclodextrin/polyphenol inclusion complexes may be better stabilized with molecules having higher hydrophobicity (Mourtzinos *et al.*, 2007). On the other hand, hydrogen bonding could also greatly affect the antioxidant behaviour of the complexed polyphenols, because if there is extended intermolecular hydrogen bond development between the encapsulated and the host molecule,

then radical scavenging is abrogated (Snelgrove *et al.*, 2001). Such a claim was made for the apparent null effect of hydroxypropyl- β -CD on caffeic acid antioxidant potency (García-Padial *et al.*, 2013), where intramolecular hydrogen bond between the hydroxyl groups of the *o*-diphenol moiety would not allow for intermolecular interactions. On the basis of the above concepts, it could be supported that there might be a slower reaction for the OLL extract with DPPH in the presence of m- β -CD. This phenomenon might be ascribed to the inclusion of OLL polyphenols inside the m- β -CD cavity, which could slow down H-atom transfer to DPPH due to steric effects. Such a hypothesis would be concurred by the fact that complexation of oleuropein, the most abundant polyphenolic antioxidant in OLL, most probably involves deep insertion of the dihydroxyphenethyl moiety inside the cavity from its secondary side, as demonstrated for OLL interactions with β -cyclodextrin (β -CD) (Mourtzinos *et al.*, 2007). The formation of similar inclusion complexes with of β -CD has also been shown for chlorogenic acid (Álvarez-Parrilla *et al.*, 2010).

5.3.2. Interactions with ascorbic acid

In an earlier study, interactions of polyphenol-containing extract with ascorbic acid (AA) were very effectively examined using response surface methodology (Karvela *et al.*, 2012). It was proposed that by combining fixed amounts of AA and total polyphenols is a rather unilateral approach, providing limited information, whereas the simultaneous variation of concentrations within predetermined ranges may be more illustrative of the kind of interactions. This is because it has been demonstrated that the relevant amounts of AA and polyphenols in a mixture may significantly affect the overall antioxidant effect (Choueiri *et al.*, 2012).

On this ground, a response surface design was deployed to evaluate interactions between OLL extract and AA. Evaluation of term contribution by performing ANOVA showed that C_{TP} and C_{AA} and their quadratic terms exerted statistically significant effects on the A_{AR} of the mixtures. However, cross terms were non-significant in this regard (p > 0.05) and thus they were omitted from the models (mathematical equations), which are given in their final form in **Table 18**. The use of the desirability function (**Fig. 27**) enabled the determination of the settings recommended to achieve A_{AR} maximisation. Under these C_{TP} and C_{AA} combinations, maximum A_{AR} was estimated to be 168.98±10.43 and 143.39±11.18 µmoL DPPH g⁻¹ dw, for the extracts obtained with DES/m- β -CD and DES, respectively. As can be seen in **Fig. 28**, the interaction pattern with AA was identical, but the difference of 15% in performance was a further confirmation that the OLL extract could act as a better radical scavenger in the absence of m- β -CD.

Antioxidant test	2 nd order polynomial equations	R ²	р
Without m-β-CD	$88.36 + 38.96C_{\rm TP} - 35.96C_{\rm AA} - 9.72C_{\rm TP}^2 + 15.18C_{\rm AA}^2$	1.00	< 0.0001
With m-β-CD	$76.49 + 32.13C_{\rm TP} - 32.04C_{\rm AA} - 8.64C_{\rm TP}^2 + 12.84C_{\rm AA}^2$	0.99	0.0002

Table 18: Polynomial equations and statistical parameters describing the effect of the independent variables on the response (AAR) for all OLL/AA mixtures tested.



implementing response surface methodology.



The optimal estimated ratio of C_{TP}/C_{AA} to attain maximum A_{AR} was in both cases 7/1 (**Table 19**), which clearly indicated that switching of C_{AA} to higher levels would not provide higher AAR. This particular antiradical behaviour of the OLL extract/AA would most probably be ascribed to the nature of the major radical scavengers occurring in OLL extracts. In previous studies pertaining to AAR of mixtures of polyphenol-containing extracts with AA, it was shown that grape stem extracts displayed the highest performance when combined with AA at a $C_{\text{TP}}/C_{\text{AA}}$ ratio of 1/1 (Karvela *et al.*, 2012), but for grape seed extracts optimal ratio of 0.82/1 was also determined (Karvela et al., 2013). These findings suggested that the nature of principal antioxidant polyphenols in an extract might greatly define the antiradical effects. Investigations with pure polyphenols including quercetin, hesperetin and ferulic acid, revealed that interactions with AA at molar ratio 1:1 yielded antagonism (Aoun and Makris, 2012), a behaviour that was confirmed by a following detailed study on reducing power, employing response surface methodology (Aoun and Makris, 2013). In this study, however, it was shown that maximum response in hesperetin/AA mixtures was achieved at a molar ratio of 5.2/1, which clearly indicated that the nature of polyphenolic antioxidant may define the molar ratio that could yield maximum antioxidant effect, in combination with AA.

 Table 19: Optimal, predicted concentration ratios and theoretically calculated maximum response for all mixtures tested, obtained from the implementation of design.

Antioxidant test	Maximum predicted response	Optimal ratio
Without m-β-CD	168.98±10.43	70/10
With m-β-CD	143.39±11.18	70/10

5.4. Conclusions

The examination of the effect of m- β -CD on the radical scavenging ability of OLL polyphenols was approached first by a kinetic assay to determine stoichiometry and second by a response surface methodology to investigate interactions with the natural antioxidant ascorbic acid. In spite of the references reporting on the enhancement of the antioxidant activity of polyphenols in the presence of various cyclodextrins, this study demonstrated that m- β -CD may lower the radical efficiency of OLL polyphenols. Similar outcome was observed in the interactions of OLL polyphenols with ascorbic acid, which was a further concurrence of the hindering effect of m- β -CD. Based on the evidence emerged by this investigation, it was postulated that the orientation of oleuropein, the most abundant OLL antioxidant, inside the m- β -CD cavity, as well as the interactions of the encapsulated polyphenols with m- β -CD may be responsible for the phenomena observed. It is proposed that further studies with different β -cyclodextrin derivatives are required to fully clarify the mechanism of suppression (or enhancement) of the antiradical activity of polyphenol-containing extracts.

References

- Alluis, B., & Dangles, O. (2001). Quercetin (= 2-(3, 4-dihydroxyphenyl)-3, 5, 7-trihydroxy-4H-1-benzopyran-4-one) glycosides and sulfates: chemical synthesis, complexation, and antioxidant properties. *Helvetica Chimica Acta*, 84 (5), 1133-1156.
- Álvarez-Parrilla, E., Palos, R., Rosa, L.A., Frontana-Uribe, B.A., González-Aguilar, G.A., Machi, L., & Ayala-Zavala, J.F. (2010). Formation of two 1:1 chlorogenic acid: βcyclodextrin complexes at pH 5: Spectroscopic, thermodynamic and voltammetric study. *Journal of the Mexican Chemical Society*, **54** (2), 103-110.
- Aoun, M., & Makris, D.P. (2012). Binary mixtures of natural polyphenolic antioxidants with ascorbic acid: impact of interactions on the antiradical activity. *International Food Research Journal*, **19** (2), 603-606.
- Aoun, M., & Makris, D.P. (2013). Use of response surface methodology to evaluate the reducing power in binary solutions of ascorbic acid with natural polyphenolic antioxidants. *International Journal of Food Studies*, 2 (2), 238-251.
- Athanasiadis, V., Grigorakis, S., Lalas, S., & Makris, D.P. (2017b). Methyl β-cyclodextrin as a booster for the extraction for *Olea europaea* leaf polyphenols with a bio-based deep eutectic solvent. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*, doi: 10.1007/s13399-017-0283-5.
- Athanasiadis, V., Grigorakis, S., Lalas, S., & Makris, D.P. (2017a). Highly Efficient Extraction of Antioxidant Polyphenols from *Olea europaea* Leaves Using an Eco-friendly

Glycerol/Glycine Deep Eutectic Solvent. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, doi: 10.1007/s12649-017-9997-7.

- Brand-Williams, W., Cuvelier, M.E., & Berset, C.L. (1995). Use of a free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity. *LWT Food Science and Technology*, **28** (1), 25-30.
- Çelik, S.E., Özyürek, M., Güçlü, K., & Apak, R. (2015). Antioxidant capacity of quercetin and its glycosides in the presence of β-cyclodextrins: influence of glycosylation on inclusion complexation. *Journal of Inclusion Phenomena and Macrocyclic Chemistry*, **83** (3-4), 309-319.
- Choueiri, L., Chedea, V.S., Calokerinos, A., & Kefalas, P. (2012). Antioxidant/pro-oxidant properties of model phenolic compounds. Part II: Studies on mixtures of polyphenols at different molar ratios by chemiluminescence and LC-MS. *Food Chemistry*, **133** (3), 1039-1044.
- Dangles, O., Fargeix, G., & Dufour, C. (1999). One-electron oxidation of quercetin and quercetin derivatives in protic and non protic media. *Journal of the Chemical Society*, *Perkin Transactions* 2, (7), 1387-1396.
- Diamanti, A.C., Igoumenidis, P.E., Mourtzinos, I., Yannakopoulou, K., & Karathanos, V.T. (2017). Green extraction of polyphenols from whole pomegranate fruit using cyclodextrins. *Food Chemistry*, **214**, 61-66.
- Folch-Cano, C., Jullian, C., Speisky, H., & Olea-Azar, C. (2010). Antioxidant activity of inclusion complexes of tea catechins with β-cyclodextrins by ORAC assays. *Food Research International*, **43** (8), 2039-2044.
- García-Padial, M., Martínez-Ohárriz, M.C., Navarro-Blasco, I., & Zornoza, A. (2013). The role of cyclodextrins in ORAC-fluorescence assays. Antioxidant capacity of tyrosol and caffeic acid with hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **61** (50), 12260-12264.
- Goupy, P., Dufour, C., Loonis, M., & Dangles, O. (2003). Quantitative kinetic analysis of hydrogen transfer reactions from dietary polyphenols to the DPPH radical. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **51** (3), 615-622.
- Karvela, E., Makris, D.P., & Karathanos, V.T. (2012). Implementation of response surface methodology to assess the antiradical behaviour in mixtures of ascorbic acid and αtocopherol with grape (*Vitis vinifera*) stem extracts. *Food Chemistry*, **132** (1), 351-359.
- Karvela, E., Makris, D.P., & Karathanos, V.T. (2013). Evaluation of mixture effects in binary solutions of ascorbic acid with grape (*Vitis vinifera*) seed extracts using response surface methodology. *International Food Research Journal*, **20** (5), 2193-2198.

- López-Alarcón, C., & Denicola, A. (2013). Evaluating the antioxidant capacity of natural products: A review on chemical and cellular-based assays. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, **763**, 1-10.
- Lu, Z., Cheng, B., Hu, Y., Zhang, Y., & Zou, G. (2009). Complexation of resveratrol with cyclodextrins: solubility and antioxidant activity. *Food Chemistry*, **113** (1), 17-20.
- Makris, D.P., Passalidi, V., Kallithraka, S., & Mourtzinos, I. (2016). Optimization of polyphenol extraction from red grape pomace using aqueous glycerol/tartaric acid mixtures and response surface methodology. *Preparative Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, **46** (2), 176-182.
- Medronho, B., Valente, A.J., Costa, P., & Romano, A. (2014). Inclusion complexes of rosmarinic acid and cyclodextrins: stoichiometry, association constants, and antioxidant potential. *Colloid and Polymer Science*, **292** (4), 885-894.
- Moon, J.K., & Shibamoto, T. (2009). Antioxidant assays for plant and food components. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, **57** (5), 1655-1666.
- Mourtzinos, I., Papadakis, S.E., Igoumenidis, P., & Karathanos, V.T. (2011). Encapsulation of *Melissa Officinalis* leafs active compounds in β-cyclodextrin and modified starch. *Procedia Food Science*, **1**, 1679-1685.
- Mourtzinos, I., Salta, F., Yannakopoulou, K., Chiou, A., & Karathanos, V.T. (2007). Encapsulation of olive leaf extract in β-cyclodextrin. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **55** (20), 8088-8094.
- Obied, H.K., Prenzler, P.D., Omar, S.H., Ismael, R., Servili, M., Esposto, S., Taticchi, A., Selvaggini, R., & Urbani, S. (2012). *Pharmacology of olive biophenols*. In Advances in Molecular Toxicology, Eds Fishbein, J.C., Vol. 6, 6, 195-242.
- Shao, P., Zhang, J., Fang, Z., & Sun, P. (2014). Complexing of chlorogenic acid with βcyclodextrins: Inclusion effects, antioxidative properties and potential application in grape juice. *Food Hydrocolloids*, **41**, 132-139.
- Shehata, E., Grigorakis, S., Loupassaki, S., & Makris, D.P. (2015). Extraction optimisation using water/glycerol for the efficient recovery of polyphenolic antioxidants from two *Artemisia* species. *Separation and Purification Technology*, **149**, 462-469.
- Snelgrove, D.W., Lusztyk, J., Banks, J.T., Mulder, P., & Ingold, K.U. (2001). Kinetic Solvent Effects on Hydrogen-Atom Abstractions: Reliable, Quantitative Predictions *via* a Single Empirical Equation. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, **123** (3), 469-477.
- Villano, D., Fernández-Pachón, M.S., Moyá, M.L., Troncoso, A.M., & García-Parrilla, M.C. (2007). Radical scavenging ability of polyphenolic compounds towards DPPH free radical. *Talanta*, **71** (1), 230-235.



Chapter 6: General conclusions

A newly synthesided deep eutectic solvent (DES) composed of two biomolecules, glycerol and glycine, was tested for its effectiveness in extracting polyphenolic antioxidants from olive leaves (OLL). Following a first stage of parameter optimisation, this particular DES was demonstrated to be highly efficient, giving significantly increased polyphenol yield compared with conventional bio-solvents, such as aqueous ethanol and water. The DES extract also displayed stronger antioxidant effects.

Further studies demonstrated for the first time that methyl-β-cyclodextrin (m-β-CD) can be very effectively combined with this DES, boosting polyphenol extraction from OLL. The investigations performed showed that yield in total polyphenols (Y_{TP}) and yield in total flavonoids (Y_{TFn}) achieved with DES/m-β-CD were significantly higher compared with those attained with aqueous ethanol. In addition, the DES/m-β-CD extract possessed improved antioxidant properties, and this might not be simply attributed to the higher polyphenol concentration, as interactions with m-β-CD could have an important contribution. Liquid chromatography-diode array-mass spectrometry (LC-DAD-MS) analysis revealed that DES/mβ-CD and DES extracts had identical polyphenolic profile, suggesting that m-β-CD posed no issue of selectivity, but it acted solely towards boosting the extraction yield. Contrary to that, the aqueous ethanolic extract had poorer composition, revealing the effectiveness of the DES/m-β-CD as an extraction medium. Then, the study was still in progress to ascertain the validity of the model proposed in scale-up procedures, which is anticipated to further illustrate its applicability for industrial use.

OLL extracts, obtained with either DES/m- β -CD or only DES were shown to suffer alterations regarding their polyphenolic profile, when stored for a period of 20 days at 50 °C. These alterations were mainly characterised by degradation of some glycosides and the formation of a yellow pigments as a result of polyphenol oxidation. It was therefore postulated that the decline in reducing power (P_R) seen in the stored OLL extracts could be ascribed to the

oxidation of some OLL constituents. However, the kinetic study demonstrated that the incorporation of m- β -CD in the extraction solvent may result in notable retardation of the P_R decay. This finding highlighted the importance of such additives in stabilising polyphenol-containing extracts in DES.

However, with regard to the antioxidant effects of the extract obtained with DES/m- β -CD and in spite of the references reporting on the enhancement of the antioxidant activity of polyphenols in the presence of various cyclodextrins, this study demonstrated that m- β -CD may lower the radical efficiency of OLL polyphenols. Similar outcome was observed in the interactions of OLL polyphenols with ascorbic acid, which was a further concurrence of the hindering effect of m- β -CD. Based on the evidence emerged by this investigation, it was postulated that the interactions of the encapsulated polyphenols with m- β -CD may be responsible for the phenomena observed.

The DES study of this investigation is proposed as an eco-friendly means of boosting polyphenol recovery through solid-liquid extraction and this may also pave the way for more effective valorisation of other phytochemicals, from agri-food waste biomass. Since the solvent is composed of non-toxic substances naturally occurring in foods, the extracts may be directly used as bioactive constituents in food/cosmetic/pharmaceutical formulations, where this would be convenient, thus negating the need of downstream processing for solvent removal. This would eventually lead in lower cost and energy consumption, in line with a sustainable process. Further studies are required to clarify the exact mechanism of protection, which could lead in more efficient utilisation of m- β -CD in formulations related with food, pharmaceutical and cosmetic products. Further more it is proposed that additional studies with different β -cyclodextrin derivatives are required to fully clarify the mechanism of suppression (or enhancement) of the antiradical activity of polyphenol-containing extracts.

Appendices

A. Curriculum vitae

Mr. Vassilis Athanasiadis has the Bachelor's degree (BSc) in Food Technology since 2010, also has the Master's degree (MSc) in Applied Public Health and Environmental Hygiene with focus on Food and Water Quality and Safety and Public Health since 2013, and he is PhD candidate in Food Science and Nutrition. He is an Academic Research Fellow at the Departments of Food Technology and Nutrition and Dietetics of University of Applied Sciences (T.E.I.) of Thessaly. He has experience in recovery, separation and identification of natural product extracts and determination of their antioxidant activity. He has also experience in modern analytical techniques (chromatography, spectrophotometry, etc.). He participated in 7 national research programs. He has published 10 research articles in scientific journals (with more than 110 citations), more than 22 presentations in international and national conferences, and he is a reviewer in 8 international scientific journals (with more than 20 research articles). He is also a member of Food InnovaLab research laboratory (at T.E.I. of Thessaly), and of Hellenic Association of Food Technologists.

- **Mobile**: +30-6974545988.
- e-mail: <u>vs.athanas@gmail.com</u> / <u>vs.athanas@aegean.gr</u>
- Academia profile: <u>http://teilar.academia.edu/vathanasiadis</u>
- Linkedin profile: <u>https://www.linkedin.com/in/vathanasiadis</u>



B. Doctoral thesis projects

i. Published work in international scientific journals with referees

- Highly efficient extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from *Olea europaea* leaves using an eco-friendly glycerol/glycine deep eutectic solvent
 <u>V. Athanasiadis</u>, S. Grigorakis, S. Lalas and D.P. Makris Journal Name: *Waste and Biomass Valorization* Publication Date: Jun 22, 2017
 DOI: 10.1007/s12649-017-9997-7
 URL: <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12649-017-9997-7</u>
- Methyl-β-cyclodextrin as a booster for the extraction for *Olea europaea* leaf polyphenols with a bio-based deep eutectic solvent

 <u>V. Athanasiadis</u>, S. Grigorakis, S. Lalas and D.P. Makris
 Journal Name: *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery* Publication Date: Aug 24, 2017
 DOI: 10.1007/s13399-017-0283-5
 URL: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s13399-017-0283-5
- 3. Stability effects of methyl-β-cyclodextrin on *Olea europaea* leaf extracts in a natural deep eutectic solvent
 <u>V. Athanasiadis</u>, S. Grigorakis, S. Lalas and D.P. Makris
 Journal Name: *European Food Research and Technology*Publication Date: submitted
 DOI:
 URL:

4. Effect of methyl-β-cyclodextrin on radical scavenging kinetics of olive leaf extracts and interactions with ascorbic acid
<u>V. Athanasiadis</u>, S. Lalas and D.P. Makris
Journal Name: *ChemEngineering*Publication Date: Sep 11, 2017
DOI: 10.3390/chemengineering1010006
URL: http://www.mdpi.com/2305-7084/1/1/6

ii. Work presentations in conferences

- Eco-friendly glycerol/glycine low-transition temperature mixture (LTTM) as an effective solvent for the extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from *Olea europaea* leaves

 <u>V. Athanasiadis</u>, S. Grigorakis, S. Lalas and D.P. Makris
 More Info: 7th National Conference Trends in the Field of Lipids, Greek Lipid
 Forum, Thessaloniki, Greece
 Event date: Oct 5, 2017
 URL: https://greeklipidforum7thconference.wordpress.com
- 2. Highly efficient extraction polyphenols from olive leaves (*Olea europaea*) with a deep eutectic solvent using methyl-β-cyclodextrin
 <u>V. Athanasiadis</u>, S. Grigorakis, S. Lalas and D.P. Makris
 More Info: *Food Industry & Environment*, Chem-EcoLink 2017, Paiania, Greece
 Event date: Nov 26, 2017
 URL1: <u>http://www.chem-ecolink.gr</u>
 URL2: <u>http://www.petet.org.gr/pages/?p=4500</u>

ORIGINAL PAPER



Highly Efficient Extraction of Antioxidant Polyphenols from *Olea europaea* Leaves Using an Eco-friendly Glycerol/Glycine Deep Eutectic Solvent

Vassilis Athanasiadis¹ · Spyros Grigorakis² · Stavros Lalas³ · Dimitris P. Makris¹

Received: 10 February 2017 / Accepted: 22 June 2017 © Springer Science+Business Media B.V. 2017

Abstract A number of biological activities have been attributed to polyphenolic substances occurring in the leaves of the olive tree (Olea europaea), an olive oil industry waste material, and for this reason several extraction processes have been developed for the efficient recovery of these phytochemicals. The study presented herein describes for the first time the use of an eco-friendly deep eutectic solvent (DES) as a highly effective solvent for the extraction of polyphenols from olive tree leaves. Initially, a central composite design was implemented to optimise solvent composition and liquid-to-solid ratio and then a kinetic assay was performed to investigate diffusivity (D_e) and temperature effects. The maximum total polyphenol yield was 106.25 mg gallic acid equivalents per g dry weight, achieved at 70 °C. This value was by 18% higher than that achieved with 60% aqueous methanol. Furthermore, the DES extract exhibited significantly higher antiradical activity and reducing power. Temperature increase up to 70 °C was shown to boost $D_{\rm e}$ and the activation energy determined for the process was 29.55 kJ mol⁻¹. Characterisation of the extract by means of liquid chromatography-diode array-mass spectrometry showed oleuropein

Dimitris P. Makris dmakris@aegean.gr

- ¹ School of Environment, University of the Aegean, Mitr. Ioakim Street, 81400 Myrina, Lemnos, Greece
- ² Food Quality & Chemistry of Natural Products, Mediterranean Agronomic Institute of Chania (M. A. I. Ch.), International Centre for Advanced Mediterranean Agronomic Studies (CIHEAM), P.O. Box 85, 73100 Chania, Greece
- ³ Department of Food Technology, Technological Educational Institute (T.E.I.) of Thessaly, N. Temponera Street, 43100 Karditsa, Greece

and certain flavone glycosides to be the major polyphenolic constituents.

Keywords Antioxidants · Deep eutectic solvents · *Olea europaea* · Polyphenols

. 1.

List of Symbols

Antiradical activity (μ mol DPPH g ⁻¹)
DES concentration (%, w/v)
Diffusivity (m s^{-1}).
Activation energy (kJ mol ⁻¹)
Initial extraction rate (mg g^{-1} min ⁻¹)
Second-order extraction rate constant (g mg ⁻¹
\min^{-1})
Reducing power (μ mol AAE g ⁻¹)
Liquid-to-solid ratio (mL g^{-1})
Time (min)
Temperature (°C or K)
Yield in total flavonoids (mg RtE g^{-1})
Yield in total polyphenols (mg GAE g^{-1})
Yield in total polyphenols at saturation (mg GAE
g^{-1})

- AAE Ascorbic acid equivalents
- DES Deep eutectic solvents

DPPH 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl radical

- GAE Gallic acid equivalents
- MW Molecular weight
- OLL Olive tree leaves
- RtE Rutin equivalents
- TPTZ 2,4,6-tripyridyl-s-triazine

Introduction

The generation of food waste biomass encompasses a spectrum of activities, such as agricultural practices, industrial manufacturing and household consumption and contemporary environmental concepts, such as the circular economy, are regarded as the driving force for the implementation of "zero waste policies". The high volume of waste deriving from the food industry raises serious concerns, pertaining to both economic and environmental aspects, but a large amount of this residual biomass has a significant potential used as raw material for the production of novel commodities and specialty feedstock through biorefining procedures [1].

The recovery of precious secondary metabolites from waste plant tissues is an attractive prospect in this regard, since many parts of plant material rejected during fruit and vegetable processing, such as peels, stems, seeds and leaves, bear a considerable load of such phytochemicals, including polyphenols. This particular class of compounds embraces numerous chemical structures of variable biological properties and functionalities, which are related with antioxidant and antimicrobial activity, as well as chemoprotective activity against cancer and other degenerative diseases [2]. Olive leaves (OLL) are a waste material of the olive oil industry and they are rejected during olive fruit cleaning. OLL contain relatively high amounts of polyphenols compared with other food wastes [3] and possess a peculiar polyphenolic profile, composed mainly of oleuropein, a major bioactive phenolic, but also several flavone glycosides [4, 5]. OLL polyphenols have been a subject of extensive and thorough studies, owed to their pharmacological potency [6] and for this reason OLL polyphenol recovery has been a primal research field [7].

A crucial step in the recovery process is the molecule extraction, and conventional solvent extraction is the tool of preference, implemented on industrial scale to extract bioactive compounds from plant matrices [8]. However, food industries are facing the challenge to move towards sustainable process strategies, to maximize valorization of wastes for higher profitability and reduced environmental aggravation [9]. In this direction, emerging technologies are increasingly adopted by food industries, on the recognition of their potential to recover high-added value compounds effectively and in a sustainable framework. With regard to extraction on industrial scale, conventional methodologies have some major drawbacks, such as low extract recovery and long extraction duration and intensive heating, resulting in high energy consumption. Additionally, due to toxicity and the increasing prices of fossil resources, replacement of traditional solvents is a primary objective. Thus green extraction processes are being oriented toward extraction intensification, increased mass and heat transfer,

reduced equipment size, and reduction of processing steps [10].

Deep eutectic solvents (DES) are novel liquids, composed of inexpensive, recyclable and non-toxic materials, which can be natural substances (e.g. sugars, organic acids and salts etc.) [11]. DES synthesis is eco-friendly, facile and straightforward and properties such as low vapour pressure, absence of flammability and water miscibility make DES ideal solvents for a range of sustainable and environmentally benign applications. Recently, the use of such solvents for the extraction of natural products has been attracting interest, because of their unique potency that allows for extraction yields higher than those achieved with conventional solvents [3]. Considering the above concepts and perspectives, the present examination was carried out to test a newly synthesized, eco-compatible DES, with regard to its potential in recovering bio-active polyphenolic phytochemicals from OLL. The approach employed included first optimization of basic extraction parameters and then a kinetic assay to assess the effect of temperature on the extraction process. The results were evaluated by comparison with other environmentally benign solvents, and characterization of the antioxidant activity and polyphenolic profile of the extracts.

Materials and Methods

Chemicals

Solvents used for liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry were HPLC grade. Glycerol and aluminium chloride were from Fisher Scientific (NJ, USA). Ferric chloride hexahydrate was from Acros Organics (Geel, Belgium). Gallic acid, glycine, Folin–Ciocalteu reagent, 2,2-diphenyl-*1*-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), ascorbic acid, rutin (quercetin 3-*O*-rutinoside) and 2,4,6-tripyridyl-*s*-triazine (TPTZ) were from Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany). Sodium acetate trihydrate was from Penta (Prague, Czeck Republic).

Preparation of the DES

DES preparation was carried out according to a previously reported methodology [3]. Briefly, glycerol (HBD) was mixed with glycine (HBA) and water at a molar ratio 7:1:3. The mixture was heated in a stoppered glass vial at 80–90 °C for approximately 90 min, under stirring, until a perfectly transparent liquid was formed. The DES was stored in screw-cap glass vial, in the dark, at room temperature. The DES was periodically inspected for the appearance of crystals, within a period of several weeks.

Plant Material

Olive leaves (OLL) were from the *olea europaea* variety Agrielia Kalamon, collected from an olive tree plantation located at Avlida (Evia, Central Greece). Sampling and OLL handling was performed as described in an earlier study [12].

Experimental Design

A central composite design with one central point was deployed [13] to test the effect of concentration of the DES (C_{DES}) and the liquid-to-solid ratio $(R_{\text{L/S}})$ on the total polyphenol yield (Y_{TP}) . For this scope, appropriate amounts of dry OLL powder were mixed with 25 mL of aqueous DES and stirred at 600 rpm for 120 min, at 50 °C. C_{DES} and $R_{\text{L/S}}$ used were predetermined by the experimental design (Table 1). The response (Y_{TP}) at each design point was measured and recorded (Table 2).

Kinetics and Temperature Assay

Amount of 1.56 g of dry OLL powder was mixed with 50 mL of solvent, $[C_{\text{DES}}=80\% \text{ (w/v)}, \text{R}_{\text{L/S}}=32 \text{ mL g}^{-1}]$ and extractions were performed as described above, within a temperature range of 40–70 °C. Sampling was accomplished at regular intervals (5–280 min) to measure Y_{TP} . The second-order model, as previously described [14], was obtained by plotting 1/Y_{TP} as a function of *t* (Fig. 1). Then kinetic parameters including second-order extraction rate constant (*k*), initial extraction rate (*h*) and extraction yield at saturation ($Y_{\text{TP}(s)}$) were determined. Likewise, the effect of temperature was estimated by calculating the activation energy (E_a), according to a previous study [15]. Diffusivity was estimated as described in details elsewhere [16].

Spectrophotometric Determinations

Total polyphenol yield (Y_{TP}) was determined using the Folin–Ciocalteu reagent and expressed as mg gallic acid equivalents (GAE) per g of dry material [16]. Total flavonoid yield was determined using the AlCl₃ reagent as described previously [15] and expressed as mg rutin equivalents (RtE) per g of dry material. Ferric reducing

 Table 1
 Coded and actual levels of the independent variables used for the central composite design

Independent variables	Code units	Coded	Coded variable level		
		-1	0	1	
C _{DES} (w/v, %)	X ₁	50	65	80	
R _{L/S}	X_2	20	35	50	

 Table 2
 Measured and predicted responses for all design points considered for the experimental design

Design point	Independent	t variables	Response $(Y_{TP}, mg \text{ GAE } g^{-1} dw)$		
	$C_{\text{DES}}(\mathbf{X}_1)$	$R_{mol}(X_2)$	Measured	Predicted	
1	-1	-1	82.33	81.23	
2	-1	1	80.86	80.13	
3	1	-1	91.29	91.67	
4	1	1	89.45	90.21	
5	-1	0	80.78	82.61	
6	1	0	94.01	92.87	
7	0	-1	78.02	78.74	
8	0	1	77.49	77.46	
9	0	0	79.36	80.02	

power (P_R) was estimated using the TPTZ methodology [16]. The antiradical activity (A_{AR}) was measured with the DPPH probe, as described elsewhere [17]. P_R and A_{AR} were expressed as µmol ascorbic acid equivalents (AAE) and µmol DPPH per g of dry material, respectively.

Qualitative Liquid Chromatography–Diode Array– Mass Spectrometry (LC–DAD–MS)

A previously described methodology [16] was employed to tentatively characterise the principal polyphenolic metabolites, with some modifications. Briefly, the



Fig. 1 3D plot displaying the effect of simultaneous variation of C_{DES} and $R_{\text{L/S}}$ on Y_{TP} . OLL Extractions were carried out at 50 °C, under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, for 120 min

equipment used was a Finnigan MAT Spectra System P4000 pump, coupled with a UV6000LP diode array detector and a Finnigan AQA mass spectrometer. A Fortis RP-18 column, 150×2.1 mm, 3 µm, was used, at 40 °C. Analyses were performed with electrospray ionization (ESI) in positive ion mode, with acquisition set at 5 and 50 eV, capillary voltage 4 kV, source voltage 25 V, detector voltage 650 V and probe temperature 350 °C. Spectra scans were performed within a *m*/*z* range of 100 to 1000 amu. Eluent (A) and eluent (B) were 1% acetic acid and methanol, respectively. The flow rate was 0.2 mL min⁻¹, and the elution programme used was as follows: 0–2 min, 10% B; 2–40 min, 100% B; 45 min, 100% B.

Statistics

Extractions were repeated at least twice and all determinations at least in triplicate. Values reported are averages and standard deviations. Linear and non-linear regressions were performed with SigmaPlot[®] 12.0. Central composite experimental design and all associated statistics were performed with JMP[®] 10.

Results and Discussion

DES Synthesis and Optimisation of Solvent Composition

In an earlier investigation [18], DES composed of L-lactic acid and glycine at a molar ratio 3:1 was shown to be unstable, yielding a plastic solid. This mixture was successfully tailored by adding three moles of water, to give a stable DES, which was found to be a very efficient solvent for the extraction of polyphenolic antioxidants from various medicinal herbs, compared with a few other L-lactic acid-based DES that contained organic salts as HBAs. This finding evidenced that glycine might be a HBA with a high potency in forming DES with enhanced extraction efficiency. In this context, attempts were undertaken to combine glycerol (HBD) with glycine, in the view of synthesising an efficient and more cost-effective solvent, which could have an important prospect for polyphenol recovery. To this purpose, glycerol was combined with glycine starting from a molar ratio 1:1, but up to ratio 6:1 all mixtures were unstable, giving crystallisation. A ratio of 7:1 was of improved stability as the crystallisation observed was limited, but stability was assured through tailoring with 3 moles of water. Thus the final composition of the DES was glycerol:glycine:water (7:1:3). This DES was used for further examination.

The next step was the optimisation of the extraction process with respect to DES concentration (C_{DES}) and

the liquid-to-solid ratio $(R_{L/S})$, two critical parameters that largely define extraction yield [16]. For this scope, a central composite design with one central point was used and the extraction efficiency was estimated by determining the total polyphenol yield (Y_{TP}) . The effect of the simultaneous variation of the independent variables $(C_{\text{DES}} \text{ and } R_{\text{L/S}})$ was illustrated in the form of a 3D plot (Fig. 1). Variations in $R_{L/S}$ provoked rather weak changes in Y_{TP} , but switching of C_{DES} had a pronounced impact in this regard. This is in line with the outcome of recent studies, which demonstrated that water content between 10 and 50% may greatly enhance the extraction performance of various DES [19]. This is because mixing the DES with water regulates properties such as polarity and viscosity, which are directly related with the extraction capacity of a solvent [20]. Depending on the polyphenols to be extracted, the ideal water content may vary up to approximately 64% (v/v) [21].

To assess quantitatively the combined effect of both independent variables, the desirability function was used (Fig. 2). It was found that only C_{DES} and its quadratic term were significant (p < 0.005) and therefore removal of the non-significant terms gave the following model:

$$Y_{\text{TP}} (\text{mg GA Eg}^{-1}\text{dw})$$

= 80.02 + 5.26X₁ + 7.71X₁² (R² = 0.97, p = 0.0043)

Using the fitted model, the optimal condition was found to be $C_{\text{DES}} = 80\%$ (w/v). Although $R_{\text{L/S}}$ exerted a non-significant effect on the model, the optimal value



Fig. 2 The use of desirability function to predict the optimal combination of C_{DES} and $R_{\text{L/S}}$ to achieve maximum Y_{TP} , under the conditions employed. The *inset table* illustrates the significance of each C_{DES} and $R_{\text{L/S}}$, as well as their quadratic and cross terms, to the model

determined (32 mL g⁻¹) was adopted, because it was within the range reported for polyphenol extraction with DES [21]. Under these conditions, the estimated maximum Y_{TP} was 92.94±3.15 mg GAE g⁻¹ dw.

Extraction Kinetics: Effect of temperature

In order to further evaluate the extraction capacity of the solvent, the optimal conditions ($C_{\text{DES}} = 80\%$ (w/v), $R_{\text{L/S}} = 32 \text{ mL g}^{-1}$) were used to trace extraction kinetics,



Fig. 3 Time course of Y_{TP} (*upper plot*) during extraction of OLL with the DES, under optimal conditions $[C_{DES} = 80\% \text{ (w/v)} \text{ and } R_{1/S} = 32 \text{ mL g}^{-1}]$. The *lower plot* shows the second-order kinetics

with the aim to estimating some basic kinetic parameters and the effect of temperature. The model best fitted to the data generated was second-order kinetics (Fig. 3), as previously shown for OLL extraction with aqueous glycerol and aqueous ethanol [22], but also with various glycerol-based DES for polyphenol extraction from *Satureja thymbra* [21]. It can be seen in Table 3 that an increase in T from 40 to 70 °C revealed kinetics obeying the Arrhenius model, giving $E_a = 29.55$ kJ mol⁻¹. This value was higher than that determined for polyphenol extraction from red grape pomace with aqueous glycerol $(13.94 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1})$ [23], but lower than those reported for polyphenol extraction with aqueous glycerol from onion solid wastes $(31.52 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1})$ [24] and Artemisia (37.64 kJ mol⁻¹) [17]. However, similar data for polyphenol extraction with DES are not available in the literature.

The effect of temperature on diffusivity (D_{a}) followed a similar trend, but a significant increase, approximately by fivefold, was recorded when the temperature was raised from 60 to 70 °C. Such a steep change might be associated with a sharp decrease in viscosity, since according to Stokes–Einstein equation, diffusion (D) is reciprocally related with viscosity [25]. It has been proposed that aqueous DES solutions could be disintegrated through hydrogen bond rupture, by the energy provided through temperature increase, hence abolishing their unique properties [21]. Such a theory could explain this unusual behaviour, yet it is to be proven. It should be emphasised that such a phenomenon has not been described in studies on polyphenol extraction with conventional solvents, where diffusivity increases in response to raising the temperature were much smoother [17, 23, 24]. On the other hand, if DES disintegration occurred, then a drop in its extraction capacity would have been observed, leading to lower Y_{TP} and Y_{TFn} , but this was not the case. Therefore, the steep increase in D_e recorded at 70 °C might be attributed to a weakening of hydrogen bonds between the HBD and HBA, and not complete rupture.

Comparison with Conventional Eco-friendly Solvents

To bring out the extraction capacity of the DES used, extraction of OLL was carried out under optimised

Table 3	Parameters of second-
order kir	netics, determined for
the extra	ction of TP from OLL,
using 80	% (w/v) aqueous DES

T (°C)	Kinetic parameters							
	$k (\times 10^{-3})$ (g mg ⁻¹ min ⁻¹)	$\frac{h}{(\text{mg g}^{-1} \min^{-1})}$	$\begin{array}{c} Y_{TP(s)} \\ (mg \ GAE \ g^{-1}) \end{array}$	$D_{\rm e}$ (m s ⁻¹)×10 ⁻¹²	$ \begin{array}{c} E_{\rm a} \\ (\rm kJ\ mol^{-1}) \end{array} $			
40	0.750	6.63	94.04	0.127	29.55			
50	1.157	12.12	102.36	0.138				
60	1.240	14.16	106.87	0.205				
70	1.864	23.10	111.33	1.041				

Extractions were performed under continuous stirring at 600 rpm and $R_{L/S} = 32 \text{ mL g}^{-1}$

conditions, at 70°C, and the results were compared with those obtained using distilled water and 60% ethanol (AE). but also 60% methanol (AM), which was used as a positive control. The results showed that extraction with the DES afforded almost 18% higher Y_{TP} than AE, over than 24% higher than AM and approximately 29% higher than water (Fig. 4, upper plot). To further illustrate the higher capacity of the DES, Y_{TEn} was also determined. In the same fashion, extraction with the DES gave 9.6, 15.3 and 43.8% higher Y_{TFn}, compared with AE, AM and water, respectively (Fig. 4, lower plot). Regarding AAR, extracts with AM and AE had comparable levels of 656.0 and 643.8 µmol DPPH g^{-1} dw, but the DES extract exhibited $A_{AR} = 1097.8 \mu mol$ DPPH g^{-1} dw (Fig. 5, upper plot). Likewise, AM and AE extracts had P_R values of 381.6 and 394.9 µmol AAE g^{-1} dw, but P_R for the DES extract was 445.1 µmol AAE g^{-1} dw (Fig. 5, lower plot). These findings clearly demonstrated that the DES used was far more efficient than AE



Fig. 4 Comparative diagram for Y_{TP} (upper plot) and Y_{TFn} (lower plot), obtained using 80% (w/v) DES, 60% aqueous methanol (AM), 60% aqueous ethanol (AE) and distilled water (W). Extractions were carried out at 70 °C, at $R_{L/S}$ = 32 mL g⁻¹, under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, for 280 min



Fig. 5 Comparative diagram for A_{AR} (*upper plot*) and P_R (*lower plot*), determined for OLL extracts obtained using 80% (w/v) DES, 60% aqueous methanol (AM), 60% aqueous ethanol (AE) and distilled water (W). Extractions were carried out at 70 °C, at $R_{L/S}$ =32 mL g⁻¹, under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, for 280 min

and water, yielding extracts with higher total polyphenol and total flavonoid content, but also with superior antioxidant properties.

At this point, it should be emphasised that the antioxidant activity seen in the OLL extracts has been proposed to be the integration of interactions amongst the polyphenolic constituents, rather than that of the individual substances [26]. Such a claim has been demonstrated by studies that assessed the antiradical behaviour of mixtures of pure antioxidants and extracts [27]. However, compounds such as hydroxytyrosol and luteolin 7-O-glucoside were shown to be major radical scavengers in OLL extracts [28] and it is likely that their levels in OLL extracts may affect significantly their antioxidant potency. However, since the polyphenolic composition and hence the antioxidant activity of OLL is subject to seasonal variations [28] and age [29], then methodologies that maximise extraction yield, as the one proposed herein, could assure extracts with high antioxidant activity.

Table 4UV–Vis and massspectrometric data of the majorpolyphenols detected in theOLL extracts, obtained with80% (w/v) DES, at 70 °C

No.	Rt (min)	UV–Vis	$[\mathrm{M}\!+\!\mathrm{H}]^+(m/z)$	Other ions (m/z)	Tentative identity
1	14.24	288, 322(s)	391	413 [M+Na] ⁺ , 261	Oleoside
2	18.80	288, 332	391	413 [M+Na] ⁺ , 229	Oleoside
3	22.86	248, 348	765	579, 503, 233	Luteolin derivative
4	23.36	266, 340	611	449, 287	Luteolin di-glycoside
5	24.96	264, 318, 368	603	475, 303	Quercetin derivative
6	25.90	248, 280(s), 356	595	617[M+Na] ⁺ , 449, 287	Luteolin rutinoside
7	26.39	248, 354	595	617[M+Na] ⁺ , 449, 287	Luteolin rutinoside
8	26.69	252, 280	541	563, 361, 137	Oleuropein isomer
9	27.30	244, 340	579	271	Apigenin rutinoside
10	28.38	252, 280	541	563, 385, 345	Oleuropein

Characterisation of Principal Polyphenols

The DES extract that displayed the highest Y_{TP} was analysed by LC-DAD-MS to tentatively characterise its polyphenolic profile. At this point it should be stressed that although olive leaf extracts from various Greek native varieties have been examined [30], data on the particular variety Agrielia Kalamon used in this study, to the best of our knowledge, are inexistent. In total, ten compounds could be identified including secoiridoid, flavone and flavonol derivatives (Table 4). Critical comparison with previous studies on olive leaf extract composition [12, 22, 31] showed the presence of two oleoside derivatives (compounds 1 and 2) and a quercetin derivative with m/z = 603 (compound 5), which was heretofore unreported. Other common representatives, including oleuropein (compound 10), a luteolin di-glycoside (compound 4), which most probably corresponds to luteolin 4',7-O-di-glucoside, two luteolin rutinosides (compounds 6 and 7) and an apigenin rutinoside (compound 9) were also present. On the other hand, no rutin (quercetin 3-O-rutinoside) or verbascoside, which are commonly encountered constituents [32], were detected.

Conclusions

In this investigation, a newly synthesised DES composed of two biomolecules, glycerol and glycine, was tested for its effectiveness in extracting polyphenolic antioxidants from OLL. Following a first stage of parameter optimisation, this particular DES was demonstrated to be highly efficient, giving significantly increased polyphenol yield compared with conventional bio-solvents, such as aqueous ethanol and water. The DES extract also displayed stronger antioxidant effects. Thus this solvent is proposed as an ecofriendly means of boosting polyphenol recovery through solid–liquid extraction and this may also pave the way for more effective valorisation of other phytochemicals, from agri-food waste biomass. Since the solvent is composed of non-toxic substances naturally occurring in foods, the extracts may be directly used as bioactive constituents in food/cosmetic/pharmaceutical formulations, where this would be convenient, thus negating the need of down-stream processing for solvent removal. This would eventually lead in lower cost and energy consumption, in line with a sustainable process. Currently, work is in progress to test a broader range of glycine-based DES, in an effort to further improve polyphenol extraction.

References

- Mirabella, N., Castellani, V., Sala, S.: Current options for the valorization of food manufacturing waste: a review. J. Clean. Prod. 65, 28–41 (2014)
- Li, A.-N., Li, S., Zhang, Y.-J., Xu, X.-R., Chen, Y.-M., Li, H.-B.: Resources and biological activities of natural polyphenols. Nutrients. 6, 6020–6047 (2014)
- Mouratoglou, E., Malliou, V., Makris, D.P.: Novel glycerolbased natural eutectic mixtures and their efficiency in the ultrasound-assisted extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from agrifood waste biomass. Waste Biomass Valor. 7, 1377–1387 (2016)
- Talhaoui, N., Taamalli, A., Gómez-Caravaca, A.M., Fernández-Gutiérrez, A. & Segura-Carretero, A. Phenolic compounds in olive leaves: analytical determination, biotic and abiotic influence, and health benefits. Food Res. Int. 77, 92–108 (2015)
- Roselló-Soto, E., Koubaa, M., Moubarik, A., Lopes, R.P., Saraiva, J.A., Boussetta, N., Grimi, N., Barba, F.J.: Emerging opportunities for the effective valorization of wastes and byproducts generated during olive oil production process: nonconventional methods for the recovery of high-added value compounds. Trends Food Sci. Technol. 45, 296–310 (2015)
- Obied, H.K., Prenzler, P.D., Omar, S.H., Ismael, R., Servili, M., Esposto, S., Taticchi, A., Selvaggini, R., Urbani, S.: Pharmacology of olive biophenols. Adv. Mol. Toxic. 6, 195–242 (2012)
- Abaza, L., Taamalli, A., Nsir, H., Zarrouk, M.: Olive tree (*Olea europeae* L.) leaves: importance and advances in the analysis of phenolic compounds. Antioxidants 4, 682–698 (2015)
- Barba, F.J., Zhu, Z., Koubaa, M., Sant'Ana, A.S., Orlien, V.: Green alternative methods for the extraction of antioxidant bioactive compounds from winery wastes and by-products: A review. Trends Food Sci. Technol. 49, 96–109 (2016).
- Misra, N.N., Cullen, P.J., Barba, F.J., Hii, C.L., Jaeger, H., Schmidt, J., Kovács, A., Yoshida, H.: Emerging macroscopic

pretreatment. In: Galanakis, C.M. Ied.) Food Waste Recovery. Processing Technologies and Industrial Techniques, Elsevier, London

- Rombaut, N., Tixier, A.S., Bily, A. Chemat, F.: Green extraction processes of natural products as tools for biorefinery. Biofuels Bioprod. Bioref. 8, 530–544 (2014).
- Paiva, A., Craveiro, R., Aroso, I., Martins, M., Reis, R.L., Duarte, A.R.C: Natural deep eutectic solvents–solvents for the 21st century. Sustain. Chem. Eng. 2, 1063–1071 (2014)
- Mylonaki, S., Kiassos, E., Makris, D.P., Kefalas, P.: Optimisation of the extraction of olive (*Olea europaea*) leaf phenolics using water/ethanol-based solvent systems and response surface methodology. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. **392**, 977 (2008)
- Tzima, K., Kallithraka, S., Kotseridis, Y., Makris, D.P.: A comparative evaluation of aqueous natural organic acid media for the efficient recovery of flavonoids from red grape (*Vitis vinifera*) pomace. Waste Biomass Valor. 6, 391–400 (2015)
- Cavdarova, M., Makris, D.P.: Extraction kinetics of phenolics from carob (*Ceratonia siliqua* L.) kibbles using environmentally benign solvents. Waste Biomass Valor. 5, 773–779 (2014)
- Makris, D.P.: Kinetics of ultrasound-assisted flavonoid extraction from agri-food solid wastes using water/glycerol mixtures. Resources 5, 7 (2016)
- Blidi, S., Bikaki, M., Grigorakis, S., Loupassaki, S., Makris, D.P.: A comparative evaluation of bio-solvents for the efficient extraction of polyphenolic phytochemicals: apple waste peels as a case study. Waste Biomass Valor. 6, 1125–1133 (2015)
- Shehata, E., Grigorakis, S., Loupassaki, S., Makris, D.P.: Extraction optimisation using water/glycerol for the efficient recovery of polyphenolic antioxidants from two *Artemisia* species. Separ. Purif. Technol. **149**, 462–469 (2015)
- Bakirtzi, C., Triantafyllidou, K., Makris, D.P.: Novel lactic acidbased natural deep eutectic solvents: efficiency in the ultrasoundassisted extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from common native Greek medicinal plants. J. Applied Res. Med. Arom. Plants 3, 120–127 (2016)
- Dai, Y., Witkamp, G.-J., Verpoorte, R., Choi, Y.H.: Natural deep eutectic solvents as a new extraction media for phenolic metabolites in *Carthamus tinctorius* L. Anal. Chem. 85, 6272–6278 (2013)
- Dai, Y., van Spronsen, J., Witkamp, G.-J., Verpoorte, R., Choi, Y.H.: Natural deep eutectic solvents as new potential media for green technology. Anal. Chim. Acta. **766**, 61–68 (2013)
- Jancheva, M., Grigorakis, S., Loupassaki, S., Makris, D.P.: Optimised extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from Satureja thymbra using newly designed glycerol-based natural low-transition temperature mixtures (LTTMs). J. Appl. Res. Med. Arom. Plants (2017)

- Apostolakis, A., Grigorakis, S., Makris, D.P.: Optimisation and comparative kinetics study of polyphenol extraction from olive leaves (*Olea europaea*) using heated water/glycerol mixtures. Separ. Purif. Technol. **128**, 89–95 (2014)
- Trasanidou, D., Apostolakis, A., Makris, D.P.: Development of a green process for the preparation of antioxidant and pigmentenriched extracts from winery solid wastes using response surface methodology and kinetics. Chem. Eng. Com. 203, 1317– 1325 (2016)
- Katsampa, P., Valsamedou, E., Grigorakis, S., Makris, D.P.: A green ultrasound-assisted extraction process for the recovery of antioxidant polyphenols and pigments from onion solid wastes using Box–Behnken experimental design and kinetics. Ind. Crops Prod. 77, 535–543 (2015)
- Karakashov, B., Grigorakis, S., Loupassaki, S., Makris, D.P.: Optimisation of polyphenol extraction from *Hypericum perforatum* (St. John's Wort) using aqueous glycerol and response surface methodology. J. Appl. Res. Med. Arom. Plants. 2, 1–8 (2015)
- Lee, O.-H., Lee, B.-Y.: Antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of individual and combined phenolics in *Olea europaea* leaf extract. Biores. Technol. **101**, 3751–3754 (2010)
- 27. Karvela, E., Makris, D.P., Karathanos, V.T.: Implementation of response surface methodology to assess the antiradical behaviour in mixtures of ascorbic acid and α-tocopherol with grape (*Vitis vinifera*) stem extracts. Food Chem. **132**, 351–359 (2012)
- Goulas, V., Papoti, V.T., Exarchou, V., Tsimidou, M.Z., Gerothanassis, I.P.: Contribution of flavonoids to the overall radical scavenging activity of olive (*Olea europaea* L.) leaf polar extracts. J. Agric. Food Chem. 58, 3303–3308 (2010)
- Laguerre, M., López Giraldo, L.J., Piombo, G., Figueroa-Espinoza, M.C., Pina, M., Benaissa, M., Combe, A., Castera, A.R., Lecomte, J., Villeneuve, P.: Characterization of olive-leaf phenolics by ESI-MS and evaluation of their antioxidant capacities by the CAT assay. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 86, 1215–1225 (2009)
- Mitsopoulos, G., Papageorgiou, V., Komaitis, M., Hagidimitriou, M.: Phenolic profile of leaves and drupes of ten olive varieties. Not. Botan. Horti Agrobot. Cluj-Napoca 44, 162 (2016)
- Mourtzinos, I., Anastasopoulou, E., Petrou, A., Grigorakis, S., Makris, D., Biliaderis, C.G.: Optimization of a green extraction method for the recovery of polyphenols from olive leaf using cyclodextrins and glycerin as co-solvents. J. Food Sci. Technol. 53, 3939–3947 (2016)
- Klen, J.T., Wondra, G.A., Vrhovšek, U.K., Mozetič Vodopivec, B.: Phenolic profiling of olives and olive oil process-derived matrices using UPLC-DAD-ESI-QTOF-HRMS analysis. J. Agric. Food Chem. 63, 3859–3872 (2015)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Methyl β -cyclodextrin as a booster for the extraction for *Olea* europaea leaf polyphenols with a bio-based deep eutectic solvent

Vassilis Athanasiadis^{1,2} · Spyros Grigorakis³ · Stavros Lalas² · Dimitris P. Makris¹

Received: 24 June 2017 / Revised: 28 July 2017 / Accepted: 2 August 2017 © Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany 2017

Abstract A novel deep eutectic solvent (DES) with optimised composition was used to evaluate the effect of methyl β -cyclodextrin (CD) on the efficiency of polyphenol extraction from Olea europaea leaves (OLLs). The process developed was based on a 2³ full-factorial design and response surface methodology to assess the simultaneous effect of CD concentration (C_{CD}), liquid-to-solid ratio ($R_{L/S}$) and temperature (T). Under optimised conditions ($C_{CD} = 9\%$, $R_{L/S}$ = 40 mL g⁻¹, T = 51 °C), the yield in total polyphenols $(Y_{\rm TP})$ was 116.65 ± 3.60 mg gallic acid equivalents per g dry weight. This value was significantly higher than that determined for the extraction performed with 60% aqueous ethanol. The extraction kinetics also showed that the extraction rate was slowed down in the presence of CD, yet the higher extraction capacity of the DES/CD medium was confirmed. Characterisation of the extracts obtained with DES/CD and DES by means of liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry demonstrated that there was no selective extraction of any particular polyphenol, suggesting that CD acted merely as an extraction booster.

Keywords Antioxidants \cdot Deep eutectic solvents \cdot Methyl β -cyclodextrin \cdot Olea europaea \cdot Polyphenols

Dimitris P. Makris dmakris@aegean.gr

- ¹ School of Environment, University of the Aegean, Mitr. Ioakim Street, 81400 Myrina, Lemnos, Greece
- ² Department of Food Technology, Technological Educational Institute (T.E.I.) of Thessaly, N. Temponera Street, 43100 Karditsa, Greece
- ³ Food Quality and Chemistry of Natural Products Programme, Mediterranean Agronomic Institute of Chania (M. A. I. Ch.), International Centre for Advanced Mediterranean Agronomic Studies (CIHEAM), P.O. Box 85, 73100 Chania, Greece

Nomenclature

- A_{AR} Antiradical activity (µmol DPPH g⁻¹)
- D_e Diffusivity (m² s⁻¹)
- *h* Initial extraction rate (mg $g^{-1} min^{-1}$)
- k Second-order extraction rate constant (g mg⁻¹ min⁻¹)
- P_R Reducing power (µmol AAE g⁻¹)
- $R_{L/S}$ Liquid-to-solid ratio (mL g⁻¹)
- t Time (min)
- T Temperature (°C)
- Y_{TFn} Yield in total flavonoids (mg RtE g⁻¹)
- $Y_{\rm TP}$ Yield in total polyphenols (mg GAE g⁻¹)
- $Y_{\text{TP(s)}}$ Yield in total polyphenols at saturation (mg GAE g⁻¹)

Abbreviations

- AAEs Ascorbic acid equivalents
- CD Methyl β -cyclodextrin
- DESs Deep eutectic solvents
- DPPH 2,2-Diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl radical
- GAEs Gallic acid equivalents
- OLLs Olea europaea leaves
- RtE Rutin equivalents
- TPTZ 2,4,6-Tripyridyl-s-triazine

1 Introduction

Nowadays, it is regarded imminent to emerging circular economy that the waste biomass deriving from the agricultural and food sector should not be simply treated as waste, but rather as a bioresource with high potential in value-added substances, chemicals and fuels. Agro-industrial activity accounts for the production of a large volume of wastes, including processing residues, such as leaves, branches, peels, roots, stems and seeds. This biomass is usually undervalorised, in spite its richness in an array of high value-added substances. A highly regarded class of phytochemicals of broad occurrence in agri-food wastes is polyphenols, embracing a bewildering diversity of structures [1]. A plethora of these compounds exhibits biological properties of particular interest, including antiinflammatory and chemopreventive activities [2], and therefore, they are considered to have an undisputed perspective as bioactive agents in food, pharmaceutical and cosmetic industries.

Mediterranean countries are facing pressure to deal with problems associated with agri-food wastes, typical to their native principal crops, such as olives. Olive industry wastes not properly treated are a primal environmental issue for olive-producing countries, and therefore, strategies aiming at valorising olive wastes, especially those allowing a sustainable recovery of valuable natural components, are gaining acceptance. Olive leaves, a regular olive-processing residue, may bear a high load of polyphenols [3] with potential pharmacological applications [4]; hence, various extraction methodologies have been developed for their effective recovery. However, green procedures for effective olive leaf polyphenol retrieval are rather limited [5], but the use of eco-friendly extraction techniques may represent unprecedented opportunities to face such a challenge in a sustainable manner [6].

A selective solvent with a high solubility of the target compounds is a salient feature of processes destined to achieve a high yield of target compounds in a short process time. Most of the extraction procedures are based on regulating solvent properties to increase solubility of the solute molecules by modifying solvent polarity. Apart from its physical–chemical capacity in dissolving the target compound(s), the toxicity of a solvent and the environmental impact by its use should also be considered. In this view, deep eutectic solvents (DESs), which are composed of inexpensive, recyclable and non-toxic natural substances (e.g. sugars, organic acids and salts), appear as the most promising prospect. This is because characteristics including low vapour pressure, absence of flammability and water miscibility make DES ideal solvents for a range of sustainable and eco-friendly applications [7].

Cyclodextrins are natural cyclic oligosaccharides originating from enzymic cleavage of starch, and they comprise of 6, 7 or 8 glucose units linked by $\alpha(1 \rightarrow 4)$ glycosidic bond. Cyclodextrin structure has a truncated cone shape, with a hydrophobic cavity inside and a hydrophilic external surface; therefore, cyclodextrins can form inclusion complexes with sparingly water-soluble molecules (such as polyphenols), increasing their solubility [8]. Furthermore, cyclodextrin encapsulation of polyphenols contributes in higher stability and controlled release [9]. Recent studies showed that combining 2-hydroxypropyl β -cyclodextrin with aqueous glycerol may effectively increase yield of polyphenol extraction [10, 11]. Similar results were reported for water extraction of apple flavonols, using various cyclodextrins [12]. In the light of such evidence, the study carried out aimed at testing the efficiency of polyphenol extraction from OLL, using a combination of methyl β -cyclodextrin (CD) with a glycerol-based DES [13]. The process was first optimised by implementing a central composite design and performance assessment was based on kinetics and extract characterisation, using representative antioxidant tests and liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Chemicals and reagents

HPLC-grade solvents were used for liquid chromatography. Folin-Ciocalteu reagent was from Fluka (Steinheim, Germany). Ferric chloride hexahydrate and ascorbic acid were from Acros Organics (Geel, Belgium). Glycerol and aluminium chloride were from Fisher Scientific (NJ, USA). Sodium acetate was from Penta (Prague, Czech Republic). Methyl β cyclodextrin, gallic acid, 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), rutin (quercetin 3-*O*-rutinoside), glycine and 2,4,6tripyridyl-*s*-triazine (TPTZ) were from Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany).

2.2 Plant material and DES synthesis

Details regarding collection and handling of *Olea europaea* leaves (OLLs) have been analytically described elsewhere [14]. The material used for extraction was dried OLL powder, with an average mean particle diameter of approximately 0.5 mm. For DES synthesis, the optimised conditions were used [13]. Briefly, the DES was prepared using glycerol as the hydrogen bond donor (HBD) and glycine as the hydrogen bond acceptor (HBA), at a molar ratio HBD:HBA:water of 7:1:3. Aqueous solution 80% (w/v) of this DES was employed for all extractions performed.

2.3 Batch extraction process

A suitable amount of OLL powder was mixed with the DES and CD in a 50-mL glass vial, and extractions were carried out under continuous stirring on a magnetic stirrer, at 600 rpm, for 180 min. The amount of OLL powders, the concentration of CD and the temperature of the extraction were defined by the experimental design (Table 1). After the completion of each extraction, samples were centrifuged at $20,000 \times g$ and the clear supernatant was used for all analysis, after dilution 1:20 with water.

2.4 Experimental design

A 2^3 full-factorial design (Box-Behnken) was used, as described previously [15], with the yield in total

Table 1Actual values and coded levels of the independent variablesused for the 2^3 full-factorial design

Independent variables	Code units	Coded variable level		/el
		-1	0	1
$C_{\rm CD} (\% w/v)$	X_1	1	5	9
$R_{L/S} (\mathrm{mL} \mathrm{g}^{-1})$	X_2	10	25	40
<i>T</i> (°C)	X3	40	50	60

polyphenols (Y_{TP}) as the response. The three independent variables considered were the concentration of CD (C_{CD}) (X_1 , varying between 1 and 9%, w/v), liquid-to-solid ratio ($R_{L/S}$) (X_2 , varying between 10 and 40 mL g⁻¹) and temperature (T) (X_3 , varying between 40 and 60 °C). The range used for each variable was chosen on the basis of previous findings [8] and preliminary experimentation. Each variable was coded at three levels, -1, 0 and 1 (Table 1), according to the following equation:

$$x_i = \frac{X_i - X_0}{\Delta X_i}, i = 1, 2, 3 \tag{1}$$

The terms x_i and X_i represent the dimensionless and the actual values of the independent variable *i*, X_0 is the actual value of the independent variable *i* at the central point and ΔX_i is the step change of X_i corresponding to a unit variation of the dimensionless value. For each design point, the response was determined and recorded (Table 2). Data from the experimental design were subjected to regression analysis using least squares regression methodology to obtain the parameters of the mathematical models. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to assess the significance of the model. 3D plots were obtained using the fitted model.

2.5 Kinetic and diffusivity (D_e) determination

Extractions were carried out as described above, under optimised conditions, and sampling was accomplished at predetermined intervals (5–180 min) to calculate Y_{TP} . Then, Y_{TP} was plotted against time (*t*) and model fitting was performed with non-linear regression. The second-order model was obtained after plotting t/Y_{TP} as a function of *t*, according to the following equation [16]:

$$\frac{t}{Y_{\mathrm{TP}(t)}} = \frac{1}{kY_{\mathrm{TP}(s)}^2} + \frac{t}{Y_{\mathrm{TP}(s)}}$$
(2)

The initial extraction rate (*h*) and the yield in total polyphenols at saturation $(Y_{TP(s)})$ were determined graphically, from

Table 2 Measured and predicted value of Y_{TP} , determined forindividual design points

Design point	Independent variables		Response ($Y_{\rm TP}$; mg GAE g ⁻¹ dw)		
	X_1	<i>X</i> ₂	X3	Measured	Predicted
1	-1	-1	-1	74.67	75.17
2	-1	-1	1	87.20	86.88
3	-1	1	-1	104.94	105.56
4	-1	1	1	112.30	112.99
5	1	-1	-1	86.46	86.20
6	1	-1	1	91.99	91.81
7	1	1	-1	112.57	113.33
8	1	1	1	114.72	114.66
9	-1	0	0	103.27	101.78
10	1	0	0	108.38	108.13
11	0	-1	0	86.10	86.36
12	0	1	0	114.98	112.98
13	0	0	-1	99.42	97.80
14	0	0	1	104.44	104.31
15	0	0	0	102.68	103.68
16	0	0	0	101.18	103.68

the slope $(1/Y_{TP(s)})$ and the intercept (1/h), respectively. The second-order extraction rate constant (k) was then calculated:

$$h = kY_{\text{TP}(s)}^2 \tag{3}$$

Diffusivity (D_e) was determined using the linearised expression of Fick's second law for non-steady state, as described previously [17]:

$$1 - \frac{Y_{\text{TP}(t)}}{Y_{\text{TP}(s)}} = \frac{6}{\pi^2} e^{-\frac{D_e \pi^2 t}{r^2}}$$
(4)

 D_e calculation was based on the line with the shallow slope (slope $= \frac{D_e \pi^2}{r^2}$), obtained by plotting $\ln\left(\frac{Y_{\text{TP}(s)}}{Y_{\text{TP}(s)} - Y_{\text{TP}(t)}}\right)$ against *t*, where *r* is the radius of the solid particles.

2.6 Determinations

Total polyphenol yield (Y_{TP}) was determined using the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent and expressed as mg gallic acid equivalents (GAEs) per g of dried material [18]. Total flavonoid yield was determined using the AlCl₃ reagent as described previously [19] and expressed as mg rutin equivalents (RtE) per g of dried material. Ferric reducing power (P_R) was estimated using the TPTZ methodology [18]. The antiradical activity (A_{AR}) was measured with the DPPH probe. P_R and A_{AR} were expressed as µmol ascorbic acid equivalents (AAEs) and µmol DPPH per g of dried material, respectively.

2.7 Qualitative liquid chromatography-diode array-mass spectrometry

The equipment used was a Finnigan MAT Spectra System P4000 pump, coupled with a UV6000LP diode array detector and a Finnigan AQA mass spectrometer. A Fortis RP 18 column, 150×2.1 mm, 3 μ m, was used, at 40 °C. Analyses were carried out as described elsewhere [17].

2.8 Statistical analyses

All extractions were carried out twice and all determinations in triplicate. Values reported are averages. Response surface design and associated statistics were performed with JMPTM 10. Kinetics was estimated by non-linear regression between Y_{TP} and *t*, using SigmaPlotTM 12.0, at least at a 95% significance level.

3 Results and discussion

3.1 Extraction optimisation

The objective of the optimisation process was to assess simultaneously the effect of C_{CD} , $R_{L/S}$ and T on Y_{TP} . To do so, a 2³ full-factorial central composite design with two central points (point #15 and #16; Table 2) was deployed and the trend in Y_{TP} variation as a function of parallel changes in all three process (independent) variables was recorded in the form of 3D plots (Fig. 1). The ANOVA test indicated that all process variables considered (C_{CD} , $R_{L/S}$ and T) exerted a statistically significant effect on Y_{TP} but the terms T^2 , C_{CD}^2 , $R_{L/S}$. T and $R_{L/S}$ s_{-} C_{CD} were non-significant. Thus, the model obtained after omitting the non-significant terms was as follows:

$$Y_{TP}(mg \text{ GAE } g^{-1} \text{ dw}) = 103.68 + 3.17C_{CD} + 13.31R_{L/S}$$
$$+ 3.26T - 1.53C_{CD} \cdot T - 4.01R^{2}_{L/S}$$
$$(R^{2} = 0.99, p < 0.0001)$$

With the use of the desirability function (Fig. 2), the recommended settings to achieve the highest Y_{TP} were estimated to be $C_{\text{CD}} = 9\% (w/v)$, $R_{L/S} = 40 \text{ mL g}^{-1}$ and T = 51 °C. Under these conditions, the predicted Y_{TP} was 116.65 ± 3.60 mg GAE g⁻¹ dw.

The optimal $R_{L/S}$ found was close to 36.2 mL g⁻¹ reported for polyphenol extraction from *Satureja thymbra*, using a DES composed of glycerol and sodium acetate (3:1) [20], and to



Fig. 1 3D plots showing the effect of simultaneous variation of C_{CD} , $R_{L/S}$ and T on the Y_{TP}

Fig. 2 Prediction profiler displaying the overall desirability of the model, along with the optimal C_{CD} , $R_{L/S}$ and T values. Extractions were carried out under stirring (600 rpm), at 50 °C, for 180 min



33.3 mL g⁻¹, determined as optimal for the extraction of polyphenols from *Carthamus tinctorius* L. using several choline chloride-based DES [21]. This is a corroboration that, unlike polyphenol extraction with conventional solvents that may display optimal $R_{L/S}$ of 90–120 mL g⁻¹ [22, 23], polyphenol extraction with DES may be effectively performed using lower solvent volume. Such a feature is highly desirable, entailing the use of smaller equipment and lower cost. This prospect, so far disregarded, is particularly essential, highlighting another aspect of the use of DES as efficient solvents.

Likewise, the optimal T was 51 °C, suggesting that higher T did not favour polyphenol extraction. This outcome is in absolute accordance with a previous study, which demonstrated that vield of polyphenol extraction from Moringa oleifera leaves with a glycerol-based DES dropped, when T was raised from 50 to 80 °C [24]. This is also in line with recent data, which showed that yield of polyphenol extraction from red grape pomace with certain DES declined upon switching T from 60 to 80 °C [25]. Such a trend was also seen in polyphenol extraction from Equisetum palustre L. using choline chloride-based DES [26]. This particular behaviour could be attributed to the nature of the DES, whose structure depends on the number and the strength of hydrogen bonds between the HBD and the HBA. The increase in extraction temperature may initially favour polyphenol extraction due to higher diffusivity, which stems from a decrease in viscosity [27]. However, further temperature increase may endow the system with energy sufficient to provoke hydrogen bond rupture, and thus, the extraction efficiency of the DES could be abrogated [20].

With reference to the effect of C_{CD} , the optimal value determined by the model was 9% (w/v), which is fairly

close to 7% (*w*/*v*) required for polyphenol extraction from olive leaves with aqueous glycerol [11]. However, 13% (*w*/*v*) 2-hydroxypropyl β -cyclodextrin was determined as optimal for polyphenol extraction from oak acorn with aqueous glycerol [10]. Moreover, recovery of polyphenols from grape pomace was shown to be optimal using 1% (*w*/*v*) β -cyclodextrin in either 80% aqueous ethanol or water, whereas recoveries declined at higher β -cyclodextrin concentration [28]. Ligand inclusion in the CD cavity is a stoichiometric phenomenon, and usually, only one molecule may be incorporated into the cavity so as to become entrapped. Thus, it would normally be expected increased extraction yield as a response to raising $C_{\rm CD}$, as previously demonstrated for β -cyclodextrin-aided polyphenol extraction [29].

Such a phenomenon may be attributed to the specific polyphenol/CD interactions. In an aqueous medium, the driving force that enables polyphenol-CD complex formation is the displacement of water molecules outside the CD cavity and retention of the polyphenol within through apolar-apolar association [30]. CD would increase solubility of the less polar polyphenols through entrapment, and the eventual result seen could represent the integration of such an effect. On the other hand, polyphenols may behave as HBDs and interact with glycine of the DES, and a sort of antagonism may develop. most probably because CD might weaken polyphenol-glycine interactions. This could happen because polyphenol/CD complex formation involves strong hydrogen bond formation [31]. Yet, since combinations of DES with CDs have never been previously reported, such an assumption is to be elucidated by profounder examinations.

3.2 Extraction kinetics

To further clarify the effect of the combination of DES/CD on the polyphenol extraction from OLL, a kinetic investigation was undertaken. The kinetic model implemented (Fig. 3) allowed for the determination of certain parameters that permitted a comparative evaluation. It can be seen in Table 3 that *k* and *h* for the extractions carried out with DES and DES/CD were significantly lower (p < 0.05) compared with the corresponding determined for the aqueous ethanol extraction, indicating a much slower extraction rate. By contrast, differences in D_e were not so pronounced, yet extraction with aqueous ethanol displayed the highest value. This outcome was most probably attributed to the higher viscosity of the DES system, which might have resulted in low diffusivity, as observed in studies where viscous solvents, such as aqueous glycerol, were compared with water [27] or aqueous ethanol [18, 32].

Extraction with the DES/CD afforded $Y_{TP(s)} = 116.58$ mg GAE g^{-1} dw, which matched exactly the value predicted by the response surface model. This was a sound confirmation for the model validity. The $Y_{TP(s)}$ attained with DES/CD was by 5.7% higher than that achieved with the DES and 17.8% higher than that with aqueous ethanol. The difference in $Y_{TP(s)}$ between DES/CD and DES was not significant (p > 0.05), but CD enhanced significantly $Y_{\text{TP(s)}}$ of the DES/ CD compared with the aqueous ethanol (p < 0.05). This finding pointed clearly to a boosting of the extraction yield triggered by the addition of the CD in the DES, evidencing its improved effectiveness. It is to be noted that the use of various cyclodextrins, such as β -cyclodextrin [29, 33] or 2hydroxypropyl β -cyclodextrin [10, 11], in combination with aqueous solvents resulted in increased extraction yields, suggesting that cyclodextrins can effectively enhance extraction efficiency. However, such an effect is for the first time reported for combination of DES and CD.

3.3 Model evaluation and efficiency testing

To check the applicability of the model established through the response surface methodology, extraction was repeated under optimal conditions and afforded 113.21 ± 3.02 mg GAE g^{-1} dw. This value was virtually equal to the maximum value predicted by the model (116.65 \pm 3.60 mg GAE g⁻¹ dw). Moreover, to bring out clearly the efficiency of the DES/CD to extract OLL polyphenols, extractions were carried out with DES and 60% (v/v) aqueous ethanol, under the same conditions, and the extracts were analysed, in addition to Y_{TP} for Y_{TFn} , A_{AR} and P_R . The results confirmed the outcome of the kinetic study, since the Y_{TP} attained with the DES/CD was by 5.3 and 19.3% higher than that reached with the DES and 60% (v/v) aqueous ethanol, respectively (Fig. 4, upper plot). Additionally, the extract obtained with the DES/CD displayed 16.0 and 4.5% higher Y_{TFn} , compared with the DES and 60% (v/v) aqueous ethanol, respectively (Fig. 4, lower plot).

However, the determination of the antioxidant activity demonstrated that the DES/CD extract was not the most potent in scavenging radicals, having an A_{AR} value that was by 4.3% lower than that seen with the DES extract (Fig. 5, upper plot). Although the difference in A_{AR} was not statistically different (p < 0.05), both DES/CD and DES extract exhibited by 40–43% higher A_{AR} that the aqueous ethanol extract. Similarly, the DES extract had by 5.4 and 28.5% higher P_R compared with the DES/CD and aqueous ethanol extract, respectively. These data suggested that CD did not impact the antioxidant behaviour of the DES extract, yet both DES/CD

Fig. 3 Second-order kinetic models for the extraction of TP from OLL with the DES + CD, DES and 60% (ν/ν) aqueous ethanol. Extractions were carried out under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, at optimal $C_{\rm CD}$, $R_{L/S}$ and T, for 180 min



 Table 3
 Parameters of secondorder kinetics, determined for the extraction of TP from OLL, under optimised conditions

Solvent	Kinetic parameters					
	$k (\times 10^{-3}) (\text{g mg}^{-1} \text{ min}^{-1})$	$h (\mathrm{mg g}^{-1} \mathrm{min}^{-1})$	$D_e (\times 10^{-12}) ({\rm m \ s}^{-1})$	$Y_{\rm TP(s)} ({\rm mg}{\rm GAE}{\rm g}^{-1})$		
DES + CD	0.502	6.82	6.06	116.58		
DES	0.867	10.46	5.42	109.93		
60% EtOH	3.576	32.82	7.44	95.81		

and DES extracts possessed considerably stronger antioxidant capacity compared with the aqueous ethanol.

It has been shown that inclusion complexes of 2-hydroxypropyl β -cyclodextrin with polyphenols such as

chlorogenic acid [34] and quercetin [31], but also β -cyclodextrin complexes with rosmarinic acid [35], quercetin and rutin [36], displayed more powerful antioxidant activity compared with the non-encapsulated polyphenols. This phenomenon

Fig. 4 Comparative diagram for Y_{TP} (upper plot) and Y_{TFn} (lower plot), obtained using DES + CD, DES and 60% aqueous ethanol (AE). Extractions were carried out under continuous stirring at 600 rpm, at optimal C_{CD} , $R_{L/S}$ and T, for 180 min







has also been demonstrated for chlorogenate-rich coffee extracts [37]. Nevertheless, the inclusion complex cyclodextrin/ polyphenol is better stabilised with molecules having higher hydrophobicity [38]. Therefore, not all polyphenols present in the DES extract would form equally stable complexes and this might compromise the antioxidant capacity. Another factor that could contribute towards such an effect is probably the orientation of the encapsulated molecule in the CD cavity. For OLL, it has been demonstrated that complex of β -cyclodextrin with oleuropein, the major OLL polyphenol, involves deep insertion of the dihydroxyphenethyl moiety inside the cavity from its secondary side [39]. Such a fact would

Table 4UV-Vis and massspectral data for the majorpolyphenolic phytochemicalstentatively identified in OLLextracts obtained under optimalconditions, using DES/CD andDES

Peak	Rt (min)	$\left[\mathrm{M}+\mathrm{H}\right]^{+}(m/z)$	Other ions (m/z)	Tentative identity
1	25.85	449	287	Luteolin glucoside
2	26.46	541	563 [M + Na] ⁺ , 361, 137	Oleuropein
3	27.14	579	601 [M + Na] ⁺ , 271	Apigenin rutinoside
4	27.96	449	471 [M + Na] ⁺ , 418, 287	Luteolin glucoside



Fig. 6 Total ion chromatograms showing the principal polyphenols detected in the extracts obtained with DES + CD (upper figure) and DES (lower figure)

pose constrains with regard to oxidant/antioxidant interactions arising from steric effects, thus resulting in reduced antioxidant activity. In fact, in a more recent study, an increase from 7 to 13% (*w*/*v*) in 2-hydroxypropyl β -cyclodextrin concentration for OLL polyphenol extraction with aqueous glycerol did not result in significantly higher A_{AR} , but rather, a slight decline was observed [11]. This was probably the reason why the DES/CD extract did not express more powerful antioxidant properties. Therefore, the antioxidant effects observed in DES/CD extracts may not simply reflect the higher polyphenol concentration, but interactions associated with polyphenol/CD complexes as well. However, such a hypothesis remains to be elucidated.

3.4 Extract characterisation

Characterisation was performed by analysing the DES/CD and DES extracts with liquid chromatography-diode arraymass spectrometry (LC-DAD-MS) to investigate whether CD acted selectively towards particular OLL polyphenols. To this purpose, major constituents previously detected in OLL extracts [13] were tentatively identified and chosen as indicators (Table 4). These substances were two luteolin glucosides (peak #1 and #4), an apigenin rutinoside (peak #3) and the secoiridoid derivative oleuropein (peak #2). As can be seen in Fig. 6, the chromatographic profiles of DES/CD and DES extracts were virtually identical, which clearly showed that the DES containing CD did not selectively extract any specific phytochemical. This finding indicated that CD acted merely as an extraction booster and did not affect the composition of the extract.

4 Conclusions

In this study, it was demonstrated for the first time that CD can be very effectively combined with a DES, boosting polyphenol extraction from OLL. The investigations performed showed that Y_{TP} and Y_{TFn} achieved with DES/CD were significantly higher compared with those attained with aqueous ethanol. In addition, the DES/CD extract possessed improved antioxidant properties, and this might not be simply attributed to the higher polyphenol concentration, as interactions with CD could have an important contribution. LC-DAD-MS analysis revealed that DES/CD and DES extracts had identical polyphenolic profile, suggesting that CD posed no issue of selectivity, but it acted solely towards boosting the extraction yield. Contrary to that, the aqueous ethanolic extract had poorer composition, revealing the effectiveness of the DES/ CD as an extraction medium. Currently, work is in progress to ascertain the validity of the model proposed in scale-up procedures, which is anticipated to further illustrate its applicability for industrial use.

References

- Tsao R (2010) Chemistry and biochemistry of dietary polyphenols. Nutrients 2(12):1231–1246
- Mojzer BE, Knez HM, Škerget M, Knez Ž, Bren U (2016) Polyphenols: extraction methods, antioxidative action, bioavailability and anticarcinogenic effects. Molecules 21(7):901
- Roselló-Soto E, Koubaa M, Moubarik A, Lopes RP, Saraiva JA, Boussetta N, Grimi N, Barba FJ (2015) Emerging opportunities for the effective valorization of wastes and by-products generated during olive oil production process: nonconventional methods for the recovery of high-added value compounds. Trends Food Sci Technol 45:296–310
- Obied HK, Prenzler PD, Omar SH, Ismael R, Servili M, Esposto S, Taticchi A, Selvaggini R, Urbani S (2012) Pharmacology of olive biophenols. Adv Mol Toxicol 6:195–242
- Şahin S, Samli R, Tan ASB, Barba FJ, Chemat F, Cravotto G, Lorenzo JM (2017) Solvent-free microwave-assisted extraction of polyphenols from olive tree leaves: antioxidant and antimicrobial properties. Molecules 22:1056
- Putnik P, Kovăcević DB, Jambrak AR, Barba FJ, Cravotto G, Binello A, Lorenzo JM, Shpigelman A (2017) Innovative "green" and novel strategies for the extraction of bioactive added value compounds from citrus wastes—a review. Molecules 22:680
- Alonso DA, Baeza A, Chinchilla R, Guillena G, Pastor IM, Ramón DJ (2016) Deep eutectic solvents: the organic reaction medium of the century. Eur J Org Chem 2016(4):612–632
- Pinho E, Grootveld M, Soares G, Henriques M (2014) Cyclodextrins as encapsulation agents for plant bioactive compounds. Carbohydr Polym 101:121–135
- 9. Munin A, Edwards-Lévy F (2011) Encapsulation of natural polyphenolic compounds; a review. Pharmaceutics 3(4):793–829
- Kyriakidou K, Mourtzinos I, Biliaderis CG, Makris DP (2016) Optimization of a green extraction/inclusion complex formation process to recover antioxidant polyphenols from oak acom husks (*Quercus robur*) using aqueous 2-hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin/ glycerol mixtures. Environments 3(1):3
- Mourtzinos I, Anastasopoulou E, Petrou A, Grigorakis S, Makris D, Biliaderis CG (2016) Optimization of a green extraction method for the recovery of polyphenols from olive leaf using cyclodextrins and glycerin as co-solvents. J Food Sci Technol 53(11):3939–3947
- 12. Parmar I, Sharma S, Rupasinghe HV (2015) Optimization of β -cyclodextrin-based flavonol extraction from apple pomace using response surface methodology. J Food Sci Technol 52(4):2202–2210
- Athanasiadis V, Grigorakis S, Lalas S, Makris DP (2017) Highly efficient extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from *Olea europaea* leaves using an eco-friendly glycerol/glycine deep eutectic solvent. Waste Biomass Valoriz.https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-017-9997-7
- Mylonaki S, Kiassos E, Makris DP, Kefalas P (2008) Optimisation of the extraction of olive (*Olea europaea*) leaf phenolics using water/ethanol-based solvent systems and response surface methodology. Anal Bioanal Chem 392(5):977
- Karvela E, Makris DP, Kalogeropoulos N, Karathanos VT, Kefalas P (2009) Factorial design optimisation of grape (*Vitis vinifera*) seed polyphenol extraction. Eur Food Res Technol 229(5):731–742
- Apostolakis A, Grigorakis S, Makris DP (2014) Optimisation and comparative kinetics study of polyphenol extraction from olive leaves (*Olea europaea*) using heated water/glycerol mixtures. Separ Purif Technol 128:89–95
- Shehata E, Grigorakis S, Loupassaki S, Makris DP (2015) Extraction optimisation using water/glycerol for the efficient recovery of polyphenolic antioxidants from two *Artemisia* species. Separ Purif Technol 149:462–469

- Paleologou I, Vasiliou A, Grigorakis S, Makris DP (2016) Optimisation of a green ultrasound-assisted extraction process for potato peel (*Solanum tuberosum*) polyphenols using bio-solvents and response surface methodology. Biomass Conv Bioref 6(3): 289–299
- Manousaki A, Jancheva M, Grigorakis S, Makris DP (2016) Extraction of antioxidant phenolics from agri-food waste biomass using a newly designed glycerol-based natural low-transition temperature mixture: a comparison with conventional eco-friendly solvents. Recycling 1(1):194–204
- 20. Jancheva M, Grigorakis S, Loupassaki S, Makris DP (2017) Optimised extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from Satureja thymbra using newly designed glycerol-based natural lowtransition temperature mixtures (LTTMs). J Appl Res Med Aromat Plants.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jarmap.2017.01.002
- 21. Dai Y, Verpoorte R, Choi YH (2014) Natural deep eutectic solvents providing enhanced stability of natural colorants from safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius*). Food Chem 159:116–121
- 22. Trasanidou D, Apostolakis A, Makris DP (2016) Development of a green process for the preparation of antioxidant and pigment-enriched extracts from winery solid wastes using response surface methodology and kinetics. Chem Eng Commun 203(10):1317–1325
- Vetal MD, Lade VG, Rathod VK (2013) Extraction of ursolic acid from *Ocimum sanctum* by ultrasound: process intensification and kinetic studies. Chem Eng Process 69:24–30
- Karageorgou I, Grigorakis S, Lalas S, Makris DP (2017) Enhanced extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from *Moringa oleifera* Lam. leaves using a biomolecule-based low-transition temperature mixture. Eur Food Res Technol.https://doi.org/10.1007/s00217-017-2887-1
- Patsea M, Stefou I, Grigorakis S, Makris DP (2017) Screening of natural sodium acetate-based low-transition temperature mixtures (LTTMs) for enhanced extraction of antioxidants and pigments from red vinification solid wastes. Environ Proc 4(1):123–135
- Qi X-L, Peng X, Huang Y-Y et al (2015) Green and efficient extraction of bioactive flavonoids from *Equisetum palustre* L. by deep eutectic solvents-based negative pressure cavitation method combined with macroporous resin enrichment. Ind Crop Prod 70:142– 148
- Karakashov B, Grigorakis S, Loupassaki S, Makris DP (2015) Optimisation of polyphenol extraction from *Hypericum perforatum* (St. John's Wort) using aqueous glycerol and response surface methodology. J Appl Res Med Aromat Plants 2(1):1–8

- 28. Ratnasooriya CC, Rupasinghe HV (2012) Extraction of phenolic compounds from grapes and their pomace using β -cyclodextrin. Food Chem 134(2):625–631
- 29. Rajha HN, Chacar S, Afif C, Vorobiev E, Louka N, Maroun RG (2015) β -Cyclodextrin-assisted extraction of polyphenols from vine shoot cultivars. J Agric Food Chem 63(13):3387–3393
- Del Valle EM (2004) Cyclodextrins and their uses: a review. Process Biochem 39(9):1033–1046
- Çelik SE, Özyürek M, Güçlü K, Apak R (2015) Antioxidant capacity of quercetin and its glycosides in the presence of β-cyclodextrins: influence of glycosylation on inclusion complexation. J Incl Phenom Macrocycl Chem 83(3–4):309–319
- 32. Philippi K, Tsamandouras N, Grigorakis S, Makris DP (2016) Ultrasound-assisted green extraction of eggplant peel (*Solanum melongena*) polyphenols using aqueous mixtures of glycerol and ethanol: optimisation and kinetics. Environ Process 3:369–386
- Mantegna S, Binello A, Boffa L, Giorgis M, Cena C, Cravotto G (2012) A one-pot ultrasound-assisted water extraction/cyclodextrin encapsulation of resveratrol from *Polygonum cuspidatum*. Food Chem 130(3):746–750
- 34. Shao P, Zhang J, Fang Z, Sun P (2014) Complexing of chlorogenic acid with β -cyclodextrins: inclusion effects, antioxidative properties and potential application in grape juice. Food Hydrocoll 41: 132–139
- Medronho B, Valente AJ, Costa P, Romano A (2014) Inclusion complexes of rosmarinic acid and cyclodextrins: stoichiometry, association constants, and antioxidant potential. Colloid Polym Sci 292(4):885–894
- Alvarez-Parrilla E, Rosa LADL, Torres-Rivas F, Rodrigo-Garcia J, González-Aguilar GA (2005) Complexation of apple antioxidants: chlorogenic acid, quercetin and rutin by β-cyclodextrin (β-CD). J Incl Phenom Macrocycl Chem 53(1):121–129
- 37. Budryn G, Nebesny E, Pałecz B, Rachwał-Rosiak D, Hodurek P, Miśkiewicz K, Oracz J, Żyżelewicz D (2014) Inclusion complexes of β-cyclodextrin with chlorogenic acids (CHAs) from crude and purified aqueous extracts of green Robusta coffee beans (*Coffea canephora* L.) Food Res Int 61:202–213
- Hădărugă NG, Hădărugă DI, Isengard H-D (2012) Water content of natural cyclodextrins and their essential oil complexes: a comparative study between Karl Fischer titration and thermal methods. Food Chem 132(4):1741–1748
- 39. Mourtzinos I, Salta F, Yannakopoulou K, Chiou A, Karathanos VT (2007) Encapsulation of olive leaf extract in β -cyclodextrin. J Agric Food Chem 55(20):8088–8094




Article Effect of Methyl β-cyclodextrin on Radical Scavenging Kinetics of Olive Leaf Extracts and Interactions with Ascorbic Acid

Vassilis Athanasiadis ^{1,2} ^(b), Stavros Lalas ² and Dimitris P. Makris ^{1,*} ^(b)

- ¹ School of Environment, University of the Aegean, 81400 Lesbos, Greece; vs.athanas@gmail.com
- ² Department of Food Technology, Technological Educational Institute (T.E.I.) of Thessaly, 43100 Karditsa, Greece; slalas@teilar.gr
- * Correspondence: dmakris@aegean.gr; Tel.: +30-22540-83114

Received: 25 August 2017; Accepted: 7 September 2017; Published: 11 September 2017

Abstract: Olive leaf (OLL) extracts contain a high load of antioxidant polyphenols with significant pharmacological potency. In this study, the use of a novel natural deep eutectic solvent enabled the effective extraction of OLL polyphenols and their testing as radical scavengers, in the presence or absence of methyl β -cyclodextrin (m- β -CD), using descriptive kinetics. Testing was extended to include interactions with ascorbic acid—a natural powerful antioxidant—by implementing a response surface methodology. The kinetic study showed that m- β -CD may hinder the radical scavenging effect of OLL extracts, yielding lower stoichiometry upon reaction with the radical probe 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazy (DPPH). The extension of the reaction time to determine the total stoichiometry confirmed this effect. As a further concurrence, the interactions of OLL extracts with ascorbic acid showed lower radical scavenging performance in the presence of m- β -CD. These results were discussed on the grounds of the role that m- β -CD may play in similar systems.

Keywords: antioxidants; deep eutectic solvents; methyl β-cyclodextrin; olive leaf extracts; polyphenols

1. Introduction

In recent years, there has been a growing demand for natural antioxidants to both replace synthetic ones and also to act as functional additives that could provide biological systems with protection against harmful free radicals. Plant-derived antioxidant polyphenols are becoming increasingly important in this respect, as numerous of these substances have been shown to possess a very high capacity for quenching free radicals [1]. This has stimulated a broad spectrum of studies regarding the use of plant extracts as rich sources of natural antioxidants. Olive leaves (OLL), which represent a major proportion of the waste generated during the production of olive oil, have attracted a great deal of interest because they may bear an important load of polyphenolic phytochemicals, which may possess beneficial biological properties [2].

Although antioxidant activity may be effectively estimated in plant extracts—with several tests developed for such a purpose [3]—a few studies have investigated in detail the rate of antiradical reactions, which might represent the rate at which antioxidants react with free radicals. Reaction kinetics information complements that of antiradical activity and may be of value for characterizing a potential antioxidant source. 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl radical (DPPH) is widely used for quickly assessing the ability of antioxidants to transfer labile H atoms to radicals, based on the theory that a hydrogen donor is an antioxidant. This reaction is stoichiometric with respect to the number of hydrogen atoms absorbed. Therefore, the antioxidant effect can be easily evaluated by following the decrease of UV absorption at 515 nm [4].

On the basis of this theoretical background, this examination was carried out to assess the antiradical behaviour of OLL extracts obtained using a novel methodology that involved extraction with a combination of a deep eutectic solvent (DES) with methyl β -cyclodextrin (m- β -CD) as an extraction booster [5]. OLL extracts were also generated without m- β -CD, in order to evaluate the effect of m- β -CD on the antiradical potency of the extracts. The investigations included a kinetic assay and also interactions with ascorbic acid (AA), after implementing a response surface methodology.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Chemicals

Anhydrous sodium carbonate came from Carlo Erba Reactifs (Val de Reuil, France). Methyl β -cyclodextrin was obtained from Acros Organics (Geel, Belgium). Folin-Ciocalteu reagent was from Fluka (Steinheim, Germany). Glycerol (99%), 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), gallic acid and ascorbic acid were from Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany). Glycine (99.5%) was from NeoLab Migge Laborbedarf-Vertiebs (Heildelberg, Germany).

2.2. Preparation of the Deep Eutectic Solvent (DES)

The Deep Eutectic Solvent (DES) used was synthesised according to the optimised conditions described previously in [6]. Briefly, glycerol (HBD) was mixed with an appropriate amount of glycine (HBA) and water to give a molar ratio of HBD:HBA:water of 7:1:3, and the mixture was mildly heated under stirring until the formation of a transparent liquid. An aqueous solution of 80% (w/v) of this DES was used for the extractions.

2.3. Plant Material

The material used for all extractions was dried *Olea europaea* leaf (OLL) powder, with an average particle diameter of 0.5 mm. Details concerning the variety and methodology of leaf collection and the handling of the plant material have been analytically given elsewhere [6].

2.4. Batch Extraction Procedure and Sample Handling

Polyphenol-containing extracts were prepared from OLL by implementing the optimized methodology previously developed in [5]. Briefly, 2.5 g of dried OLL was mixed with 100 mL of 80% (w/v) aqueous DES containing 9% (w/v) methyl β -cyclodextrin (m- β -CD) and extractions were carried out at 70 °C, under continuous stirring at 600 rpm for 280 min. Extractions without m- β -CD were also performed under identical conditions. Samples were centrifuged in a table centrifuge (Hermle, Wehingen, Germany) at 10,000 × g for 10 min, and the clear extract was used for all assays.

2.5. Total Polyphenol Determination

Total polyphenols were determined with the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent, following a previously published protocol [7]. Results were expressed as mg gallic acid equivalents per L of extract, using a gallic acid calibration curve (30–600 mg L^{-1}).

2.6. Kinetic Assay

The ability of the extracts to transfer H-atoms to DPPH was assessed by measuring changes in the absorbance at 515 nm (A_{515}). Typically, 0.975 mL of freshly prepared DPPH solution in methanol (100 µM), was mixed in a spectrometer cell with 0.025 mL of OLL extract. The decay in A_{515} was monitored over a period of 2 min to determine rate constant (k_1). The assay was extended up to 21 min for the determination of total stoichiometries (n_t).

2.7. Interaction with Ascorbic Acid

The methodology implemented was a 3 × 3 central composite design, aimed at investigating the interactions between OLL extracts and ascorbic acid and to clarify the effect of m- β -CD. Thus the two independent variables chosen were the total polyphenol concentration of the extracts (C_{TP} , mg GAE L⁻¹), termed as X_1 , and the ascorbic acid concentration (C_{AA} , mg L⁻¹), termed as X_2 . A central composite experimental design was used with two central points and both independent variables were coded between -1 (lower limit) and +1 (upper limit), using the following equation:

$$x_i = \frac{X_i - X_0}{\Delta X_i}, i = 1, 2$$
(1)

Terms x_i and X_i represent the dimensionless and the actual value of the independent variable *i*, respectively. X_0 is the actual value of the independent variable *i* at the central point of the design, and ΔX_i the step change of X_i , which corresponds to a unit change of the dimensionless value (Table 1). The choice for the range of values for both variables was based on preliminary runs, but also on published information [8]. The response considered was the antiradical activity (A_{AR}). ANOVA was performed to estimate model significance, the significance for each polynomial coefficient, and determine the overall coefficient R^2 for the mathematical model. Statistically non-significant dependent terms (p > 0.05) were removed from the equations, which were visualised in the form of 3D plots. The models were validated by performing experiments under the predicted optimal conditions, and comparing for each model the predicted values with the actual (measured) ones. For each design point, measured and predicted response values were recorded (Table 2). For each design point, C_{TP} and C_{AA} were fixed as dictated by the experimental design. A_{AR} (µmol DPPH g⁻¹ dry OLL weight) was determined as described elsewhere [9].

Table 1. Actual values and coded levels of the independent variables used for the experimental design.

Independent Variables	Code Units	Coded Variable Level		Level
		-1	0	1
$C_{\rm TP}~({\rm mg}\cdot{\rm L}^{-1})$	X_1	10	40	70
$C_{AA} (mg \cdot L^{-1})$	X_2	10	40	70

Table 2. Measured and predicted A_{AR} values of OLL extract and AA mixtures, determined for individual design points.

Design Point	Independent Variables		Resp	onse (A _{AR} , μι	nol DPPH g ⁻¹	¹ dw)
			Without m-β-CD		m-β-CD	
	X_1	X_2	Measured	Predicted	Measured	Predicted
1	-1	-1	91.04	90.58	82.13	82.06
2	-1	1	22.85	19.14	18.87	15.04
3	1	-1	166.02	168.98	140.08	143.39
4	1	1	96.88	96.59	82.68	82.23
5	-1	0	35.5	39.68	31.81	35.71
6	1	0	120.27	117.60	102.84	99.98
7	0	-1	141.99	139.50	124.61	121.37
8	0	1	63.58	67.58	53.00	57.28
9	0	0	89.11	88.36	78.18	76.49
10	0	0	89.11	88.36	75.83	76.49

2.8. Statistics

Curve-fittings of absorbance vs. time were carried out by non-linear regression. The kinetic model was obtained by performing linear regression. All analyses were carried out at least at a 95% significance level, using SigmaPlotTM 12. The experimental design for the response surface methodology and all associated statistics was accomplished with JMPTM 10.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Reaction Stoichiometries and the Effect of m-β-Cyclodextrin

The H-transfer reactions from polyphenols to DPPH can be very effectively assessed by monitoring the decay of A_{515} , using as molar absorptivity $\varepsilon = 11,240 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$ and considering the purity of the reagent. The decay in A_{515} is initiated following addition of the antioxidant(s) to the DPPH solution [10] and potent antioxidants may provoke a rapid decay over 1–2 min, as a result of the transfer of H-atoms of the antioxidant that possess low C-H bond dissociation enthalpies (fast step). This step is followed by a much slower decline in A_{515} , which corresponds to the donation by the antioxidant(s) of the residual H-atoms (slow step) [11,12].

A simple hypothesis considers that an antioxidant AH bears n independent antioxidant subunits, which may all transfer a single H atom to DPPH with the same second-order rate constant k [4]. Such a background can be described as follows:

$$A = \varepsilon[\text{DPPH}] \tag{2}$$

$$R = -\frac{d}{dt}[AH] = -\frac{d}{dt}[DPPH] = k[AH][DPPH]$$
(3)

As mentioned above, the initial (fast) step of the reaction actually represents the donation of the most readily abstracted H-atoms from the antioxidant. Hence the initial reaction rate R_0 could be given as:

$$R_0 = k_1 c c_0 \tag{4}$$

where *c* is the initial antioxidant concentration, c_0 is the initial DPPH concentration and k_1 the reaction rate constant of the first abstracted H-atom. Therefore *k* would be $\frac{k_1}{n}$. Based on Beer-Lambert's law, the [DPPH] that reacts with the first H-atom may be represented as A_0 – A_f , where A_0 and A_f correspond to the initial and final A_{515} . Thus by replacing [DPPH] with A_0 – A_f , the Equation (3) can be transformed after integration, as follows:

$$\ln(\frac{1 - \frac{A_f}{A}}{1 - \frac{A_f}{A_0}}) = \frac{k_1 c}{\frac{A_0}{A_f} - 1}$$
(5)

The slope of the straight line obtained after plotting $\ln(\frac{1-\frac{A_f}{A}}{1-\frac{A_f}{A_0}})$ as a function of time *t*, equals k_1 .

On such a theoretical basis, OLL extracts obtained with or without m- β -CD were assayed with the aim to clarifying the role of m- β -CD on the antiradical effects exerted by OLL polyphenols. To this purpose, the extracts generated were adjusted at a final C_{TP} of 0.1 g L⁻¹ and reaction with DPPH was monitored up to 2 minutes (Figure 1, upper plot). Determination of k_1 was performed by tracing the second order kinetics (Figure 1, lower plot) and gave values of 1.925 and 2.221 M⁻¹ s⁻¹, for the extract obtained with DES/m- β -CD and DES, respectively. The slower reaction rate of the extract obtained with DES/m- β -CD compared with that obtained only with DES could not be interpreted as weaker antiradical activity, but only as a measure of the radical scavenging rate. This is because several polyphenolic antioxidants were shown to respond differently in kinetic and stoichiometric assays based on reaction with DPPH [13].



Figure 1. Fast reaction kinetics recorded upon mixing OLL extract with DPPH. C_{TP} was adjusted to 0.1 g L⁻¹, c_0 was 100 µmol L⁻¹. (a) Time course of A₅₁₅ decrease within the first two minutes; (b) Second-order kinetics.

Thus in order to have a more integrated picture, the total stoichiometries (n_t) were also determined by extending the reaction of each extract with DPPH, up to 21 min (Figure 2), using the following equation:

$$n_t = \frac{A_0 - A_f}{\varepsilon \, C_{\rm TP}} \tag{6}$$

where C_{TP} is the total polyphenol concentration of the extracts, which as mentioned above was adjusted to 0.1 g GAE L⁻¹. Determination of n_t for the DES/m- β -CD and DES extracts gave corresponding values of 1.05×10^{-4} and 1.92×10^{-4} mol g⁻¹, indicating higher stoichiometry for the extract in the absence of m- β -CD.



Figure 2. Extended reaction kinetics recorded upon mixing OLL extract with DPPH. C_{TP} was adjusted to 0.1 g L⁻¹, c_0 was 100 µmol L⁻¹.

Considering both k_1 and n_t , it could be argued that the extract obtained only with DES displayed superior radical scavenging potency. This finding contrasted previous ones, which demonstrated that polyphenol-containing extracts obtained with the aid of various cyclodextrins, such as Melissa officinalis leaf extract [14] and pomegranate fruit extract [15] exhibited increased antiradical activity. Likewise, simple phenolics such as rosmarinic acid [16], chlorogenic acid [17] and *trans*-resveratrol [18], and quercetin and glycosides therof [19], showed improved antioxidant properties when they were encapsulated in cyclodextrins. However, a detailed study on the inclusion complexes of tea catechins suggested that the nature of the polyphenol, as well as the orientation of the encapsulated molecule inside the cyclodextrin cavity, may affect antioxidant potency either negatively or positively [20].

Hydrophobicity would be an issue in this regard, because cyclodextrin/polyphenol inclusion complexes may be better stabilized with molecules having higher hydrophobicity [21]. On the other hand, hydrogen bonding could also greatly affect the antioxidant behaviour of the complexed polyphenols, because if there is extended intermolecular hydrogen bond development between the encapsulated and the host molecule, then radical scavenging is abrogated [22]. Such a claim was made for the apparent null effect of hydroxypropyl β -CD on caffeic acid antioxidant potency [23], where intramolecular hydrogen bond between the hydroxyl groups of the *o*-diphenol moiety would not allow for intermolecular interactions. On the basis of the above concepts, it could be supported that there might be a slower reaction for the OLL extract with DPPH in the presence of m- β -CD. This phenomenon might be ascribed to the inclusion of OLL polyphenols inside the m- β -CD cavity, which could slow down H-atom transfer to DPPH due to steric effects. Such a hypothesis would be concurred by the fact that complexation of oleuropein, the most abundant polyphenolic antioxidant in OLL, most probably involves deep insertion of the dihydroxyphenethyl moiety inside the cavity from its secondary side, as demonstrated for OLL interactions with β -cyclodextrin (β -CD) [21]. The formation of similar inclusion complexes with of β -CD has also been shown for chlorogenic acid [24].

3.2. Interactions with Ascorbic Acid

In an earlier study, interactions of polyphenol-containing extract with ascorbic acid (AA) were very effectively examined using response surface methodology [8]. It was proposed that by combining fixed amounts of AA and total polyphenols is a rather unilateral approach, providing limited information, whereas the simultaneous variation of concentrations within predetermined ranges may be more illustrative of the kind of interactions. This is because it has been demonstrated that the relevant amounts of AA and polyphenols in a mixture may significantly affect the overall antioxidant effect [25].

On these grounds, a response surface design was deployed to evaluate interactions between OLL extract and AA. Evaluation of term contribution by performing ANOVA showed that C_{TP} and C_{AA} and their quadratic terms exerted statistically significant effects on the A_{AR} of the mixtures. However, cross terms were non-significant in this regard (p > 0.05) and thus they were omitted from the models (mathematical equations), which are presented in their final form in Table 3. The use of the desirability function (Figure 3) enabled the determination of the settings recommended to achieve A_{AR} maximisation. Under these C_{TP} and C_{AA} combinations, maximum A_{AR} was estimated to be 168.98 \pm 10.43 and 143.39 \pm 11.18 µmol DPPH g⁻¹ dw, for the extracts obtained with DES/m- β -CD and DES, respectively. As can be seen in Figure 4, the interaction pattern with AA was identical, but the difference of 15% in performance was a further confirmation that the OLL extract could act as a better radical scavenger in the absence of m- β -CD.

Table 3. Polynomial equations and statistical parameters describing the effect of the independent variables on the response (A_{AR}) for all OLL/AA mixtures tested.

Antioxidant Test	2 nd Order Polynomial Equations	R^2	р
Without m-β-CD	$\begin{array}{l} 88.36+38.96C_{TP}-35.96C_{AA}-9.72C_{TP}^2+15.18C_{AA}^2\\ 76.49+32.13C_{TP}-32.04C_{AA}-8.64C_{TP}^2+12.84C_{AA}^2 \end{array}$	1.00	<0.0001
With m-β-CD		0.99	0.0002



Figure 3. Prediction profiler displaying the overall desirability of the model developed, after implementing response surface methodology.



Figure 4. 3D plots illustrating the effect of simultaneous variation of C_{TP} and C_{AA} on the A_{AR} in the (**a**) absence and (**b**) presence of m- β -CD.

The optimal estimated ratio of C_{TP}/C_{AA} to attain maximum A_{AR} was in both cases 7/1 (Table 4), which clearly indicated that the switching of C_{AA} to higher levels would not provide higher A_{AR} . This particular antiradical behaviour of the OLL extract/AA would most probably be ascribed to the nature of the major radical scavengers occurring in OLL extracts. In previous studies pertaining to AAR of mixtures of polyphenol-containing extracts with AA, it was shown that grape stem extracts displayed the highest performance when combined with AA at a C_{TP}/C_{AA} ratio of 1/1 [8], but for grape seed extracts optimal ratio of 0.82/1 was also determined [26]. These findings suggested that the nature of principal antioxidant polyphenols in an extract might greatly define the antiradical effects. Investigations with pure polyphenols including quercetin, hesperetin and ferulic acid, revealed that interactions with AA at molar ratio 1:1 yielded antagonism [27], a behaviour that was confirmed by a following detailed study on reducing power, employing response surface methodology [28]. In this study, however, it was shown that the maximum response in hesperetin/AA mixtures was achieved at a molar ratio of 5.2/1, which clearly indicated that the nature of polyphenolic antioxidant may define the molar ratio that could yield maximum antioxidant effect, in combination with AA. Furthermore, other authors supported that compounds that are co-extracted with polyphenols from OLL could also interfere [29], but such an effect remains to be elucidated.

Antioxidant Test	Maximum Predicted Response	Optimal Ratio
Without m-β-CD	168.98 ± 10.43	70/10
With m- β -CD	143.39 ± 11.18	70/10

Table 4. Optimal, predicted concentration ratios and theoretically calculated maximum response for all mixtures tested, obtained from the implementation of design.

4. Conclusions

The examination of the effect of m- β -CD on the radical scavenging ability of OLL polyphenols was approached first by a kinetic assay to determine stoichiometry and second by a response surface methodology to investigate interactions with the natural antioxidant ascorbic acid. In spite of the references reporting on the enhancement of the antioxidant activity of polyphenols in the presence of various cyclodextrins, this study demonstrated that m- β -CD may lower the radical efficiency of OLL polyphenols. A similar outcome was observed in the interactions between OLL polyphenols and ascorbic acid, which was a further concurrence of the hindering effect of m- β -CD. Based on the evidence found by this investigation, it was postulated that the orientation of oleuropein—the most abundant OLL antioxidant—inside the m- β -CD cavity, as well as the interactions between the encapsulated polyphenols and m- β -CD may be responsible for the phenomena observed. It is proposed that further studies with different β -cyclodextrin derivatives are required to fully clarify the mechanism of suppression (or enhancement) of the antiradical activity of polyphenol-containing extracts.

Acknowledgments: The authors acknowledge partial support from the Department of Technology (Technological Educational Institute of Thessaly).

Author Contributions: Vassilis Athanasiadis carried out the experimental work; Stavros Lalas and Dimitris P. Makris conceived the theoretical background, handled and analysed the results and wrote the paper.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Nomenclature

A_0	initial absorbance at 515 nm
A_t	absorbance at 515 nm at any time t
$A_{\rm AR}$	antiradical activity (μ mol DPPH g $^{-1}$ dry weight)
<i>c</i> ₁	initial antioxidant concentration (mol L^{-1})
<i>c</i> ₀	initial DPPH concentration (mol L^{-1})
C_{AA}	ascorbic acid concentration (mg L^{-1})
C_{TP}	total polyphenol concentration (mg L^{-1})
ε	molar absorptivity (M^{-1} cm $^{-1}$)
k	second-order rate constant $(M^{-1} s^{-1})$
k_1	second-order rate constant of the first abstracted H-atom ($M^{-1} s^{-1}$)
n _t	total stoichiometry (dimensionless)
R_0	initial reaction rate $(M^{-1} s^{-1})$
t	time (min)

Abbreviations

AA	ascorbic acid
DES	deep eutectic solvent
DPPH	2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl radical
HBA	hydrogen bond acceptor
HBD	hydrogen bond donor
m-β-CD	methyl β -cyclodextrin
OLL	olive leaves

References

- 1. Moon, J.-K.; Shibamoto, T. Antioxidant assays for plant and food components. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2009**, *57*, 1655–1666. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 2. Obied, H.K.; Prenzler, P.D.; Omar, S.H.; Ismael, R.; Servili, M.; Esposto, S.; Taticchi, A.; Selvaggini, R.; Urbani, S. Pharmacology of olive biophenols. *Adv. Mol. Toxicol.* **2012**, *6*, 195–242.
- 3. López-Alarcón, C.; Denicola, A. Evaluating the antioxidant capacity of natural products: A review on chemical and cellular-based assays. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **2013**, *763*, 1–10. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Goupy, P.; Dufour, C.; Loonis, M.; Dangles, O. Quantitative kinetic analysis of hydrogen transfer reactions from dietary polyphenols to the DPPH radical. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2003**, *51*, 615–622. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Athanasiadis, V.; Grigorakis, S.; Lalas, S.; Makris, D.P. Methyl β-cyclodextrin as a booster for the extraction of Olea europaea leaf polyphenols with a bio-based deep eutectic solvent. *Biomass Convers. Bioref.* 2017. [CrossRef]
- 6. Athanasiadis, V.; Grigorakis, S.; Lalas, S.; Makris, D.P. Highly efficient extraction of antioxidant polyphenols from Olea europaea leaves using an eco-friendly glycerol/glycine deep eutectic solvent. *Waste Biomass Valorization* **2017**. [CrossRef]

- Makris, D.P.; Passalidi, V.; Kallithraka, S.; Mourtzinos, I. Optimization of polyphenol extraction from red grape pomace using aqueous glycerol/tartaric acid mixtures and response surface methodology. *Prep. Biochem. Biotechnol.* 2016, 46, 176–182. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Karvela, E.; Makris, D.P.; Karathanos, V.T. Implementation of response surface methodology to assess the antiradical behaviour in mixtures of ascorbic acid and α-tocopherol with grape (Vitis vinifera) stem extracts. *Food Chem.* 2012, 132, 351–359. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 9. Shehata, E.; Grigorakis, S.; Loupassaki, S.; Makris, D.P. Extraction optimisation using water/glycerol for the efficient recovery of polyphenolic antioxidants from two Artemisia species. *Sep. Purif. Technol.* **2015**, *149*, 462–469. [CrossRef]
- 10. Brand-Williams, W.; Cuvelier, M.-E.; Berset, C. Use of a free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity. *LWT-Food Sci. Technol.* **1995**, *28*, 25–30. [CrossRef]
- 11. Dangles, O.; Fargeix, G.; Dufour, C. One-electron oxidation of quercetin and quercetin derivatives in protic and non protic media. *J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans.* 2 1999, 1387–1396. [CrossRef]
- Alluis, B.; Dangles, O. Quercetin (= 2-(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)-3,5,7-trihydroxy-4H-1-benzopyran-4-one) glycosides and sulfates: Chemical synthesis, complexation, and antioxidant properties. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 2001, *84*, 1133–1156. [CrossRef]
- 13. Villano, D.; Fernández-Pachón, M.; Moyá, M.; Troncoso, A.; García-Parrilla, M. Radical scavenging ability of polyphenolic compounds towards DPPH free radical. *Talanta* **2007**, *71*, 230–235. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Mourtzinos, I.; Papadakis, S.E.; Igoumenidis, P.; Karathanos, V.T. Encapsulation of Melissa officinalis leaf's active compounds in *β*-cyclodextrin and modified starch. *Procedia Food Sci.* **2011**, *1*, 1679–1685. [CrossRef]
- Diamanti, A.C.; Igoumenidis, P.E.; Mourtzinos, I.; Yannakopoulou, K.; Karathanos, V.T. Green extraction of polyphenols from whole pomegranate fruit using cyclodextrins. *Food Chem.* 2017, 214, 61–66. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Medronho, B.; Valente, A.J.; Costa, P.; Romano, A. Inclusion complexes of rosmarinic acid and cyclodextrins: Stoichiometry, association constants, and antioxidant potential. *Colloid Polym. Sci.* 2014, 292, 885–894. [CrossRef]
- 17. Shao, P.; Zhang, J.; Fang, Z.; Sun, P. Complexing of chlorogenic acid with β-cyclodextrins: Inclusion effects, antioxidative properties and potential application in grape juice. *Food Hydrocol.* **2014**, *41*, 132–139. [CrossRef]
- 18. Lu, Z.; Cheng, B.; Hu, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Zou, G. Complexation of resveratrol with cyclodextrins: Solubility and antioxidant activity. *Food Chem.* **2009**, *113*, 17–20. [CrossRef]
- Çelik, S.E.; Özyürek, M.; Güçlü, K.; Apak, R. Antioxidant capacity of quercetin and its glycosides in the presence of β-cyclodextrins: Influence of glycosylation on inclusion complexation. *J. Inclus. Phenom. Macrocycl. Chem.* 2015, *83*, 309–319. [CrossRef]
- 20. Folch-Cano, C.; Jullian, C.; Speisky, H.; Olea-Azar, C. Antioxidant activity of inclusion complexes of tea catechins with *β*-cyclodextrins by ORAC assays. *Food Res. Int.* **2010**, *43*, 2039–2044. [CrossRef]
- Mourtzinos, I.; Salta, F.; Yannakopoulou, K.; Chiou, A.; Karathanos, V.T. Encapsulation of olive leaf extract in β-cyclodextrin. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2007, 55, 8088–8094. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 22. Snelgrove, D.W.; Lusztyk, J.; Banks, J.; Mulder, P.; Ingold, K. Kinetic solvent effects on hydrogen-atom abstractions: Reliable, quantitative predictions via a single empirical equation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123*, 469–477. [CrossRef]
- García-Padial, M.; Martínez-Ohárriz, M.C.; Navarro-Blasco, I.; Zornoza, A. The role of cyclodextrins in ORAC-fluorescence assays. Antioxidant capacity of tyrosol and caffeic acid with hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2013, 61, 12260–12264. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Álvarez-Parrilla, E.; Palos, R.; Rosa, L.A.; Frontana-Uribe, B.A.; González-Aguilar, G.A.; Machi, L.; Ayala-Zavala, J.F. Formation of two 1:1 chlorogenic acid: β-cyclodextrin complexes at pH 5: Spectroscopic, thermodynamic and voltammetric study. *J. Mex. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *54*, 103–110.
- Choueiri, L.; Chedea, V.S.; Calokerinos, A.; Kefalas, P. Antioxidant/pro-oxidant properties of model phenolic compounds. Part II: Studies on mixtures of polyphenols at different molar ratios by chemiluminescence and LC-MS. *Food Chem.* 2012, 133, 1039–1044. [CrossRef]
- 26. Karvela, E.; Makris, D.; Karathanos, V. Evaluation of mixture effects in binary solutions of ascorbic acid with grape (Vitis vinifera) seed extracts using response surface methodology. *Int. Food Res. J.* **2013**, *20*, 2193–2198.
- 27. Aoun, M.; Makris, D. Binary mixtures of natural polyphenolic antioxidants with ascorbic acid: Impact of interactions on the antiradical activity. *Int. Food Res. J.* **2012**, *19*, 603–606.

- 28. Aoun, M.; Makris, D.P. Use of response surface methodology to evaluate the reducing power in binary solutions of ascorbic acid with natural polyphenolic antioxidants. *Int. J. Food Stud.* **2013**, *2*, 238–251. [CrossRef]
- 29. Sahin, S.; Samli, R.; Birteksöz Tan, A.S.; Barba, F.J.; Chemat, F.; Cravotto, G.; Lorenzo, J.M. Solvent-free microwave-assisted extraction of polyphenols from olive tree leaves: Antioxidant and antimicrobial properties. *Molecules* **2017**, *22*, 1056. [CrossRef] [PubMed]



© 2017 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).